
AUDIT & CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
Meeting of the Committee 

Wednesday, 4 September 2019 at 10.00am
by teleconference

CRW.507.004.4597



Audit & Corporate Governance Committee
Meeting of the Committee to be held on Wednesday, 4 September 2019

at 10.00am by teleconference

Attendees

Committee: Helen Coonan (Chair)
Michael Johnston
Toni Korsanos

Mary Manos (Secretary)

By Invitation: John Alexander
Ken Barton
Lauren Harris
John Salomone
Michael Collins, Ernst & Young 
Alison Parker, Ernst & Young

RESTRICTED AGENDA

1. Full Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2019

2. Directors’ Statutory Report

3. Corporate Governance Statement

4. Addendum to the Closing Report

CRW.507.004.4598



AGENDA ITEM 1:
Full Financial Report 

for the year ended 30 June 2019

1

CRW.507.004.4599



CWN_LEGAL_154635.1

Audit & Corporate Governance Committee
Memorandum

To: Audit & Corporate Governance Committee

From: Mary Manos

Date: 30 August 2019

Subject: Full Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2019

Dear Committee Members

Crown is required, under the Corporations Act, to prepare and provide members with an annual financial 
report consisting of the financial statements for the year, the notes to the financial statements and the 
directors’ declaration about the statement and the notes.

The Company’s draft 2019 Full Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2019 is set out in Annexure A.

Suggested Resolutions

It was RESOLVED that, in opinion of the Committee:

1. the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2019 are in 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) including that they:

a. give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position and performance of the Company and 
the consolidated entity for the year ended 30 June 2019; and

b. comply with the Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cth); 

2. the financial statements and notes for the year ended 30 June 2019 also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as disclosed in 
Note 1 of the Financial Report; and

3. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

It was further RESOLVED that, subject to any non-substantive amendments approved by the Chief Financial 
Officer, the 2019 Financial Report be recommended to the Board for approval.

Kind regards

Mary Manos
General Counsel and Company Secretary

1

CRW.507.004.4600



CWN_LEGAL_154635.1

Annexure A
2019 Financial Report

See attached.

1

CRW.507.004.4601



FINANCIAL REPORT 2019 

Financial Report 
81 83 
Statement of Statement of 
Profit or Loss Financial Position 

82 84 
Statement of Cash Flow Statement 
Q>mprehensive Income 

80 

85 
Statement of 
Changes in Equity 

86 
Notes to the 
Financial Statements 

CRW .507 .004.4602 



Statement of Profit or Loss 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Revenues 

Other income 

Expenses 

Share of profits of associates and joint venture entities 

Profit before income tax and finance costs 

Finance costs 

Profit before income tax 

Income tax expense 

Net profit after t ax 

Attributable to: 

Equity holders of the Parent 

Non-controlling interests 

Note 

3 

3 

3 

2,8 

3 

2,5 

2019 
$m 

2,929.2 

0.2 

(2,326.8) 

13.3 

615.9 

(36.6) 

579.3 

(176.4) 

402.9 

401.8 

1.1 

402.9 

CRW.507.004.4603 

2018 
$m 

3,083.1 

172.5 

(2,441 .9) 

6.6 

820.3 

(76.1) 

744.2 

(171.0) 

573.2 

558.9 

14.3 

573.2 

The above Statement of Profit or Loss should be read in conjunction w ith the accompanying notes. 

2019 2018 
Cents Cents 

Note per share per share 

Earnings per share (EPS) 

Basic EPS 24 59.07 8 1.16 

Diluted EPS 24 59.00 8 1.16 

EPS calc ulation is based on the weighted average number of shares on issue 

throughout the period 

Dividends per share 

Current year final dividend declared 4 30.00 30.00 

Current year interim dividend paid 4 30.00 30.00 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 81 



CRW.507.004.4604 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

Net profit after t ax 402.9 573.2 

Other Compreh ensive Incom e 

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 

Foreign currency translation 14.0 7.6 

Movement in cash flow hedge reserve 4.1 1.4 

Items reclassified to profit or loss: 

Foreign currency translation (76.9) 

Other comprehensive incom e I (loss) for the period, net of incom e tax 18.1 (67.9) 

Tot al comprehensive incom e I (loss) for the period 421.0 505.3 

Attributable t o: 

Equity holders of the Parent 419.6 491.7 

Non-controlling interests 1.4 13.6 

421.0 505.3 

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

82 



CRW.507.004.4605 

Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2019 

2019 2018 

Not e $m $m 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 20 1,126.0 1,844.6 

Trade and other receivables 6 98.7 172.3 

Inventories 16.7 17.3 

Prepayments 38.1 32.8 

Other financ ial assets 7 5.5 9.2 

Tot al current assets 1,285.0 2,076.2 

Non -current assets 

Receivables 6 157.8 143.0 

Other financ ial assets 7 37.5 23.3 

Investments in associates 8 206.9 187.8 

Property, plant and equipment 9 4,259.0 3 ,880.7 

Intangible assets - licences 10 1,064.0 1,080.6 

Other intangible assets 11 415.3 462.8 

Deferred tax assets 5 159.5 266.9 

Other assets 13 48.8 50.4 

Tot al non -current assets 6,348.8 6,095.5 

Tot al assets 7,633.8 8,171.7 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 14 433.1 427.5 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 15 287.6 25.7 

Income tax payable 153.9 165.3 

Provisions 16 186.0 225.1 

Tot al current liabilities 1,060.6 843 .6 

Non -current liabilities 

Other payables 14 255.1 287.6 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 15 791.0 1,467.0 

Deferred tax liabilities 5 401.5 380.9 

Provisions 16 24.2 32.6 

Other financ ial liabilities 4.5 2.1 

Tot al non -current liabilities 1,476.3 2,170.2 

Tot al liabilities 2,536.9 3,013.8 

Net assets 5,096.9 5,157.9 

Equity 

Contributed equity 17 (203.3) (71.9) 

Treasury shares 17 (15.7) 

Reserves 18 1.4 (60.5) 

Retained earnings 18 5,298.8 5,306.0 

Tot al equity 5,096.9 5,157.9 

The above Statement of Financ ial Position should be read in conjunction w ith the accompanying notes. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 83 



84 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Receipts from customers 

Payments to suppliers and employees 

Div idends received 

Interest received 

Borrowing costs paid 

Income tax paid 

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 

Investment in equity accounted associates 

Proceeds from disposal of investments 

Net proceeds from sale of equity investments 

Net payment for the acquisition of subsidiaries 

Net proceeds from the disposal of subsidiaries 

Loans to associated entities 

Other (net) 

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from borrowings 

Repayment of borrowings 

Div idends paid 

Payments for share buy-back 

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 

Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 

Not e 

20b 

20a 

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction w ith the accompanying notes. 

CRW.507.004.4606 

2019 2018 

$m 

3,070.1 

(2,177.4) 

8.9 

28.6 

(76.6) 

(75.5) 

778.1 

(538.7) 

0.2 

(5.5) 

7.6 

4.4 

(532.0) 

56.1 

(481.1) 

(409.0) 

(131.4) 

(965.4) 

(719.3) 

1,844.6 

0.7 

1,126 .0 

$m 

3,266.9 

(2,405.1) 

9.1 

28.8 

(108.7) 

(59.3) 

731.7 

(393.7) 

338.6 

(6.9) 

70.7 

62.5 

(10.6) 

141.8 

(1.5) 

200.9 

79.7 

(508.2) 

(413.4) 

(18.8) 

(860.7) 

71.9 

1,771.2 

1.5 

1,8 44.6 



CRW.507.004.4607 

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Shares Non-
Ordinary Held in Retained Controlling Total 

Shares Trust Earnings Reserves Total Interest Equity 
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m 

Year ended 30 June 2019 

Balance at 1 July 2018 (71.9) (15.7) 5,306.0 (60.5) 5,157.9 5,157.9 

Profit for the period 401 .8 401.8 1.1 402.9 

Other comprehensive income 17.8 17.8 0.3 18.1 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period 401 .8 17.8 419.6 1.4 421.0 

Dividends paid (409.0) (409.0) (409.0) 

Transactions w ith non-controlling 
interests (0.6) (0.6) 

Share buy-back (131.4) (131.4) (131.4) 

Movement in non-controlling interest 
put option 40.8 40.8 (0.8) 40.0 

Share based payments 15.7 3.3 19.0 19.0 

Balance at 30 June 2019 (203.3) - 5,298.8 1.4 5,096.9 - 5,096.9 

Year ended 30 June 2018 

Balance at 1 July 2017 (53.2) (19.4) 5,153.1 14.4 5,094.9 24.8 5,119.7 

Profit for the period 558.9 558.9 14.3 573.2 

Other comprehensive income/Ooss) (67.2) (67.2) (0.7) (67.9) 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period 558.9 (67.2) 491.7 13.6 505.3 

Dividends paid (413.4) (413.4) (413.4) 

Transactions w ith non-controlling 
interests (37.0) (37.0) 

Share buy-back (18.7) (18.7) (18.7) 

Transfers 7.4 (7.4) 

Movement in non-controlling interest 
put option (2.1) (2.1) (1.4) (3.5) 

Share based payments 3.7 1.8 5.5 5.5 

Balance at 30 June 2018 (71.9) (15.7) 5,306.0 (60.5) 5,157.9 - 5,157.9 

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction w ith the accompanying notes. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 85 



86 

CRW .507 .004.4608 

FINANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTlltlED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the ye« ended 30 .A.roe 201g 

1. Significant Accounting Policies 

1.1 Basis of preparation 

This financial report is a general-purpose financial report, 
which has been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian 
Accounting Standards and other authoritative 

pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board. The financ ial report has also been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for derivative financial 
instruments, contingent consideration and investments that 

have been measured at fair value and investments in 
associates accounted for using the equity method. 

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial 
report have been rounded to the nearest hundred 

thousand dollars unless otherwise stated under the option 
available to the Company under ASIC Corporations 
(Rounding in Fnancial/Directors' Reports) Instrument 
2016.'191 . Crown is an entity to which this Instrument 

applies. 

The financial report of Crov..m Resorts Limited and its 
controlled entities (the Group) for the year ended 30 June 
2019 was authorised for issue in accordance with a 

resolution of the directors on 11 September 201g subject to 
final approval by a subcommittee. Crcmn is a for profrt 
company ~mited by shares incorporated in Australia whose 
shares are publicly traded on the Austrafian Stock 

Exchange. 

Statement of Compliance 

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting 

Standards as issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board. 

1.2 Changes in accounting policies 

The Group has adopted AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers, which became applicable from 1 July 
2018. 

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for 

the first time from July 2018, but do not have a material 
impact on the financial position or performance of the 
Group during the period. 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This standard specifies the accounting treatment for 
revenue arising from contracts v./ith customers providing a 
framev..uk for determining whether, when and hcNI much 
revenue should be recognised. The standard requires an 

entity to recognise revenue when it transfers promised 
goods or services to customers at the transaction price, at 
an amount that reflects what it expects to be entitled to 
receive in exchange for the goods or services. 

The Group adopted AASB 15 using the full retrospective 
method of adoption. Certain prior period amounts have 
been adjusted to reflect the full retrospective adoption of 

the standard. For the year ended 30 June 2018, the 

Statement of Profit or Loss was restated, resulting in a 
decrease in 'revenue' and 'expenses' of $400.g million. 

Also the Cash Flow Statement was restated resulting in a 
decrease in 'receipts from customers' and 'payments to 
suppliers and employees' of $409.9 million. There was no 
impact on the net profit or net cash flows of the Group in 

the current or comparative reporting period. 

1.3 Standards i ssued but not yet effective 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that 
have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
effective and have not been adopted by the Group for the 
reporting period ended 30 June 2019 which may impact 

the entity in the period of initial application are outiined 
below: 

AASB 16 Leases (applicable to the Group from 

1July2019) 

This standard has a number of key features included 

requiring the recognition of assets and liabilities for all 
leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the 
underlying asset is of lov1 value. Lease liabilities arising 
from a lease are initialy measured on a present value basis. 

For Lessor eccounting, AASB 16 substantially carries 
forward the accounting requirements in AASB 117, other 
than in respect of subleases. 

The Group has chosen to apply the modified retrospective 

approach on adoption of the new standard. Therefore, 
there is no restatement of comparative information. 

On adoption of this standard, the Group is expecting to 
recognise a right·of·use asset of approximately $32 million, 

a related lease liability of approximately $55 million, w ith an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 
1 July 2019. 

Based on the current lease portfolio, the Group is not 

expecting a material impact to financial performance, 
however there w ill be a change of classification between 
expenses. 
On adoption of the new standard, there w ill be an increase 

in depreciation and interest expense, partially offset by an 
increase in EBITDA. 

Standards and Interpretations not expected to be 

material 

Certain other nem Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations have been published that are not mandatory 
for the 30 June 2019 reporting period. The Group has 
assessed the impact of these rtfNI Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations that are relevant to the Group, and does 
not expect any material impact on net assets, net profrt, 
presentation or disclosures when these standards become 
effective and are adopted. 

1.4 Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements are those of the 
consolidated entity, comprising Crown Resorts Limited (the 

parent entity) and all entities that Crown Resorts Limited 



1. Significant Accounting Policies continued 

1.4 Basis of consolidation continued 

controlled from time to time during the year and at 
reporting date {the Group). Control is achieved w hen the 
Group is exposed, or has rights. to variable returns from its 
involvement w ith the investee and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the investee. 

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an 
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. 

Information from the financ ial statements of subsidiaries is 
included from the date the parent entity obtains control 
until such time as control ceases. Where there is loss of 
control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial 
statements inc lude the results for the part of the reporting 
period during w hich the parent entity has control. Change 
of ownership interest of a subsidiary w ithout the loss of 
control is accounted for as an equity transaction. 

Subsidiary acquisitions are accounted for using the 
acquisition method of accounting. The financ ial statements 
of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period 
as the parent entity, using consistent accounting policies. 
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar 
accounting policies that may exist. 

All inter-company balances and transactions, inc luding 
unrealised profits arising from intra-g roup transactions, 
have been eliminated in full. 

The accounting policies adopted have been applied 
consistently throughout the two reporting periods. 

1.5 Significant accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions 

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are 
often determined based on judgements, estimates and 
assumptions of future events. The key judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
certain assets and liabilities w ithin the next annual 
reporting period are: 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group determines w hether goodw ill and intangibles 
w ith indefinite useful lives are impaired at least on an 
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating units to w hich the goodwill 
and intangibles w ith indefinite useful lives are allocated. The 
assumptions used in this estimation of recoverable amount 
and the carrying amount of goodwill and intangibles w ith 
indefinite useful lives are discussed in note 12. 

Fair value of financial instruments 

In accordance w ith accounting standards the Group uses 
the Level Three method in estimating the fair value of certain 
financial assets. Accordingly, the fair value is estimated 

CRW.507.004.4609 

using inputs for the asset that are not based on observable 
market data. 

Contingent consideration resulting from business 
combinations is valued at fair value at the acquisition date 
as part of the business combination. When contingent 
consideration meets the definition of a financial liability, it is 
subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting 
date. Refer note 14 for further details. 

Taxes 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax 
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit w ill 
be available against w hich the losses can be utilised. 
Management judgement is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised , 
based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable 
profits. 

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the 
tax returns w ith respect to situatio ns in w hich applicable 
tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 
provisions w here appropriate. 

Doubtful debts 

An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised based on 
the expected c redit loss from the time the financial 
instrument is initially recognised. 

The allowance for doubtful debts is based on a provision 
matrix that reflects the Group's historical c redit loss 
experience, adjusted for management's knowledge of 
specific customers' circumstances, as well as current 
collection trends and business conditions. 

Trade receivables are w ritten off when there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Put option liability 

Crown entered into an agreement w ith the DGN minority 
shareholders, w hich contained put options and call options 
over the remaining non-controlling interest. Crown has 
recognised a financ ial liability to reflect the carrying amount 
of the put option. In arriving at the carrying value of the put 
option liability, management estimated the future expected 
cash outflow upon exercise of the put optio n by the 
counterparty, discounted to present value using an 
appropriate discount rate. 

Significant items 

Significant items are transactions or events that fall outside 
the ordinary course of business. Significant items are 
disclosed separately to allow users of the financ ial report to 
see the performance of the Group in a comparable form to 
that of the comparative period. 

1.6 Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) Income tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities based on 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 87 



88 

CRW.507.004.4610 

FINANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTlltlED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the ye« ended 30 .A.roe 2019 

1. Significant Accounting Policies continued 

1.6 Summar y of signif icant accounting policies 

continued 

(a) Income tax continued 

the current period's taxable income. The tax rates and tax 
laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred tax is provided on most temporary d ifferences at 
the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences except: 

• where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; or 

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated 
with imiestments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joirrt wrrtures, when the timing of the l'elA3rsal of the 
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable 

that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 
foreseeable Mure. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry -forward of unused tax assets 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit w ill be available against which the 

deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward 
of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be 
utilised except 

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deduc tible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 
• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated 

with inwstments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only 

to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences w ill rewrse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit wil be available against which the temporary 
differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviev-.ied at 
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
avaiable to albN all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utiised. 

Deferred tax assets and iabilities are measured at the tax 

rates that are expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity 
are recognised in equity and not the Statement of Profit or 
Loss. 

(b) Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of GST except: 

• w here the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and 
services is not recowrable from the taxation authority, in 
which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable; 

• gaming revenues, due to the GST being offset against 
casino taxes; and 

• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of 
GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are induded in the Cash FIO'N Statement on a 
gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities, which is 
reroverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are 
classified as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the 
amount of GST recowrable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority. 

(c) Foreign currency translation 

Both the functional and presentation currency of Crcmn 

Resorts limited and its Australian subsidiaries is Australian 
doUars . 

Each foreign entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the financial 

statements of each foreign entity are measured using that 
functional currency, which is translated to the presentation 
currency for Group reporting purposes. 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in 

the functional currency at the exchange rates ruling at the 
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. 
Non-monetary items measured at falr value in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined. 

As at the reporting elate the assets and liabilities of 
overseas subsidiaries are translated into the presentation 

currency of Cl'CM/Tl Resorts Limited at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the reporting date and the profit or loss is 
translated at the 'Neighted average exchange rates for the 
period. The exchange differences arising on the 

retranslation are recognised through Other 
Comprehensive Income (OCI) and accumulated in the 
foreign currency translation reserve in equity. 

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative 

amount recognised in the foreign currency translation 
reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is 
recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss. 



1. Significant Accounting Policies continued 

1.6 Summary of significant accounting policies 

continued 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial 

Position comprises of cash at bank and on hand, and short 

term deposits w ith an original maturity of three months or 

less that are readily convertible to known amounts o f cash 

and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 

future value. 

For the purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, cash and 

cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 

defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

(e) Trade and o ther receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original 

invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 

amounts. 

All allowance for doubtful debts is recognised based on the 

expected credit loss from the time the financial instrument is 

initially recognised. Trade receivables are written off when 

there is no reasonable expectation of reccNery. 

Receivables from aseoc:iates and other related parties are 

carried at amortised cost less an allowance for impairment. 

Interest. when charged is taken up as income on an accrual 

basis. 

(f) Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower o f cost and net realisable 

value. 

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present 

location and condition are accounted for as follows: 

• Inven tori es whic h inc lude food, beverages and other 

consumables are costed on a weighted average basis; and 

• net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the 

sale. 

(g) Investments in associates 

The financial statements of the associates are used by the 

Group to apply the equity method. Where associates apply 
different accounting policies to the Group, adjustments are 

made upon application of the equity method. 

Investments in associates are carried in the Statement of 

Financial Position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in 

the Group's share of net assets of the associates, less any 
impairment in value. The Statement of Profit or Loss reflects 

the Group's share of the results of operations of the 

associates. 

Where there has been a change in the associates' OCI or 

equity, the Group recognises its share of any changes and 

discloses this, when applicable in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

CRW.507.004.4611 

When the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or 

exceeds its interest in the associate, including any 
unsecured long term receivables and loans, the Group does 

not recognise further losses unless it has incurred 

obligations or made payments on behalf o f the associate. 

(h) Investments and other financial assets 

Financial assets are classified based on: 

(i) The objective o f the entity's business model for managing 

the financial assets; and 

(ii) The c haracteristics of the contractual cash flow. 

The classification depends on the purpose for which the 

financial assets were acquired. Management determines 

the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. 

An irrevocable election is made by instrument to determine 

if the instrument is measured at falr value either through OCI 

or in the Statement of Profit or Loss. 

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are 
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of assets at fair 

value through OCI, directly attributable transaction costs. 

The best evidence of fair~ is quoted prices in an active 

market. The far value of the inllestments and other financial 
assets that do not have a price quoted in an active market 

heie been estimated using vak.lation techniques based on 

assumptions that are not supported by observable market 

prices or rates. The fair value is reassessed each reporting 

period. 

If the fair value through Statement of Profit or Loss 

approach is adopted, increments and decrements on the 

fair value of the financial asset at each reporting date are 

recognised in the Statement o f Profit or Loss. 

If the fair value through OCI approach is adopted, 

inc rements and decrements on the fair value are recognised 

in OCI, without recycling of gains and losses between the 

Statement o f Profit or Loss and OCI, even on disposal of 

the investment. Dividends in respect of these investments 

that are a return on investment are recognised in the 

Statement of Profit or Loss. 

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 

of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 

convention in the market place (regular Wfff trades) are 

recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group 

commits to purchase or se41 the asset. 

(i) Pro perty, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less 
accurrulated depreciation and any impaiment in value. 

Depreciation and amortisation is calculated on a straight

line basis CNer the estimated useful life of the asset as 

follows: 

• Buildings - 40 to 75 years; 
• Fixtures and Fitting in buildings - 4 to 20 years; and 

• Plant and equipment - 2 to 20 years. 

The asset's residual values, useful lives and amortisation 

methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 

financial year end. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 89 



90 

CRW.507.004.4612 

FlNANOAL REPORT 2010 CONTlNJED 

Notes to the Financial Statements oontinued 

For the ye8I ended 30 JLne 2019 

1. Significant Accounting Policies continued 

1.6 Summary of significant accounting policies 

continued 

(i) Property, plant and equipment continued 

Cost for construction work in progress includes any costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location 
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in 
the manner intended by management 

Impairment 

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent cash inflows, the reccwerable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to vJhich the asset 
belongs. If any such indication exists and where the 
carrying values exceed the estinated recoverable amount, 
the assets or cash-generating units are written dwm to 
their recoverable amount. 

The reco.oerable amount of property, plant and equipment 
is the greater of fair value less costs of disposal and value 
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a post-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

Derecognition 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. 

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in 
the Statement of Profit or Loss in the period the item is 
derecognised. 

U) Intangible assets 

Licences 

Licences are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

The directors regularly assess the carrying valie of casno 
licences so as to ensure they are not carried at a value 
greater than their recoverable amount. 

The casino licences are carried at cost of acquisition. The 
Crown Mel:>oume licence is being amortised on a straight
line basis over the remaining ife of the licence to 2050. The 
Crown Perth licence is assessed as having an indefinite 
useful life and, as such, no amortisation is charged. The 
Crown Perth licence is subject to an annual impairment 
assessment. Amortisation 'Nill commence on the Crown 
Sydney licence once the property is operational. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost, being 
the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 

transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling 
interest and any previous interest held Cfl/er the net 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost 
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not 
amortised. 

As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is 
allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to 
benefit from the combination's synergies. 

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in c ircumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is 
determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the 
cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates. Where 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less 
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 
recognised. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and 
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is 
included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. 
Goodwil disposed of in this circumstance is measured on 
the basis of the relative values of the operation dsposed of 
and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

Other intangible assets 

Acquired both separately and from a business 
combination. 

Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at 
cost and from a business combination are capitalised at 
fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
recognition , the cost model is applied to the class of 
intangible assets. 

The useful lives of these intangible assets are assessed to 
be either finite or indefinite. Where amortisation is charged 
on assets with finite lives, this expense is taken to the 
Statement of Profit or Loss. 

Intangible assets created within the business are not 
capitalised and expenditure is charged against profits in 
the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

Intangible assets are tested for impairment where an 
indicator of impairment exists, and annually in the case of 
intangible assets with indefinite lives, either individually or at 
the cash generating unit level. Useful lives are also 
examined on an annual basis and adjustments, where 
appicable, are made on a prospective basis. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible 
asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 
and are recognised in the Statement of Profit o r Loss when 
the asset is derecognised. 

(k) Recoverable amount of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is 
any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an 
indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes a formal 



1. Significant Accounting Policies continued 

1.6 Summary of s ignificant a ccounting p o lic ies 

continued 

(k) Recover able a m ount o f n o n -fina n c ia l assets 

continued 

estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. 

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows that are 
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets 
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a post-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

(1) Trad e a n d oth er payables 

Trade and other payables are recognised for amounts 
payable in relation to goods received and services 
rendered, w hether or not billed to the Group at reporting 
date. The Group operates in a number of diverse markets, 
and accordingly the terms of trade vary by business. 

(m) Interest-b earing loan s and borrowings 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair 
value of the consideration received less directly attributable 
transaction costs. 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method . 

Borrowings are c lassified as current liabilities unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly associated w ith qualifying assets 
are capitalised, including any other associated costs 
directly attributable to the borrowing. The capitalisation rate 
to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be 
capitalised is the weighted average interest rate applicable 
to the Group's outstanding borrowings during the year, in 

this case 5.8% (2018: 6.0%). 

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they 
are incurred. 

(n) Provis ions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) to make a future sacrifice 
of economic benefits to other entities as a result of past 
transactions or other events, it is pro bable that a future 
sacrifice of economic benefit w ill be required and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

CRW.507.004.4613 

Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a 
separate asset. The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in the Statement of Profit or Loss net of any 
reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre -tax rate that 
reflects the risks specific to the liability. When discounting 
is used, the inc rease in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognised as a finance cost. 

A provision for dividends is not recognised as a liability 
unless the dividends are declared, or publicly 
recommended on or before the reporting date. 

(o) Em p loyee ben efits 

Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a 
result of employees rendering services up to reporting date 
including related on-costs. The benefits inc lude wages and 
salaries, incentives, compensated absences and other 
benefits, which are charged against profits in their 
respective expense categories w hen services are provided 
or benefits vest w ith the employee. 

The provision for employee benefits is measured at the 
remuneration rates expected to be paid w hen the liability is 
settled . Benefits expected to be settled after twelve 
months from the reporting date are measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be 
made in respect of services provided by employees up to 
the reporting date. 

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the reporting date on bonds with terms to 
maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows. 

(p) Leases 

Group as lessee 

Finance leases, w hich transfer to the Group substantially all 
the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased 
item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. 

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance 
charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. 

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in 
the Statement of Profit or Loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 91 



92 

CRW.507.004.4614 

FINANCIAL REPORT 201Q CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

1. Significant Accounting Policies continued 

1.6 Summary of significant accounting policies 

continued 

(p) Le ases continued 

Group as lessor 

Leases in whic h the Group does not transfer substantially 

all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are 

c lassified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in 

negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to 

the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised 

over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 

Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in 

wtlch they are earned. 

(q) Oe recognition of financial instruments 

The derecognition of a financ ial asset takes place when the 

Group no longer controls the contractual rights that 

comprise the financial asset. which is normally the case 

when the instrument is sold, or all the cash flows 

attributable to the instrument are passed through to an 

independent third party. 

A financial ~ability is derecognised when the obligation 

under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

(r) D erivative financ ial instruments and hedging 

Oerivatilles are carried as assets v./hen their fair value is 

positive and as liabilities v./hen their fair value is negative. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 

derivatives, except for those that qualify as cash flow 

hedges, are taken directly to profit or loss for the year. 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts are calc ulated 

by reference to c urrent forward exchange rates for 

contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair values of 

interest rate swaps are determined by reference to market 

values for similar instruments. 

Hedges that meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting 

are accounted for as folbNs: 

(i) Fai r value hedges 

Fair value hedges are hedges o f the Group's exposure to 

c hanges in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or 

an unrecognised firm commitment, or an identified portion 

of suc h an asset, liability or firm commitment that is 

attributable to a particular risk and could affect profit or 

loss. For fair value hedges, the carrying amount of the 

hedged item is adjusted for gains and losses attributable to 

the risk being hedged and the derivative is remeasured to 

fair value. Gains and losses from both are taken to profit or 

loss. 

The Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting if the 

hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 

exercised, the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 

accounting or the Group revokes the designation. Any 

adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged financial 

instrument for which the effective interest method is used is 

amortised to profit or Joss. Amortisation may begin as soon 

as an aqustment exists and shall begin no later than when 

the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its 

fair value attributable to the risk being hedged. 

(ii) Cash flow hedges 

Cash flow hedges are hedges of the Group's exposure to 

variability in cash flows that is attributable to a particular 

risk associated with a recognised asset or liability that is a 

firm commitment and that could affect profit or loss. The 

effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 

instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the 

ineffective portion is recognised in the Statement of Profit 

or loss. 

Amounts taken to OCI are accumulated in the cash fbl1 
hedge reserve in equity are transferred out of equity and 

included in the measurement of the hedged transaction 

(finance costs or inventory purchases) when the forecast 

transaction occurs. If the hedging instrument expires or is 

sold, terminated or exerc ised w ithout replacement or 

rollover, or if the hedging relationship is discontinued, 

amounts previously recognised in equity remain in equity 

until the forecast transaction occurs. 

(s) Put opt ions o ver non-controlling interests 

Put options granted to holders of non-controlling interests 

('NCI puts1 at the date of acquiring control of a subsidiary 

(or after gaining control) gives rise to a financial liability. 

When the Group does not have a present ownership 

interest in the shares subject to the NCI put, the Group 

applies the partial recognition of NCI approach. Under this 

approach, the following accounting method is applied at 

the end of each reporting period: 

• The Group determines the amount that would have been 

recognised for the NCI, including an update to reflect 

allocations of profit or loss, allocat ions of changes in other 

comprehensive income and dividends declared for the 
reporting period; 

• The Group derecognises the NCI as if It was acquired at 

that date; 

• The Group recognises a financial iability and continues to 

re-assess the liabiity at the present value of the amount 

payable on exercise of the NCI put; and 

• The Group accounts for the difference between the NCI 

derecognised and the financial liability recognised as an 
equit y transaction. 

If the NCI put is exerc ised, the same treatment is applied 

up to the date of exercise. The amount recognised as the 

financial liability at that date is extinguished by the payment 

of the exercise price. 

If the NO put expires unexercised, the position is unwound 

so that the NCI is recognised at the amount it would have 

been, as if the NCI put had never been granted. The 
financial liability is derecognised ss an equity transaction. 



1. Significant Accounting Policies continued 

1.6 Summary of significant accounting policies 

continued 

(t) Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Issued capital is 
recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, 
less transaction costs and share buy-backs. 

(u) Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Group's accounting policy for Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers and impact on adoption of AASB 15 is as 
follows: 

C rown M elbourne, C rown Perth and Crown Aspinalls 

Gaming Revenue 

Gaming revenue is the net difference between gaming Y.lins 
and losses, and is recognised upon the outcome of the 
game. Commissions rebated to customers or promoters 
are recorded as a red.Jction of revenue. Prior to adoption of 
AASB 15, commissions rebated to customers or promoters 
were recorded within operating expenses. 

The Statement of Profit or Loss for the year ended 
30 June 2018 was restated, resulting in a decrease in 
'revenue' of $400.9 milion and a decrease in 'expenses'of 
$409.9 million. 

Food and beverage revenue 

Food and beverage revenue is recognised as the goods 
are provided. 

Other than described in the Complimentary goods or 
services section below, no changes to revenue recognition 
were Identified upon adoption of AASB 15. 

Hotel, entertainment and other operating revenues 

Hotel, entertainment and other operating revenues are 
recognised as services are performed, which for hotels is 
over the term of the customer's stay and for entertainment 
is when the event is held. Advance deposits for hotels and 
advance ticket sales for entertainment are recorded as 
customer deposits (i.e. contract tiability) until services are 
provided to the customer. 

Other than described in the Complimentary goods or 
services section belcm, no changes to revenue recognition 
were identified upon adoption of AASB 15. 

Complimentary goods or services 

Fol' gaming transactions that include complimentary goods 
or services being provided to customers, the Group 
allocates revenue from the gaming transaction to the good 
or service provided based on the standalone selling price 
whioh is the arm's length price for that good or service 
available to the public. 

Prior to the adoption of AASB 15, revenue from gaming 
transactions that included complimentary goods or 
services being provided to customers was not allocated 
from gaming revenue to the good or service provided. 

CRW.507.004.4615 

As the gaming revenue and revenue from complimentary 
goods or servioes are contained within revenue for Crown 
Melbourne, Crown Perth and Crown Aspinalls as disclosed 
in note 3, no restatement of the statement of profit or loss 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 was required. 

Contract and contract-related liabilities 

In providing goods and services to its customers, there 
may be a timing difference between cash receipts from 
customers and recognition of revenues, resulting in a 
contract or contract·related liability. 

The Group primarily has liabilities related to contracts with 
customers as follows: 

• Unredeemed casino chips, which represent the amounts 
owed to customers for chips in their possession. 

• loyalty program liabitities, whidl represent the deferral of 
revenue until loyalty points are redeemed. 

• Advance customer deposits, which represent casino front 
mone'J deposits that are funds deposited by customers 
before gaming play occurs, gift YOuchers and advance 
payments on goods and services yet to be prcNided such 
as deposits on hotel rooms and convention space. 

These liabilities are generaly expected to be recognised as 
revenues within one year of being purchased, earned, or 
dleposited and are recorded within current trade and other 
payables on the Statement of Financial Position. Decreases 
in these balances generally represent the recognition of 
revenues and increases in the balances represent 
additional chips held by customers, increases in customer 
loyalty program balances and additional deposits made by 
customers. 

Wagering and Online 

Revenue from exchange betting 

Revenue from exchange betting represents commission 
and other charges earned on betting activity. Revenue is 
recognised as the performance obligations are satisfied, 
which is considered to be upon the outcome of the bet 
being determined. 

No changes to revenue recognition were identified upon 
adoption of AASB 15. 

Social gaming revenue 

Social gaming revenue is derived from the purchase of 
credits. Revenue is recognised in the accounting periods 
in which the transactions occur on a gross basis and 
commission costs are expensed as incurred. 

No changes to revenue recognition v..ere identified upon 
adoption of AASB 15. 

(v) Other revenue 

Leases 

l ease revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis 
over the lease term. Contingent lease revenue is 
recognised in the period in which it is earned. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 93 



94 

CRW.507.004.4616 

RNANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

1. Significant Accounting Policies continued 

1.6 Summary of significant accounting policies 

continued 

(v) Other revenue continued 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues (using the 
effective interest method, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected ~fe of the financial instrument) to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset. 

Dividends 

Revenue is recognised when the shareholders' right to 
receive the payment is established. 

(w) Share-based payments 

Employees Qncluding senior executives) of the Group 
receive remuneration in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services as 
consideration for equity instruments. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by 
the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an 
appropriate valuation model. 

That cost is recognised in employee benefits expense, 
together with a corresponding increase in equity 
(reserves), over the period in which the service is fulfilled 
(the vesting period). The cumulative expense recognised 
for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until 
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting 
period has expired. 

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the 
minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair value 
of the unmodified award, provided the original terms of the 
award are met. An additional expense, measured as at the 
date of modification, is recognised for any modification 
that increases the total lair value of the share-based 
payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to the 
employee. Where an av.Jard is cancelled by the entity or by 
the counterparty, any remaining element of the fair value of 
the award is expensed im:nediately through profit or loss. 

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share. 

{x) Earnings per share (EPS) 

Basic EPS is calculated as net profit after tax, adjusted to 
exclude any costs of servic ing equity (other than 
dividends), divided by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares, adjusted for arf/ bonus element. 

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit after tax. adiJsted 
for: 

• costs of servicing equity (other than dividends); 
• the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated 

with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been 
recognised as expenses; and 

• other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses 
di.Jing the period that woud result from the dilution of 
potential ordinary shares; 

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for 
any bonus element. 

(y) Segment Information 

The Group's operating segments have been determined 
based on geographic location, management reporting 
structure and the nature of the products and services 
offered by the Group. Crown has identified the Board of 
Directors as its chief operating decision maker that 
allocates resources and assesses the performance of the 
operating segments. The segment information presented 
below is consistent with internal management reporting. 

The Group has lour operating segments being Crown 
Melbourne, Crown Perth, Crown Aspinalls and Wagering & 
Online. 

(z) Business Combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 
business combination shall be measured at fair value, 
which shall be calculated as the sum of the acquisition 
dale lair values of the assets transferred by the acquirer, 
the liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former ov.mers of 
the acquiree and the equity issued by the acquirer, and 
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acq.iiree. 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

For each business combination the group elects whether 
to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree at 
the lair value or at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the 
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
c lassification and designation in accordance with the 
contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group's 
operating or accounting policies and other pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the 
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by 
the acquiree. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the 
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to lair value 
at the acquisition date through profit or loss. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the 
acquirer will be recognised at lair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset 
or liability will be recognised in accordance with AASB 9 in 
the Statement of Profit or Loss. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it should not be 
remeasured until it is finally settled within equity. 



() 

~ 

~ 
s: 
~ 
)> 

5 
c: 
!!!. 

f 
9 
CD 

~ 

2. Segment Information 
30 June 2019 

Normalised Result 1•1 Actual 
Crown Crown Crov.n Wagerng Crov.n 

Melbourne Perth Asplnalls & Online unallocated Group Adjustment~'~' Crown Group 
$m $m $m $m $m $m $m $m 

Operating revenue 
Main floor tables 

Main floor machines 

VIP program play 

Wagering & Non gaming 

lnterseg ment 

Operating revenue 2,155.4 799.4 56.0 130.1 1.5 3,139.2 (236.3) 2,902.9 

Interest revenue 26.5 26.5 

Total revenue 2,155.4 799.4 56.0 130.1 1.5 3,165.7 (236.3) 2,929.4 131 

Operating expenses (1,565.9) (577.0j (49.0j (104.0) (43.2) (2,340.3) 283.9 {2,056.4) 

lntersegment 3.2 3.2 
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation "EBITDA" 589.5 221.8 6.4 26.1 (41.7) 802.1 47.6 849.7 

Depreciation and amortisation (175.2) (85.3) (2.7) (6.8) (3.6) (273.6) (273.6) 

Earnings before interest and tax "EBIT" 414.3 136.5 3.7 19.3 (45.3) 528.5 47.6 576.1 

Equity accounted share of associates' net profit/(loss) 13.3 13.3 

Net interest income/(expen se) (10.1) (10.1) 

Income tax benefiV(expense) (162.0) (14.4) (176.4) 

Profit/(loss) after tax 369.7 33.2 402.9 

Non-controlling interest (1.1) (1.1) 

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Parent 368.6 33.2 401.8 

(1) Normalised results have been adjusted to exclude the lmpoc:t o f any variance from theore tical w in rate on VIP program play (at Crown Melbourne, Crown Perth and Crown Asplnalls) and sgnlfk:ant Items. 
The theoretk:al win rate Is the expected hokj percentage on VIP program play <Ner time. Accordingly, the normalised resUlt g ives rise to adjustments to VIP program play revenue, operating expenses and 
Income tax expense. Re1.enue from gaming transactions tha t Include complimentary goods o r servk:es being pr<Nkjed to c ustomers Is not a llocated fro m gaming revenue to the gcod or servk:e pr<Nlded. 
The Group believes that no rmalised results are the re levant measure o f viewing performance o f the business as It rem<Nes the Inherent volatility In VIP gaming revenue. Normalised results are a non-IFRS 
measure. 

(2) During the year Crown Incurred $261.3 million of actual VIP program play commission expenses. Commission expenses are Included In the total normalised Operating Expenses for the period of $2,340.3 
million. In the actual results, the comrrisslon expenses have been allocated out of Operating Expenses and recognised as a reduction to revenue. This d ifference between the norrnalsed and a:tua 
result Is Included In the Adjustment column above. 

(3) Total re1.enue o f $2,929.4 mlllb n Inc ludes $0.2 mlllb n o f pro fit on disposal o f non-current assets, w hk:h Is not Inc luded In revenue In the Sta tement o f Pro fit or Loss. 0 

~ 
CJ1 
0 
--..J 
0 
0 
~ 

:i:.. 
O'> ...... 
--..J 



<O 
CJ) 

2. Segment Information continued 

30 June 2018 

Operating revenue 
Main floor tables 

Main floor machines 

VIP program play 

Wagering & Non gaming 

lnterseg ment 

Operating revenue 
Interest revenue 

Total revenue 

Operating expenses 

lntersegment 

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation " EBITDA" 

Deprec iation and amortisation 

Earnings before interest and tax "EBIT" 

Net asset (impairmentYre1.ersal 

Net foreign currency gain on disposal of foreign operations 

Net gain on CrownBet disposal 

Net gain on Ellerston disposal 

Restructuring & other significant expenses 

Equity accounted share of associates' net profit/(loss) 

Net interest incomei{expense) 

Income tax benefiV(expense) 

Profit/(loss) after tax 
Non-controlling interest 

Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Parent 

Crown 
Melbourne 

Sm 

2,279.0 

2,279.0 
(1,634.0) 

645.0 
(177.5) 

467.5 

Normalised Result ~1 

Crown Crown Wagering 
Perth Asplnalls & Onllne Unallocated 

Sm Sm Sm Sm 

844.5 64.4 293.0 4.5 

844.5 64.4 293.0 4.5 
(595.7) (52.4) (266.1) (58.9) 

248.8 12.0 26.9 (54.4) 
(87.0) (1.9) (14.8) (4.7) 

161.8 10.1 12.1 (59.1) 

s1uawa1c1s IC!OUCU!.:J a41 01 sa10N 

Actual 

crown Adjust- Significant Crown 
Group ment!•1121 1tems!41 Group 

Sm Sm Sm Sm 

3,483.4 (428.2) - 3,055.2 
30.1 30.1 

3,513.5 (428.2) - 3,085.3(3) 

(2,607.1) 342.3 (2,264.8) 
2.0 2.0 

878.3 (85.9) - 792.4 
(285.9) (285.9) 

592.4 (85.9) - 506.5 

122.3 122.3 

76.9 76.9 
8 7.5 8 7.5 

5.9 5.9 
(15.5) (15.5) 

9.3 (2.7) 6.6 
(46.0) (46.0) 

(170.1) 25.8 (26.7) (171 .0) 

385.6 (60.1) 247.7 573.2 
1.2 (15.5) (14.3) 

386.8 __ (60.1) 232.2 558.9 
1) Normalised results have been adjusted to exclude the Impact of any variance from theoretical win rate on VIP program play (at Crown Melbourne, Crown Perth and Crown Asp In alls) and slgn~lcant 

Items. The theoretical win rate Is the expected hold percentage on VIP program play over time. Accordingly, the normalised result gives rise to adjustments to VIP program play rewenue, operating 
expenses and Income tax expense. Revenue from gaming transactions that Include complimentary goods or services being provided to customers ls not allocated from gaming revenue to the good or 
service provided. The Group bell ewes that normalised results are the relevant measure of viewing performance of the business as It removes the Inherent volatlllty In VIP gaming revenue. Normal lsed 
results are a non-IFRS measure. 

(2) During the year Crown Incurred $ 409.9 rrilllon of actua V IP program p ay conmlsslon expenses. Conmlsslon expenses are lnd uded In the tota normalised Operating Expenses for the period of 
$2,607.1 rrilllon. In the actua results, the commission expenses ha1.e been alooated out of Operating Expenses and recognised as a reduction to revenue. This difference between the normali sed m d 
actual result Is Inc luded In the Adjus tment column above. 

(3) Total revenue of $3,085.3 million Includes $2.2 million of profit on disposal of non-current assets, which Is not Included In revenue In the Statement of Profit or Loss. 
(4) Significant Items of $232.2 rrilllon consist of a net asset Impairment reversa predominately relating to AIOI\ a net gain on Crown Bet d isposal, a net gain on Blerston disposal and a net foreign c t.rrency 

gain on disposal of foreign operations (p'ell(ously recorded In reser1.es), partially offset by restructuring & other significant expenses and significant Items relating to Crown's equity accounted Interests. 

,, z ll 
Q z 

~ :r 
Q_ 0 CD 

~ l ll 

CD m 
CD (!l 
::J 

([) ~ Q. 
CD .., Q. g 
(,.) 

0 
., 

0 
() (._ 
0 c 
3 :J 

CD ,--+ z 
I\) c 
0 ::::::;-- eJ cO 

CD 
I] 
::::J 
Q) 
::::J 
0 
Q) 

(!) 
,--+ 

~ 
CD 
3 
CD 
::::J 
,--+ 
([) 

§ 
3' 
as 
Q 

0 
:::0 
~ 
CJ, 
0 
--..J 
0 
0 
~ 

:i:.. 
O'> __.. 
00 



3. Revenue and Expenses 

Profit before income tax expense inc ludes the following revenues and expenses: 

(a) Revenue 

Crown Melbourne 

Crown Perth 

Crown Aspinalls 

Wagering & Online 

Other 

Less Commissions 

Total Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Tenancy revenue 

Interest 

Div idends 

Total Revenue 

(b) Other income 

Profit on disposal of non-current assets 

Net gain on CrownBet disposal 

Net gain on Ellerston disposal 

Net foreign currency gain on disposal of foreign operations 

(c) Expenses 

Cost of sales 

Operating activities 

Goodw ill impairment - DGN('l 

Reassessment of contingent consideration - DGNl2l 

Asset impairment reversal 

Restructuring & other expenses 

Other expenses 

Depreciation of non-current assets 

(included in expenses above) 

Buildings 

Plant and equipment 

Amortisation of non-current assets 

(included in expenses above) 

Casino licence fee and management agreement 

Other assets 

Total depreciation and amorti sation expense 

(1) Refer note 12 for further Information. 
(2) Refer note 14 for further Information. 

CRW.507.004.4619 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

2,133.7 2,217.5 

808.8 839.0 

56.3 75.6 

129.1 292.9 

1.3 

(261.3) (409.9) 

2,866.6 3 ,016.4 

34.6 34.9 

26.5 30.1 

1.5 1.7 

2,929.2 3,083.1 

0.2 2.2 

87.5 

5.9 

76.9 

0.2 172.5 

157.6 159.1 

2,122.4 2,326.1 

48.9 

(48.9) 

(122.3) 

15.5 

46.8 63.5 

2,326.8 2,441.9 

94.9 95.4 

154.0 162.6 

248.9 258.0 

20.4 20.3 

4.3 7.6 

24.7 27.9 

273.6 285.9 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 97 



ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

3. Revenue and Expenses continued 

(d) Other income and expense disclosures 
Finance costs expensed: 
Debt facilities 

Capitalised interest 

Operating leases 

Superannuation expense 

Other employee benefits expense 

Net foreign currency (gains)/losses 

(e) Significant items - income I (expense) 
Goodwill impairment - DGN('l 

Reassessment of contingent consideration - DGNl2l 

Asset impairment reversal 

Net foreign currency gain on disposal of foreign operations 

Net gain on CrownBet disposal 

Net gain on Ellerston disposal 

Restructuring & other significant expenses 

Associates significant items 

Tax amounts in significant items 

(1) Refer note 12 for further Information. 
(2) Refer note 14 for further Information. 

4. Dividends Paid and Declared 

(a) Dividends declared and paid during the financial year 

Prior year final dividend (paid 5 October 2018) 
Paid at 30.0 cents (2017: 30.0 cents) per share franked at 60% (2017: 60% franked) at the 

Australian tax rate of 30% (2017: 30%) 

Current year interim dividend (paid 4 April 2019) 
Paid at 30.0 cents (2018: 30.0 cents) per share franked at 60% (2018: 60% franked) at the 
Australian tax rate of 30% (2018: 30%) 

Total dividends appropriated 

(b) Dividends declared and not recognised as a liability 

Current year final dividend (expected to be paid 4 October 2019) 
Declared at 30.0 cents (2018: 30.0 cents) per share franked at 25% (2018: 60% franked) at 
the Australian tax rate of 30% (2018: 30%) 

(c) Franking credits 

The tax rate at w hich the final dividend will be franked is 30% (2018: 30%). The franking 
account disclosures have been calculated using the franking rate applicable at 30 June 
2019. The amount of franking credits available for the subsequent financial year: 

Franking account balance as at the end of the financial year at 30% (2018: 30%) 

Franking credits/(debits) that w ill arise from the paymenV(receipt) of income taxes payable/ 
(refundable) as at the end of the financ ial year 

Total franking credits 
The amount of franking credits available for future reporting periods: 

Impact on the franking account of dividends announced before the financial report was 
authorised for issue but not recognised as a distribution to equity holders during the financial year 

Total franking credits available for future reporting periods 

98 (1) Dollar value based on the total number of shares on Issue as at the date of declaration o f the 2018 final dividend. 

CRW.507.004.4620 

continued 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

81.5 106.4 

(44.9) (30.3) 

36.6 76.1 

5.6 7.6 

65.8 67.8 
925.1 923.5 

(1.3) (8.1) 

(48.9) 

48.9 
122.3 

76.9 

87.5 

5.9 

(15.5) 

(2.7) 

(26.7) 

247.7 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

205.9 206.7 

203.1 206.7 

409.0 413.4 

203.1 206.2 (i) 

2.9 34.7 

(4.4) 13.2 

(1.5) 47.9 

(21.8) (53.0) 

(23.3) (5.1) 



5. Income Tax 

(a) Income t ax expense 

The prima facie tax expense, using the Australian tax rate multiplied by profit differs from 
income tax provided in the financ ial statements as follows: 

Profit before income tax 

Prima facie income tax expense on profit at the Australian rate of 30% (2018: 30%) 

Tax effect of: 

Non deductible depreciation and amortisation 

Share of associates' net losses/(profits) 

Differences in foreign tax rates 

Deferred tax balances not previously bro ught to account 

Income tax (over)/under provided in prior years 

Non-deductible/(non-assessable) significant items 

Revenue losses not brought to account 

Other items - net 

Incom e t ax expense 

Income tax expense comprises: 

Current expense 

Deferred expense 

Adjustments for current income tax of prior periods 

Tax on significant items 

(b) Deferred income t axes 

Deferred income tax assets 

Deferred income tax liabilities 

Net deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) 

CRW.507.004.4621 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

579.3 744.2 

173.8 223.2 

1.7 1.7 

(4.0) (2.0) 

(O,g) (1.6) 

1.5 (3.8) 

(0.6) 2.4 

(56.4) 

(2.1) 0.4 

7.0 7.1 

176.4 171.0 

50.9 8 4.3 

126.1 57.6 

(0.6) 2.4 

26.7 

176.4 171.0 

159.5 266.9 

(401.5) (380.9) 

(242.0) (114.0) 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 99 



100 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

5. Income Tax continued 

St atem ent of 
Financial Position 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

(c) Deferred incom e tax assets and liabilities at the 
end of the financ ial year 

The balance comprises temporary d ifferences 
attributable t o: 

Doubtful debt provision 18.2 113.3 

Employee benefits provision 41 .0 38.6 

Losses available for offsetting against future taxable income 25.6 25.9 

Other receivables 0.5 1.8 

Other provisions 40.9 54.6 

Prepaid casino tax (14.0) (14.5) 

Licences and intangibles (225.6) (226.6) 

Land and buildings (166.1) (139.7) 

Property, plant & equipment 25.6 18.9 

Revaluation of investment to fair value 18.4 

Other 11 .9 (4.7) 

Deferred incom e t ax exp en se/(incom e) 

Net deferred incom e tax assets/(liabilities) (242.0) (114.0) 

(d) M ovem ents in deferred incom e tax assets and liabilities during the financ ial year 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 

Tax income I (expense) during the period recognised in profit or loss 

Tax income I (expense) during the period recognised in profit or loss - significant items 

Exchange differences 

Tax income I (expense) - derivatives 

Disposal of subsidiaries 

Carrying am ount at the end of the year 

(e) Tax losses n ot brought to account, as the realisation of the b enefits represented 
by these balances is not considered to be probable 

Tax losses arising in Australia for offset against future capital gains 

Fo reign income tax losses for offset against future foreign profits 

Total t ax losses not brought t o account 

Pot ential t ax benefit at respective tax rates 

CRW.507.004.4622 

continued 

St atem ent of 
Profit o r Loss 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

95.1 

(2.3) 

0.4 

1.2 

13.6 

(0.4) 

(1.0) 

26.3 

(6.7) 

18 .4 

(18.5) 

126.1 

2019 
$m 

(114.0) 

(126.1) 

(0.1) 

(1.8) 

(242.0) 

86.8 

753.0 

839.8 

184.2 

(14.8) 

(2.9) 

11 .0 

1.2 

(1.1) 

(0.4) 

(2.5) 

19.3 

(10.7) 

70.2 

(4.7) 

64.6 

2018 
$m 

(22.7) 

(57.6) 

(6.9) 

(0.1) 

(0.6) 

(26.1) 

(114.0) 

489.8 

637.7 

1,127.5 

280.9 



CRW .507 .004.4623 

5. Income Tax continued 

(f) Unrecognised temporary differences 

At 30 June 2019, there is no recognised or unrecognised deferred income tax liability (2018: $nil) for taxes that would be 
payable on the unremitted earnings of certain of the Group's subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, as the Group has no 

liability for additional taxation should such amounts be remitted. 

(g) Tax consolidation 

Crown Resorts Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidated group w ith 

effect from 1 July 2007. Crown Resorts Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group. Members of the group 

have entered into a tax sharing arrangement with Crown Resorts Limited in order to allocate income tax expense between 

Crown Resorts Limited and the wholly owned subsidiaries. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of income 

tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligations. At the balance date the 

possibility of default is remote. 

(h) Tax effect accounting by members of the tax consolidated group 

Members of the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding agreement. The tax funding agreement provides 

for the allocation of current and deferred taxes to members of the tax consolidated group in accordance with their taxable 

income for the period. The allocation of taxes under the tax funding agreement is recognised as an increase I decrease in 

the subsidiaries inter-company accounts with the tax consolidated group head company, Crown Resorts limited. 

6. Trade and other Receivables 
2019 2018 

$m $ m 

Current 

Trade receivables 189.7 580.8 

Provision for doubtful debts (a) (108.0) (425.7) 

81.7 155.1 

Other receivables 17.0 17.2 

98.7 172.3 

Non-current 

Other receivables 157.8 143.0 

157.8 143.0 

(a) Allowance for Doubtful Debts 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally 30 day terms. An allowance for doubtful debts is recognised 

based on the expected credit loss model from the time the financial instrument is initially recognised. 

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts 

Allowance for doubtful debts at the beginning of the year 

Net dolbtful debt expensel1l 

Disposal of subsidiaries 

Net Amounts written off 

Exchange differences 

(1) Amounts are Included In other expenses. 

2019 
$m 

(425.7) 

(12.7) 

339.1 

{8.7) 

(108.0) 

2018 
$m 

(367.6) 

(67.2) 

1.7 

12.8 

(5.4) 

(425.7) 

During the year, a number of longstanding debts that were previously fully piwided in doubtful debt provisions, being 

deemed to have no reasonable expectation of recovery were written off. As those amounts were fully provided for, this has 

had no impact on net debtors. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 10 1 



102 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Ageing analysis of t rade receivables 

0-30 days >30days 
$m $m 

2019 - consolidated 

Current 45.5 

Past due not impaired 36.2 

Considered impaired 1.8 106.2 

47.3 142.4 

2018 - consolidated 

Current 94.0 

Past due not impaired 61.1 

Considered impaired 425.7 

94.0 486.8 

7. Other Financial Assets 
2019 

$m 

Current 

Receivable on foreign exchange contracts 5.5 

5.5 

Non-current 

Receivable on cross currency swaps 35.2 

Other 2.3 

37.5 

Details of the Group's exposure to interest rate risk and foreign currency changes are provided in note 30. 

8. Investments in Associates 

Investment details: 

Associated entities - unlisted shares 

Total investments in associates 

Share of profits of associates 

Nobu Group 

Aggregate share of profit from non material associates 

2019 
$m 

206.9 

206.9 

2019 
$m 

7.3 

6.0 

13.3 

CRW.507.004.4624 

Total 
$m 

45.5 

36.2 

108.0 

189.7 

94.0 

61.1 

425.7 

580.8 

2018 
$m 

9.2 

9.2 

23.3 

23.3 

2018 
$m 

187.8 

187.8 

2018 
$m 

7.2 

(0.6) 

6 .6 



8. Investments in Associates continued 

Reporting 
Investments in Associates Date Principal Activity 

Nobu Group 31 Dec~l Restaurants/Hotels 

Principal 
Place 
of Business 

USA 
Aspers Holdings (Jersey) Ltd 

Chill Gaming Pty Ltd 

Zengaming Inc 

30 June 

30 June 

31 Dec~l 

Casino and gaming machine operator UK 

Gaming software developer Australia 

eSports USA 

(1) The Group uses 30 June results to equity account for the lnves1ments. 

CRW .507 .004.4625 

% Interest 

30 June 30 June 
2019 2018 

20.0 20.0 

50.0 

50.0 

28.g 

50.0 

50.0 

36.g 

The associates outlined above are accounted for using the equity method in these consolidated financial statements. 

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's material associates is set out below. 

Carrying amount of investment - Nobu Group: 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 

Share of associates' net prolitJlloss) for the year 

Foreign exchange movements 

Dividends received 

Carrying amount of investment in the Nobu Group at the end of the financial year 

2019 
$m 

135.2 

7.3 

7.4 

(7.4) 

142.5 

2018 
$m 

130.4 

7.2 

5.0 

(7.4) 

135.2 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 103 



CRW.507.004.4626 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

9. Property, Plant and Equipment 

Total 
Buildings on Construction property, 

Freehold land leasehold Plant& work in plant& 
&buildings land equipment progress equipment 

$m $m $m $m $m 

Year ended 30 June 2019 

At 1 July 2018, net of accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 1,741.7 829.7 664.3 645.0 3,880.7 

Additions 1.3 16.0 92.2 517.0 626.5 

Disposals (0.9) (0.9) 

Depreciation expense (45.5) (49.4) (154.0) (248.9) 

Exchange differences 0.3 1.3 1.6 

Reclassification/ transfer 8.4 (0.8) 8.4 (16.0) 

At 30 June 2019, net of 
accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 1,705.9 795.8 611.3 1,146.0 4,259.0 

At 30 June 2019 

Cost (gross carrying amoun~ 2,189.0 1,602.5 2,517.3 1,146.0 7,454.8 

Accumulated deprec iation and 
impairment (483.1) (806.7) (1,906.0) (3,195.8) 

Net carrying amount 1,705.9 795.8 611.3 1,146.0 4,259.0 

Buildings Total 
Freehold on Construction Leased property, 

land & leasehold Plant & work in plant & plant & 
buildings land equipment progress equipment equipment 

$m $m $m $m $m $m 

Year ended 30 June 2018 
At 1 July 2017, net of accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 1,964.8 872.2 646.5 345.7 130.0 3,959.2 

Additions 0.9 13.9 95.9 321.2 431.9 

Disposals (265.0) (6.7) (31.5) (4.6) (30.0) (337.8) 

Deprec iation expense (44.6) (50.8) (158.4) (4.2) (258.0) 

Impairment reversal 89.1 89.1 

Exchange differences (6.3) 0.7 1.9 (3.7) 

Reclassification/ transfer 2.8 0.4 109.9 (17.3) (95.8) 
At 30 June 2018, net of 
accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 1,741.7 829.7 664.3 645.0 3,880.7 

At 30 June 2018 

Cost (gross carrying amount) 2,182.7 1,598.1 2,437.8 645.0 6,863.6 
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment (441 .0) (768.4) (1,773.5) (2,982.9) 

Net carrying amount 1,741.7 829.7 664.3 645.0 3,880.7 

104 



10. Intangible Assets - Licences 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 

Amortisation expense 

Balance at the end of the financial year 

Cost (gross carrying amount) 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment 

Net carrying amount 

The casino licences are carried at cost and amortised on a straight line basis over their useful lives. 

2019 
$m 

1,080.6 

(16.6) 

1,064.0 

1,2g1.o 

(233.0) 

1,064.0 

CRW.507.004.4627 

2018 
$m 

1,007.3 

(16.7) 

1,080.6 

1,297.0 

(216.4) 

1,080.6 

The Crc:Nm Melbourne licence is being amortised unU 2050. The Crown Perth licence ($440.4 million) is assessed as 
having an indefinite useful life, as it does not expire, and therefore no amortisation is charged. Amortisation 'Nil commence 
on the Crown Sydney licence once the property is operational. 

11. Other Intangible Assets 
Casino 

Management 
Goodwilllll Agreement<ll Other Total 

$m $m $m $m 

Year ended 30 June 2019 

At 1 July 2018, net of accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 338.4 119.0 5.4 462.8 

Additions 2.0 2.0 

lmpairment<2l (48.g) (48.9) 

Exchange differences 5.9 5.9 

Amortisation expense (3.7) (2.8) (6.5) 

At 30 June 2019, net o f accumulated amorti sation and 
impairment 295.4 115.3 4.6 415.3 

At 30 June 2019 

Cost (gross carrying amount) 344.3 245.3 22.5 612.1 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (48.9) (130.0) (17.9) (196.8) 

Net carrying amount 295.4 115.3 4.6 415.3 

(1) Purchased as pert ol bu&IMSS combinations. 
(2) lmpelrment relates to the gooctNll In OGN. Refer note 12 lor further details. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 105 



106 

CRW.507.004.4628 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

11. Other Intangible Assets continued 

Casino 
M anagem ent 

Goocfwill 111 Agreem ent 111 Other Total 

$m $m $m $m 

Year ended 30 June 2018 

At 1 July 2017, net of accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 346.5 122.7 93.5 562.7 

Additions 2.0 2.0 

Impairment reversal 36.5 36.5 

Exchange differences 6.1 (2.6) 3.5 

Amortisation expense (3.7) (6.0) (9.7) 

Disposals (14.2) (118.0) (132.2) 

At 30 June 2018, n et of accumulated am ortisation and 
impairment 338.4 119.0 5.4 462.8 

At 30 June 2018 

Cost (gross carrying amoun~ 338.4 245.3 20.5 604.2 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (126.3) (15.1) (141.4) 

Net carrying amount 338.4 119.0 5.4 462.8 

(1) Purchased as part of business combinations. 

Goodwill is considered to have an indefinite life and is tested annually for impairment (see note 12). The goodwill balance 
at 30 June 2019 is allocated to CroNn Melbourne $26.9 million (2018: $26.9 million), CroNn Perth $144.0m (2018: $144.0 million), 
Crown Aspinalls $53.1 million (2018: $52.5 million), DGN $51.5 million (2018: $95.1 million) and Betfair $19.9 million 
(2018: $19.9 million). 

The useful life of the Crown Melbourne casino management agreement is amortised on a straight line basis to 2050. 

12. Impairment Testing of Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are allocated to the Group's cash generating units (CGUs) identified 
according to the lowest levels for w hich there are separately identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash 
flows from other assets or groups of assets. 

The allocation of goodwill and other intangible assets w ith indefinite useful lives to the Group's CGUs are outlined in Note 10 
and Note 11 . 

The recoverable amount of a CGU is defined as the higher of the value in use and the fair value less cost of disposal. This 
implied value is then compared with the carrying value of the CGU to determine any impairment required. The recoverable 
amount of the Crown Melbourne, Crown Perth and Betfair CGUs has been determined based on a value in use calculation 
using a discounted cash flow methodology covering a four year period, w ith an appropriate residual value at the end of that 

period. The methodology utilises cash flow forecasts that are based primarily on business plans presented to and 
approved by the Board. 

The recoverable amount of the DGN and Crown Aspinalls CGUs has been determined based on fair value less costs of 
disposal, calculated using a discounted cash flow methodology and using historical and forecast earnings for the CGU as 
well as market acquisition prices and current trading multiples of entities of a similar nature to each CGU. 

Value in use assessment 
The following describes each key assumption on w hich management has based its cash flow projections to undertake 
impairment testing of intangible assets for CGUs under the value in use method. 

• Cash flow forecasts are based on past performance and expectations for the future using a four year cash flow period, risk 
adjusted where applicable. 



CRW.507.004.4629 

12. Impairment Testing of Intangible Assets continued 

• Residual value is calculated using a perpetuity growth formula based on cash flow forecasts using a weighted average 
cost of capital (after tax) and forecast growth rate. 

• Forecast growth rates are based on past performance and management's expectations of future performance in each 
CGU as at 30 June 2019 , based on the nature of the products and industries in w hich each CGU operates. The terminal 
growth rates beyond the four year period do not exceed the forecasted long term Australian inflation rate of 2.50% (2018: 
2.25%). 

• A weighted average cost of capital (after tax) of between 8% and 12% (2018: 8% and 10%) was used by the Group in 
impairment testing, risk adjusted w here applicable. 

Fair value less costs of disposal assessment 
The following describes each key assumption on w hich management has based its recoverable amount calculation of 
intangible assets for CGUs under the fair value less costs of disposal method. 

• Earnings forecasts are based on the business plan as presented to and approved by the Board, which are based on past 
performance and expectations for the future using a four year cash flow period, risk adjusted where applicable. 

• Residual value is calculated using a perpetuity growth formula based on cash flow forecasts using a discount rate and 
earnings multiples. 

• A discount rate (after tax) of between 8% and 12% was used , risk adjusted w here applicable. 
• Acquisition multiples between 8.5x and 11 .0x prior year EBITDA have been utilised, reflecting market acquisition prices for 

entities of a similar nature to each CGU. 
• Trading multiples of publicly listed companies and entities of a similar nature to the CGU of between 7.5x and 8.0x last 

twelve months EBITDA and between 8.0x and 9.0x next twelve months EBITDA have been utilised. 
• Costs of disposal of 2.0% have been utilised to discount the implied fair value. 

The fair value measurement for the Crown Aspinalls and DGN CGUs is considered to be level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, 
based on using inputs that are not based on observable market data, and w here available level 2 information has been 
utilised (refer to Note 30 for explanation of the valuation hierarchy). 

Outcome o f impainnent tests for intangible assets 
Based on the valuation techniques performed, an impairment loss of $48.9 million has been recorded against the Group's 

intangible assets during the year (2018: niQ. As at 30 June 2018, goodwill relating to the acquisition of DGN was $95.1 
million. At 30 June 2019, indicators of impairment were identified for the DGN CGU. These indicators were considered in 
the re-forecast of cash flows of the DGN Group, w hich were developed as part of the annual four-year business plan 
presented to and approved by the Board. Based on the impairment testing using the re-forecast earnings of the DGN 
Group, the recoverable amount of the DGN CGU is $81.8 million as at 30 June 2019. As a result of carrying amounts 
exceeding recoverable amount, Crown has reduced goodw ill relating to the acquisition of DGN by $48.9 million. This 
goodw ill was initially recorded as part of the acquisition of Winners Club Limited, w ith a significant part of the initial goodwill 
relating to contingent consideration. Crown has also reassessed the amount of contingent consideration on the acquisition 
of Winners Club Limited and reduced the amount due (Refer to note 14 for details of the contingent consideration). DGN 
forms part of the Wagering & Online segment and the impairment loss of $48.9 million has been included in the results for 
the Wagering & Online segment. This impairment loss has been included in the Statement of Profit or Loss. 

Sensitivity analysis 
For CGUs w here the recoverable amount was determined based on the value in use calculation, the key estimates and 
assumptions used to determine the value in use of the CGU are based on management's current expectations based on 
past experience, future plans and external market information. They are considered to be reasonably achievable, however 
significant changes in any of the key estimates and assumptions may result in a CGUs carrying value exceeding its 
recoverable value, resulting in an impairment charge. 

It is not considered that any reasonable possible change in any of the above assumptions would cause the carrying value 
of any CGU to materially exceed its recoverable amount. 

For Crown Aspinalls and DGN w here the recoverable amount was determined based on fair value less costs of disposal, 
an adverse change in either the acquisition or trading multiples of entities of a similar nature to the CGU, or an adverse 
change in the earnings of the CGU may, or in the case of DGN would, result in the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed 
its recoverable amount, resulting in an impairment charge against goodwill of the CGU. In relation to Crown Perth , it is 
noted that a terminal growth rate of less than 0.25% could give rise to an impairment. 

The Group w ill continue to monitor the performance of all CGUs going forward, and consider the impact on the respective 
CGUs' impairment testing assumptions and carrying value. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 107 



108 

CRW.507.004.4630 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

13. Other Assets 
2019 2018 

$m $m 

Non -current 

Prepaid casino tax at cost 100.8 100.8 

Accumulated amortisation (53.9) (52.5) 

46.9 48 .3 

Other prepayments 1.9 2.1 

48.8 50.4 

14. Trade and Other Payables 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

Current - unsecured 

Trade and other payables 280.6 250.5 

Contract and contract-related liabilities !1> 152.5 177.0 

433.1 427.5 

Non -current - unsecured 

Casino licence payable <2J 167.6 163.0 

Contingent consideration 0.7 47.0 

Other 86.8 77.6 

255.1 287.6 

(1) Contract and contract related llabllltles Include unredeemed casino chips, loyalty program llabllltles and advance customer deposits w hich 
decreased by $24.5 million during the year (2018: Increased by $12.9 million). 

(2) Net present value of the $250.0 minion payment due In 2033 relating to the Crown Melbourne Casino licence. 

Contingent Consideration 
As part of the purchase agreement w ith the previous owners of Winners Club, there may be an additional contingent 
consideration payment due based on the 2020 earnings of the DGN Group. During the current period, following a 
re -forecast of earnings of the DGN Group, Crown has reduced the contingent consideration by $48.9 million, w hich has 
been included in the Statement of Profit or Loss. The net change in value of $46.3 million constitutes the re -measurement 
of $48.9 million and unfavourable FX movement of $2.6 million. The fair value measurement for contingent consideration is 
considered to be level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, based on using inputs that are not based on observable market data 
(refer to note 30 for explanation of the valuation hierarchy). A significant increase {decrease) in the future earnings of the 
DGN Group would result in a higher Oower) fair value of the contingent consideration liability. As part of the reassessment 

of future earnings, Crown also impaired the goodwill relating to DGN, as outlined in note 12. 



15. Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings 

Current 

Bank Loans - unsecured 

Capital Markets Debt - unsecured 

Non-current 

Bank Loans - unsecured 

Capital Markets Debt - unsecured <•l 

Other loans - unsecured 

CRW.507.004.4631 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

28.5 

259.1 

25.7 

287.6 25.7 

790.0 

1.0 

28.9 

1,437.1 

1.0 

791.0 1,467.0 

(1) On 14 September 2018, Crown redeemed an of the outstandng SUbordnated Notes llSted on the ASX l.W1de< the OOde "CWNHA" (the "Notes") 
In accordance With the terms of the Notes. Tt<s red\Jced Cr<mn's gross debt by epprOXlmalely $.400 mmon 

Fair Value Disclosures 
Details of the fair value disclosures of the Group's interest bearing liabiities are set out in note 30. 

Financial Risk Management 
Information about the Group's exposure to interest rate and foreign currency changes is prOllided in note 30. 

Financing and Credit Facilities 
Uneecurad credit facilities are provided as part of the overaD debt funding structure of the Crown Group as follows: 

Facility Drawn Letters of 
Amount Amount Credit Issued Available Expiry 

Facility Type $m $m $m $m Dates 

Bank Facilities 

Bilateral Multi Option Facilities 170.0 28.5 31.5 110.0 Nov 19 I Mar 20 

GBP Syndicated Facility 90.4 90.4 Aug 2020 

Letter of Credit Facilities 250.5 250.5 Jun 21 - Jan 22 

510.9 28.5 282.0 200.4 

Debt Capital Markets 

Euro Medium Term Notes 174.6 174.6 Jul2036 

Australian Medium Term Notes 259.1 259.1 Nov2019 

AUD Subordinated Notes 615.4 615.4 Apr2075 

1,049.1 1,049.1 

Other 

Other Loans 1.0 1.0 Jun 2021 

Total at 30 June 2019 1,561.0 1,078.6 282.0 200.4 

Total at 30 June 2018 2,009.8 1,492.7 341.0 176.1 

The bank facilities are provided on an unsecured basis by domestic and international banks. Refer note 30(a)(i) for further 
details regarding interest rates. 

The debt capital mar1<ets drawn amounts represent unsecured notes issued to domestic and international debt investors. 
Crown is able to make advances and issue letters of credit under the letter of credit facility, syndicated facilities and the 
bilateral facilities which are multi option in nature. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 109 



110 

CRW .507 .004.4632 

FINANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTlltlED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the ye« ended 30 .A.roe 2019 

15. Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings continued 

Each of the above mentioned fac~ities is issued tlf or supported by a Group guarantee from Crcmn and certain 

subsidiaries and impose various affirmative covenants on Crcmn, which may include compliance with certain financial 

ratios and negative covenants, inc luding restrictions on encumbrances, and customary events of default, inc luding a 
payment default, breach of covenants, cross-default and insolvency events. 

During the current and prior year, there were no defaults or breaches on any of the loans or borrowings. 

Refer to note 20(c) for a summary of Crown's overdraft facilities. 

16. Provisions 

At 1 July 2018 

Arising during the year 

Utilised during the year 

At 30 June 2019 

Current 2019 

Non-current 2019 

At 30 June 2019 

Current 2018 

Non-current 2018 

At 30 June 2018 

17. Contributed Equity 

Issued share capital 

Ordinary shares fully paid 

Movements in issued share capital 

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 

Share buy-back, inclusive of costs 

Carrying amount at the end of the financ ial year 

Shares held in Trust 

Balance at beginning of the financial year 

Shares transferred under the Crown Long Term Incentive Ran 

Balance at the end of the financ ial year 

Issued share capital 

Ordinary shares fully paid 

Movem ents in issued share capital 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 

Share buy-back 

Balance at the end of the financial year 

Employee 
Entitlements 

Sm 

201.7 

Q3.4 

(122.2) 

172.9 

158.4 

14.5 

172.9 

186.3 

15.4 

201.7 

Other 
$m 

56.0 

2.6 

(21.3) 

37.3 

27.6 

9.7 

37.3 

38.8 

17.2 

56.0 

2019 
$m 

(203.3) 

(71.9) 

(131.4) 

(203.3) 

(15.7) 

15.7 

2019 
No. 

677,158,271 

687.421,194 

(10 .262,923) 

677,158,271 

Total 
Sm 

257.7 

96.0 

(143.5) 

210.2 

186.0 

24.2 

210.2 

225.1 

32.6 

2fi7.7 

2018 
$m 

(71.9) 

(53.2) 

(18.7) 

(71.9) 

(19.4) 

3.7 

(15.7) 

2018 
No. 

687,421,194 

688,847,822 

(1.426,628) 

687,421,194 



CRW.507.004.4633 

17. Contributed Equity continued 

During the year, the Group carried out an on-market share buy-back as an element of its capital management program. 
For the year ended 30 June 2019, shares to a value of $131.4 milWon (2018: $18.7 million) have been purchased. 

Due to share buy-backs being undertaken at higher prioes than the original subscription prices, the balance of contributed 
equity is reflected as a negative balance, which shows the excess value of shares bought over the original amount of 
subscribed capital. Refer note 2g for details of the Parent Entity's share capital, which has significant paid up capital. 

Terms and Conditio ns of Contributed Equity 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to partic ipate in div idends and the proceeds on w inding-up of the Company in proportion 
to the number of shares held. 

The voting rights attaching to ordinary shares provide that each ordinary shareholder present in person or by proxy or 
attorney or being a corporation present by representative at a meeting shall have: 

(a) on a shCMI of hands, one vote only; 

(b) on a poll, one vote for every tuny paid ordinary share held. 

Capital Management 
When managing capital, the Group's objective is to maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders. The Group also aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest cost of capital available to 
the entity. 

During 2019, the Group paid dividends of $409.0 million (2018: $413.4 milion). The Group's dividend policy is to pay 

60 cents per share on a full year basis, subject to Cl'CN'm's financial position. 

18. Reserves and Retained Earnings 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

Employee equity benefits reserve 

Net unrealised gains reserve 

Cash flow hedge reserve 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising 
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. It is also used to 
recognise gains and losses on hedges of the net investment in foreign operations. 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 

Net foreign exchange translation 

Net foreign exchange gain reclassified to profit or loss 

Non-controlling interest 

Balance at the end of the financial year 

Employee Equity Benefits Reserve 

The e!Tlllolee eqLity benefits reserve is used to record share based remuneration 
obligations to executives in relation to ordnary shares. 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 

MO\o'ernent for the period 

Balance at the end of the financ ial year 

2019 
$m 

(28.8) 

18.9 

(14.1) 

25.4 

1.4 

(42.5) 

14.0 

(0.3) 

(28.8) 

15.6 

3.3 

18.9 

2018 
$m 

(42.5) 

15.6 

(54.9) 

21.3 

(60.5) 

26.1 

7.6 

(76.9) 

0 .7 

(42.5) 

13.8 

1.8 

15.6 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 111 



112 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

18. Reserves and Retained Earnings continued 

Net Unrealised Gains Reserve 

The net unrealised gains reserve records the movement from changes in ownership 
interests in a subsidiary, investments and associates equity, which do not impact control. 

Balance at the beginning of the financ ial year 

Transfer to retained earnings 

Movement in non-controlling interest put option 

Balance at the end of the financ ial year 

Cash Flow Hedge Reserve 

The cash flow hedge reserve records the portion of the gain or loss on a hedging 
instrument in a cash flow hedge that is determined to be an effective hedge. 

Balance at the beginning of the financ ial year 

Movement in interest rate swaps 

Movement in c ross currency swaps 

Movement in forward exchange contracts 

Balance at the end of the financ ial year 

Retained Earnings 

Balance at the beginning of the financ ial year 

Transfer from unrealised gains reserve 

Net profit after tax attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Total available for appropriation 

Div idends provided for or paid 

Balance at the end of the financ ial year 

19. Lease and Expenditure Commitments 

(a) Capital exp end iture commitments 

Estimated capital expenditure contracted for at balance date, but not provided for: 

Payable w ithin one year 

Payable after one year but not more than five years 

(b) Non -can cellable op erating lease commitments - Group as lessee 

Payable w ithin one year 

Payable after one year but not more than five years 

Payable more than five years 

2019 
$m 

(54.9) 

40.8 

(14.1) 

21 .3 

(1.6) 

8.3 

(2.6) 

25.4 

5,306.0 

401.8 

5,707.8 

(409.0) 

5,298.8 

2019 
$m 

623.9 

82.8 

706.7 

2019 
$m 

7.0 

14.1 

11.4 

32.5 

CRW.507.004.4634 

2018 
$m 

(45.4) 

(7.4) 

(2.1) 

(54.9) 

19.9 

0.5 

1.0 

(0.1) 

21.3 

5,153.1 

7.4 

558.9 

5,719.4 

(413.4) 

5,306 .0 

2018 
$m 

425.9 

420.8 

846.7 

2018 
$m 

7.3 

16.3 

9.8 

33.4 



CRW.507.004.4635 

19. Lease and Expenditure Commitments continued 

The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating leases. The leases vary in contract period depending on the asset 
involved but generally have an average lease term of approximately 4 years (2018: 6 years) excluding the land lease detailed 
below. Operating leases include motor vehicles, land and buildings and items of plant and equipment . Renewal terms are 
included in certain contracts, whereby renewal is at the option of the specific entity that holds the lease. On renewal, the 
terms of the leases are usually renegotiated. There are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases. 
The operating lease commitments exclude optional renewal periods. 
In addition, in 1993 Crown Melbourne entered into a ninety-nine year lease agreement for the site upon which Crown 
Melbourne Entertainment Complex is located. For years one to forty inclusive the annual rent payable by the parent entity is 
one dollar per annum. For years forty-one to ninety-nine inclusive the annual rent payable will be the then current market 
rent for the site. The aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at balance date but not provided for which is disclosed in 
this report does not include an estimate for the rent payable for years forty-one to ninety-nine inclusive due to the 
uncertainty of these amounts. 

(c) Non-cancellable operating lease receivables - Group as lessor 

The Group has entered into operating leases for retail tenancies within its Crown Melbourne and Crown Perth properties. 
Future minimum rental revenue receivables for the non-cancellable period of the operating leases are shown in the table 
below. The leases have terms between 3 and 25 years. 

Payable within one year 

Payable after one year but not more than five years 

Payable more than five years 

2019 
$m 

24.5 

fil.7 

15.2 

97.4 

2018 
$m 

22.4 

52.6 

14.6 

89.6 

The total contingent rent recognised as income during the year is $5.7 m~lion (2018: $5.7 million). Contingent rentals which 
may become receivable in the future and separately invoiced amounts for recovery of property outgoings are excluded 
from the table above. 

20. Cash Flow Statement Reconciliation 

(a) Cash balance represents: 

Cash on hand and at bank 

Deposits at call 

2019 
$m 

412.5 

713.5 

1,126.0 

2018 
$m 

355.8 

1,488.8 

1,844.6 

The above closing cash balances includes $133.9 million (2018: $130.9 million) of cash on the company's premises and 
cash held in bank accounts needed to run the day to day operations of the businesses and cash (including deposits on 
calQ of $992.1 minion (2018: $1,713.7 milion) for other purposes. All deposits at call are with ~ed counterparties with 
investment grade ratings. Refer note 30(c) for further details. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 113 



114 

CRW .507 .004.4636 

FINANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTlltlED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the ye« ended 30 .A.roe 2019 

20. Cash Flow statement Reconciliation rontinueci 

(b) Reconc iliation of the profiV(loss) after tax t o the net cash flow s 

from operating activ ities 

Profit after tax 

Non cash items and Items dealt w ith separately: 

• Depreciation and amortisation 

• Asset impairment/(reversal) 

• Share of associates' net (profit)/loss 

• Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss 

• Net foreign exchange gain on disposal of foreign operations 

· Net mark-to-market (gain)/loss on investments 

• Fair value movement of derivatives not in hedging relationships 

Cash items not included in profit after tax: 

• Dividends received from associates 

Items classified as investi1g/financing activities: 

• (ProfrtYloss on sale of property, plant and equipment 

• Net galn on disposal of subsidiaries and associates 

Working Capital changes: 

• (Increase) I decrease in trade receivables and other assets 

• (Increase) I decrease in inventories 

• (Decrease) I increase in tax provisions 

• (Decrease) I increase in trade and other payables, accruals and provisions 

Net cash flow s from operating activit ies 

(c) Bank Overdraft Facilities 

The Group has bank overdraft facilities available as follows: 

Bank 

ANZ Banking Group Limited 

Citibank NA 

Royal Bank of Scotland PLC 

2019 
$m 

402.9 

273.6 

(13.3) 

(1.3) 

{2.3) 

7.4 

(0.2) 

(12.0) 

53.6 

0 .6 

116.6 

(47.5) 

778.1 

2019 

A$20 million 

US$10 million 

£18 million 

As at 30 June 2019 there were no drawn OOM1 amounts on the overdraft facilities {2018: nil). 

21. Events After the Reporting Period 

2018 
$m 

573.2 

285.9 

(122.3) 

(6.6) 

(8.1) 

(76.9) 

(4.7) 

7.4 

(2.2) 

(93.4) 

60.4 

0.2 

138.4 

(19 .6) 

731.7 

2018 

A$20million 

US$10 million 

£20million 

Crown hokls a 50% ownership interest in the One Oueensbridge devetopmerrt site which is strategically located adjacent 

to the Crown Meboume entertailment complex, v-lith the remaining 50% interest held ~ the Schiavello Group. 

Subsequent to 30 June 2019, Crown reached an agreement to purchase the Schiavelo Group's 50% ownership interest in 

the site as well as all pre-de11eloprnent assets, including all intelectual property and designs for the project, for 

approximately $80 minion. The transaction remains subject to long-form agreements between Crwm and the Schiavello 
Group. 

Subsequent to 30 June 2019, the directors of Crown declared a final dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the year 

ending 30 June 2019. The total amount of the dividend is expected to be $203.1 million, which represents a dividend of 

30.0 cents per share franked at 25%. The unfranked portion of the dividend has been declared to be conduit foreign 
income. 



CRW.507.004.4637 

22. Contingent Liabilities and Related Matters 

On 15 February 2016 CrO'M1 was issued with amended assessments and notices of penalty by the Australian Taxation 
Office ("ATO") for a total of approximately $362 million which comprise primary tax, interest and penalties. The amended 
assessments are in respect of income tax paid for the financial years ended 30 June 2000 to 30 June 2014 Onclusive) and 
relate to the tax treatment of some of the financing for Crown's investment in Cannery Casino Resorts ("Cannery") in North 
America. CrO'M1 formally objected to the amended assessments and notices of penalty, but those objections were 
disallowed in full by the ATO. On 10 July 2018 CrO'M1 lodged applications for an appeal against the objection decisions 
relating to the amended assessments in the Federal Court. On 7 September 2018 Crown applied to the Administrative 
Appeals Tribunal f'AAT'1 for a review of the objection decisions relating to the notices of penalty. 
Crown was issued w ith further amended assessments and notices of penalty dated 31 August 2018 in respect of the 
financial years ended 30 June 2014 to 30 June 2016 (inclusive). The further amended assessments and notices of penalty 
have been issued for a total of approximately $34 million which comprise primary tax, interest and penalties, and similarly 
relate to some of the financing for CrO'Ml's investment in Cannery. Crown formally objected to the amended assessments 
and notices of penalty, but those objections were disaMowed in full by the ATO. On 21 December 2018 Crown lodged 
applications for an appeal against the objection decisions relating to the further amended assessments in the Federal 
Court, and appied to the AAT for a review of the objection decisions relating to the notices of penalty. Pursuant to orders 
made by the Federal Court and the AAT, the appeals and applications for review relating to the further amended 
assessments and notices of penalty were joined to the existing Federal Court and AAT proceedings commenced in respect 
of the original amended assessments and notices of penalty issued to Crov.m on 15 February 2016. 

[Option 1 - No judgement] 
The Federal Court and the AAT (simultaneously? heard all of the proceedings between 11 and 21 June 2019. Judgement is 
yet to be handed dcmn. 

Crown considers that it has paid the correct amount of tax in respect of these matters. 

[Option 2 - Judgement handed down - Crown unsuccessful on at least one issue] 
The Federal Court and the AAT (simultaneously? heard all of the proceedings between 11 and 21June2019. The Federal 
Court and the AAT handed dO'M1 their judgements on Vnserl date]. The Federal Court held that Vnsert brief details). The 
AAT held that pnsert brief details). 
[The parties have or Crown has) until Vnsert date that is 28 days after judgements handed down] to appeal the judgements. 

Despite the judgements of the Federal Court and AAT, Crown remains of the view that it has paid the correct amount of tax 
in respect of these matters and intends to continue to pursue all available avenues of resolution. 

[Option 3 - Judgement handed down - Crown successful on all issues] 
The Federal Court and the AAT (simultaneously) heard all of the proceedings between 11 and 21 June 2019. The Federal 
Court and the AAT handed down their judgements on Vnsert date]. The Federal Court held that [insert brief details]. The 
AAT held that [insert brief details]. 

The ATO has until Unsert date that is 28 days after judgements handed down] to appeal either or both of the Federal Court 
and AAT judgements. If the ATO appeals either of the decisions then Crown intends to continue to pursue all available 
avenues of resolution. 
As announced by Crown on 4 December 2017, Maurice Blackburn Lawyers have commenced a class action proceeding 
against Crown in the Federal Court of Australia. The proceeding has been filed on behalf of persons who acquired an 
interest in Crown shares between 6 February 2015and16 October 2016. Crown has announced that it intends to 
vigorously defend the proceedng. 
In addition to the above matters, entities within the group are defendants from time to time in legal proceedings arising from 
the conduct of their business. The group does not consider that the outcome of any proceedings ongoi1g at balance date, 
either incivici.lall>f or in aggregate, is likely to have a material effect on its financial position. 'Mlere appropriate, prcMsions 
have been made. 

The group has no other material contingent liabilities at 30 June 2019. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 115 



116 

CRW.507.004.4638 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

23. Auditors' Remuneration 

Amounts received, or d ue and receivable, by Ernst & Young (Aust ralia) for: 

Auditing the accounts 

Taxation services 

Consulting and assurance related services 

Amounts received, or d ue and receivable, by other m ember firms of 
Ernst & Young Internation al for: 

Auditing the accounts 

Taxation services 

24. Earnings Per Share (EPS) 

The following refl ects the incom e and sh are data used in the calculations of 
basic and d iluted EPS: 

Net profit I Ooss) after tax used in calculating basic and diluted EPS ($m) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic EPS ('m) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted EPS ('m) 

2019 
$ 

1,575,277 

3,567,326 

138,103 

127,509 

545,204 

5,953,419 

2019 

401.8 

680.2 

681.0 

2018 
$ 

1,100,926 

3,411,650 

256,097 

161,080 

507,335 

5,437,088 

2018 

558.9 

688.7 

688.7 

During the year, CroNn undertook an on-market share buy-back to a value of $131.4 million (2018: $18.7 million). Following the 
completion of the buy -back, Crown's shares on issue reduced by approximately 10.3 million to approximately 677.2 million. 

25. Key Management Personnel Disclosures 

(a) Details of key management p ersonnel 

(i) Directors 

John H Alexander 

The Hon. Helen A Coonan 

Andrew Demetriou 

Geoffrey J Dixon 

Jane Halton AO PSM 

Professor John S Horvath AO 

Guy Jalland 

Michael R Johnston 

Antonia Korsanos 

Harold C Mitchell AC 

John Poynton AO 

(ii) Executives 

Kenneth M Barton 

Barry Felstead 

W Todd Nisbet 

Executive Chairman 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director 

Non-Executive Director (appointed 20 November 2018) 

Chief Financial Officer & Chief Executive Officer - Crown Digital 

Chief Executive Officer - Australian Resorts 

Executive Vice President - Strategy and Development 



25. Key Management Personnel Disclosures continued 

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel 

CRW .507 .004.4639 

Total remuneration for key management personnel for the Group and Parent Entity during the financial year are set out 
below: 

2019 2018 
Remuneration by category $m $m 

Short term benefits 13.0 15.4 

Post employment benefits 0.2 0.2 

Long term incentives 2.4 2.3 

15.6 17.9 

Further details regarding key management personnel and detailed disclosures of share based payment arrangements are 

contained in the Remuneration Report. 

26. Related Party Disclosures 

(a) Parent entity 
Crown Resorts Limited is the ultimate parent entity of the Group. 

(b) Controlled entities, associates and joint ventures 

Interests in significant controlled entities are set out in note 27. 

lllllestments in associates and joint ventures are set out in note 8. 

(c) Entity with significant influence over the Group 

Based on a substantial shareholder notice dated 11 June 2019 lodged t:7y' Consoidated Press Holdings Group ("CPHj, 

comprising Consolidated Press Holdings Pty limited and its related corporations, a group related to Mr James Packer, had 

a relevant interest in 249,253,302 of the Company's fully paid ordinary shares at balance date. This equates to 36.81% of 

the Company's fully paid ordinary shares (2018: 46.10%) based on the total number of shares on issue at the relevant 
balance date. 

(d) Key man agement personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 25, and in the Remuneration Report. 

(e) Terms and conditions of transactions with related p arties 

Sales to and purchases from related parties are made in arm's length transactions both at normal market prices and on 
normal commercial terms, unless otherwise stated. 

(f) Transactions with related p arties 

The Group had the following transactions with related parties: 

(Q Director related entities and entities with significant influence over the Group 

CPH provided management services in accordance with a Services Agreement, in addition to corporate secretarial 

and administrati11e services of $3.5 million during the year {2018: $4.0 minion). CPH paid costs on behalf of CrO'Ml to 

third parties totalling $1.0 million during the year {2018: $1.0 million). Af 30 June 201g there was $0.4 million owing to 
CPH (2018: $2.2 milion~ 

Crown and its controlled entities provided CPH vJith hotel and banqueting services of $12,000 during the year (2018: 
$22,000). At 30 June 2019 there v,iere no amounts owing from CPH (2018: $niQ. 

In line with its COITVTlitment to the NSW Government, Crcmn has ongoing access rights to the golf course and other 

facilities at Ellerston (a property in the Hunter Veley O'Nned by CPH and an entity associated with Ms Gretel Packer). 
During the period Crown paid $1.0 milion for the access rights {2018: $1.0 minion). 

(iij Associates 

During the period, Crown paid the Nobu Group $2.7 million (2018: $2.6 million) in license and management fees 
relating to restaurants at CrO'Nn Melbourne and CrO'Nn Perth. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 117 



118 

CRW.507.004.4640 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

27. Investment in Controlled Entities 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Crown Resorts Limited and its controlled entities. 

Significant controlled entities and those that are party to a Deed of Cross Guarantee w ith the parent entity are set out below: 

Crown Resorts Limited 
ALON Las Vegas Financeco, LLC l2l 

ALON Las Vegas Holdings, LLC l21 

ALON Las Vegas Resort, LLC l2l 

Artra Pty Ltd 

Aspinall's Club Limited 

Betfair Pty Ltd 

Betfair Australasia Pty Ltd 

Burswood Limited 

Burswood Nominees Ltd 

Burswood Resort (Management) Ltd 

Capital Club Pty Ltd 

Club Gaming Pty Ltd 

Crown Asia Investments Pty Ltd 

Crown Australia Pty Ltd 

Crown Capital Golf Pty Ltd 

Crown Cyprus Pty Ltd 

Crown CCR Group Holdings One Pty Ltd 

Crown CCR Group Holdings Two Pty Ltd 

Crown CCR Group Holdings General Partnership 

Crown CCR Group Investments One LLC 

Crown CCR Group Investments Two LLC 

Crown CCR Holdings LLC 

Crown CPS Holdings Pty Ltd 

Crown Digital Holdings Pty Ltd 

Crown Entertainment Group Holdings Pty Ltd 

Crown (Gaming Technology) Holdings Pty Ltd 

Crown Gateway Luxembourg Pty Ltd 

Crown Group Finance Limited 

Crown Group Securities Ltd 

Crown Resorts International Holdings Ltd 

Crown Investment Holdings LLC 

Crown Management Holdings Pty Ltd 

Crown Management Pty Ltd 

Crown Melbourne Limited 

Crown North America Holdings One Pty Ltd 

Crown North America Investments LLC 

Crown Overseas Investments Pty Ltd 

Crown Queensbridge Development Pty Ltd 

Crown Queensbridge Holdings Pty Ltd 

Crown Queensbridge Property (Hotel) Pty Ltd 

Crown Queensbridge Property (Residential) Pty Ltd 

Crown Sydney Pty Ltd 

Crown Sydney Gaming Pty Ltd 

Footnote 

2019 2018 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

A 

Country of 
Incorporation 

Australia 

USA 

USA 

USA 
Australia 

United Kingdom 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

USA 

USA 

USA 

USA 
Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Bahamas 

USA 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

USA 
Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Beneficial Interest 
Held by the 

Consolidated Entity<11 

2019 2018 
% % 

Parent Entity 

88 
88 
88 

100 100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 

100 



CRW .507 .004.4641 

27. Investment in Controlled Entities continued 

Beneficial Interest 
Country of Held bythe 

Footnote Incorporation Consolidated Entity('I 

2019 2018 2019 2018 
% % 

Crown Sydney Holdings Pty Ltd A A Australia 100 100 

Crown Sydney Property Pty Ltd A A Australia 100 100 

Crown Training Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Crown US Investments LLC USA 100 100 

Crown UK Investments Ltd United Kingdom 100 100 

Crown (Western Australia) Pty Ltd A A Australia 100 100 

Crown (Western Australia) Finance Holdings Pty Ltd A A Australia 100 100 

Crown (Western Australia) Finance Pty Ltd A A Australia 100 100 

DGN Games LLC USA 85 85 

Flienn Pty Ud Australia 100 100 

Jade West Entertainment Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Gender Fitness Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Jemtex Pty Ltd A A Australia 100 100 

Melbourne Golf Academy Pty Ltd Austra~a 100 100 

PBL Overseas (Cl) Pty Ltd A A Australia 100 100 

PBL (CQ Finance Pty Ltd Austra"a 100 100 

Pennwin Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Publishing and Broadcasting (Finance) Ltd A A Australia 100 100 

Renga Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

Royal Gaming Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 

(1) The proportion of ownership Interest Is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 
(2) Entitles were dereglstered during the period. 
A These controlled entitles have entered Into a deed of cross guarantee dated 21 June 2017 with the parent entity under ASIC Instrument 

20161785 - the "Closed Group" (refer note 28). Crown Digital Holdings Ply Lid was added to the deed of croee guarantee during the current 
parlOd. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 119 



120 

CRW.507.004.4642 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

28. Deed of Cross Guarantee 

Crown Resorts Limited and certain controlled entities, as detailed in note 27, are parties to a Deed of Cross Guarantee 

dated 21 June 2017 under w hich each company in the Closed Group guarantees the payment in full of all debts of the 
other entities in the Closed Group in the event of their w inding up. 

By entering into the Deed , pursuant to ASIC Instrument 2016/785, certain controlled entities of Crown have been granted 
relief from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and reporting of financ ial reports and directors' 
reports. 

The consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Statement of Financial Position of the entities w hich are members of the 
Closed Group are detailed below. 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 

Profit I (loss) before income tax 

Income tax (expense) I benefit 

Net profit I (loss) after income tax 

Retained earnings I (accumulated losses) at the beginning of the financ ial year 

Retained earnings I (accumulated losses) of entities entering Closed Group 

Div idends provided for or paid 

Retained earnings I (accumulated losses) at the end of the financial year 

Closed Group 

2019 
$m 

544.0 

(174.0) 

370.0 

5,079.0 

(409.0) 

5,040.0 

2018 
$m 

485.5 

(166.3) 

319.2 

5,186.1 

(12.9) 

(413.4) 

5,079 .0 



CRW.507.004.4643 

28. Deed of Cross Guarantee continued 

Closed Group 

2019 2018 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position $m $m 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,073.2 1,822.0 

Trade and other receivables 53.0 86.9 

Inventories 15.8 16.3 

Prepayments 34.8 29.9 

Other financial assets 5.5 9.2 

Total current assets 1,182.3 1,964.3 

Non-current assets 

Receivables 8Q6.3 885.0 

Other financial assets 1,835.0 1,839.9 

l1111estment in associates 54.5 46.3 

Property, plant and equipment 4,154.8 3,782.0 

Intangible assets - licences 964.0 980.6 

Other intangible assets 310.Q 315.3 

Deferred tax assets 155.4 243.8 

Other assets 48.8 50.4 

Total non-current assets 8,419.7 8,143.3 

Total assets 9,602.0 10,107.6 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 402.6 391.7 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 287.6 25.7 

Income tax payable 153.6 164.8 

Provisions 172.3 204.3 

Total current liabi lities 1,016.1 786.5 

Non-current liabilities 

Other payables 245.6 191.8 

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 1,348.7 1,989.1 

Deferred tax liability 399.8 380.1 

Provisions 24.3 48.3 

Other financial liabilities 4.5 2.1 

Total non-current liabilities 2 ,022.9 2,611.4 

Total liabilities 3,039.0 3,397.9 

Net assets 6,563.0 6,709.7 

Equity 

Contributed equity 1,480.0 1,611.4 

Treasury shares (15.7) 

Reserves 43.0 35.0 

Retained earnings 5,040.0 5,079.0 

Total equity 6 ,563.0 6,709.7 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 121 



122 

CRW.507.004.4644 

ANANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTINUED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the year ended 30 June 2019 

29. Parent Entity Disclosures 

Crown Resorts Limited 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

Results of the parent entity 

Profit after tax for the period 410.7 428.8 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 

Total compreh ensive incom e for the p eriod 410.7 428.8 

Financial p osition of the parent entity 

Current assets 35.7 44.9 

Non-current assets 14,253.6 14,700.3 

Total assets 14,289.3 14,745.2 

Current liabilities 236.8 241 .9 

Non-current liabilities 4,891 .7 5,212.7 

Total liabilities 5,128.5 5,454.6 

Total equity of the p arent entity comprising of: 

Issued capital 9,277.1 9,408.6 

Employee equity benefits reserve 13.0 13.0 

Accumulated losses (129.3) (131.0) 

Total equity 9,160.8 9,290.6 

Contingent liabilities 
There are no other contingent liabilities for the parent entity at 30 June 2019 (2018: $niO, other than those disclosed in note 22. 

Capita l expenditure 
The parent entity does not have any capital expenditure commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment 
contracted but not provided for at 30 June 2019 (2018: $nil). 

Parent entity guarantees in respect o f debts of its subsidiaries 
The parent entity has entered into a deed of cross guarantee as well as bank and capital market debt facilities w ith the 
effect that the Company guarantees debts in respect of its subsidiaries. Further details of the deed of cross guarantee and 
the subsidiaries subject to the deed, are set out in notes 27 and 28 and further details on bank and capital market debt 

facilities are set out in note 15. 

30. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
The Group's princ ipal financ ial instruments comprise receivables, payables, bank loans, capital market debt , cash and 
short term deposits and derivatives. 

The Group's business activities expose it to the following risks; market risks (interest rate, share price and foreign 
exchange), c redit risk and liquidity risk. For each of these risks, the Group considers the counterparties, geographical 
area, currency and markets as applicable to determine whether there are concentrations of risk. Other than as described 
in this note, the Group is satisfied that there are no material concentrations of risk. 

The Group has policies in place to manage different types of risks to which it is exposed. Policies include monitoring the 
level of interest rate and foreign exchange risk and assessments of market forecasts for interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates. Ageing analysis of and monitoring of exposures to counterparties is undertaken to manage credit risk. Liquidity risk 
is monitored through the employment of rolling cash flow forecasts. 

Financial risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Group identifies, 
evaluates and hedges financial risks in accordance w ith approved polices. The Board are informed on a regular basis of 

risk management activities. 



30. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies continued 

(a) Market Risk 

(i) Interest rate r isk- cash flow 

CRW.507.004.4645 

The Group's exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group's cash and cash equivalents and long term 
debt o bligations as outlined in note 15. 

At balance date, the Group had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest rates that are 
not designated as cash flow hedges. 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

Financi al asset s 

AUD cash on hand and at bank 206.6 128.6 

AUD deposits at call 711 .6 1,487.1 

GBP cash on hand and at bank 33.5 8.8 

USO cash on hand and at bank 38.5 87.5 

USO deposits at call 1.9 1.7 

Total finan cial assets 992.1 1,71 3.7 

Financi al liabilities 

AUD bank loans 20.0 20.0 

GBP bank loans 8.9 

AUD capital market debt 415.4 803.4 

HKD bank loans 8.5 25.7 

Total finan cial liabilities 443.9 858.0 

Net exposure 548.2 855.7 

As at balance date, the Group maintained floating rate liabilities of $443.9 million (2018: $858.0 million) that were not 
hedged by interest rate swaps. The associated interest rate risk is mitigated by total financial assets of $992.1 million (2018: 
$1,713.7 million). Under the financial liabilities outstand ing, for AUD facilities, the Group pays the Bank Bill SWap rate 
(BBSW) plus a margin of between 140 and 400 basis points, and for HKD facilities, the Group pays HIBOR plus a margin of 
65 basis points. 

Of the AUD cash on hand and at bank $206.6 million is interest bearing and is invested at approximately BBSW. Deposits 
at call of $711 .6 million are invested at approximately BBSW. The Group maintains cash and cash equivalents on hand of 
$133.9 million for operational purposes and is non interest bearing (2018: $130.9 million). 

As at balance date, the Group had GBP cash on hand and at bank of $33.5 million w hich is interest bearing and accrues at 
the UK daily cash rate (2018: $8.8 million). The Group had no floating rate borrowings in GBP (2018: $8.9 million). 

As at balance date, the Group had floating rate borrowings in HKD of $8.5 million (2018: $25.7 million) and had minimal 
interest earning cash and cash equivalents (2018: minimal). 

As at balance date, the Group had USO cash on hand and at bank of $38.5 million w hich is interest bearing and is invested at 
approximately US LIBOR (2018: $87.5 million). In addition, the Group had USO deposits at call of $1.9 million, w hich is invested 
at approximately US LIBOR (2018: $1.7 million). The Group maintained no floating rate borrowings in USO (2018: $niO. 

Group Sensitivity 
As a result of an inc rease in interest rates of 50 basis points the Group's post-tax-profit for the year would have inc reased 
by $1.9 million (2018: $3.0 million). As a result of a decrease in interest rates of 50 basis points the Group's post-tax-profit 
for the year would have decreased by $1.9 million (2018: $3.0 million). 

The Group, w here appropriate, uses interest rate swaps to manage the risk of adverse movements in interest rates for its 
long term floating rate borrowings w hich are subject to variable rates. 

The Group uses c ross-currency interest rate swaps to manage the risk of adverse movements in interest rates for its long 
term foreign currency denominated borrowings which are subject to variable rates. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 123 



124 

CRW .507 .004.4646 

FINANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTlltlED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the ye« ended 30 .A.roe 2019 

30. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Fblicies continued 

(a) Market Risk continued 

0) Interest rate risk - cash flow continued 

Group Sensitivity continued 

As at balance date the notional principal amounts and period of expiry of the interest rate swap contracts were as follows: 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

Cash flow h edge 

Maturity under 1 year 

Maturity 1 • 5 years 200.0 200.0 

Maturity CNer 5 years 174.6 174.6 

Closing Balance 374.6 374.6 

As at balance date the key te011s of the interest rate swap contracts were as follows: 

Fair Value of 
Interest Rate Interest Rate Swap Contrac t 

Hedge Type Maturity Date Received Paid $m 

Year Ended 30 June 2019 

Interest Rate Swap Contract December 2020 BBSW 2.55% (4.5) 

Cross Currency SV-.iap Contract June2036 USD4.91% AUD7.05% 35.3 

Year Ended 30 June 2018 

Interest Rate Swap Contract December 2020 BBSW 2.55% (2.1) 

Cross Currency Swap Contract June2036 USD4.91% AUD7.05% 23.3 

The te011s of each of the swap contracts are matched directly against the appropriate loan and interest expense and as 

such are highly effective. 

(ii) Interest rate risk - fair value 

Where appropriate, the Group enters into fixed rate debt to mitigate exposure to interest rate risk. As the Group holds fixed 

rate debt there is a risk that the fair value of financial instruments will fluctuate because of market movements in interest 

rates. The level of fixed rate debt at balance date was $634.8 million (2018: $634.7 million). The Group pays between 4.5% 

and 8.5% (2018: 4.5% and 8 .5%) on fixed rate debt. As at balance date, the carrying amounts of the Group's fixed rate debt 

were not materially different from the fair values (2018: not material}. 

As at balance date the Group had no interest rate swaps in place to hedge fixed rate debt issuances (2018: nil). 

OiQ Foreign exchange risk 

The Group has currency exposure as a result of capital expenditure and investments/sales in currencies other than the 

functional currency of the relevant entity. 

The Group uses forward exchange contracts and cash flow hedges to mnimise the currency exposure on any significant 

receivables or payables as is deemed appropriate. 

All forward exchange contracts must be in the same currency as the firm commitment and the Group negotiates the te011s 

of the hedges to exactly match the underlying commitment to maximise hedge effectiveness. As at balance date, the 

Group had hedged the majority of its foreign currency receivables and payables that are firm commitments. 



30. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Fblicies continued 

(a) Market Risk continued 

Oii) Foreign exchange risk continued 

CRW .507 .004.464 7 

As at balance date, the Group had the following material foreign exchange exposures that were not designated as cash 

flow hedges: 

2019 2018 
USO Exposure $m $m 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 13.4 6.0 

Total financial assets 13.4 6.0 

Net exposure 13.4 6.0 

2019 2018 
GBP Exposure $m $m 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 9.4 7.9 

Total financia l assets 9.4 7.9 

Net exposure 9.4 7.9 

2019 2018 
HKD Exposure $m $m 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 14.3 4.0 

Trade and other receivables 27.6 27.1 

Total financial assets 41.9 31.1 

Financial liabilities 

Trade and other payables 23.0 9.6 

HKD Debt Facilities 8.5 25.7 

Total financial liabilities 31.5 35.3 

Net exposure 10.4 (4.2) 

Group sensitivity 

Based on the financial instruments held at balance date, the sensitivity to fair value movements through profit and loss and 

other comprehensive income as a result of reasonably possible changes in exchange rates are as follows: 

AUD/USO +10 cents (2018: +10 cents) 

AUD/USO ·10 cents (2018: -10 cents) 

AUD/GBP +5 cents (2018: +5 cents) 

AUD/GBP -5 cents (2018: -5 cents) 

AUD/HKD +50 cents (2018: +50 cents) 

AUD/HKD -50 cents (2018: -50 cents) 

Net Profit after tax 
higher/ (lower1 

2019 
$m 

(1.7) 

2.2 

(0.8) 

0 .9 

(0.9) 

1.0 

Other comprehensive 
income higher/Oower) 

2018 2019 2018 
$m $m $m 

(0.7) 

0.9 

(0.7) 

0.8 

0.3 

(0.4) 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 125 



126 

FINANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTlltlED 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the ye« ended 30 .A.roe 2019 

30. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies continued 

(a) M arket Risk continued 

(iii) Foreign exchange risk continued 

Foreign Exchange Contract s 

CRW .507 .004.4648 

continued 

The Group uses derivative instruments such as forward exchange contracts to manage the currency risks arising from the 

Group's operations and its sources of finance. 

Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging purposes and not as trading or other speculative instruments. These 
derivatives qualify for hedge accounting and are based on limits set by the Board. 

Cash flow hed ges 
At balance date details of outstanding cash flow hedges denominated in AUD were: 

Notional Amounts Average Rate 

2019 2018 2019 
$m Sm 

Buy USO/ Sell AUD 

Maturity under 1 year 30.4 76.2 0.8200 

Closing Balance 30.4 76.2 

2018 

0.8294 

The cash flow hedges are considered to be highly effective hedges as they are matched agak'lst known and committed 

receivables and payments and any gain or loss on the hedged risk is recognised through 00 and accumulated in the cash 
fkMI hedge reserve in equity. 

(b ) Price Risk 

0) Equity Securities Price Risk 

In December 2018, Crown entered into a derivative instrument to hedge its exposure under the 2017 Senior Executive 

Incentive Plan. This hedge does not qualify for hedge accounting and therefore has not been designated in a hedge 

accounting relationship. At inception the derivative asset was valued at $4.0 million, with the value of the instrument 

reduced to $2.3 million at 30 June 2019 . This unrealised loss in relation to the derivative instrument was inc luded in the 

Statement of Profit or Loss. 

The fair value of the instrument is sensitive to movements in the current and forecast share price for Crown Resorts w ith 

any further movements in fair value to be inc luded in the Statement of Profit or Loss in future periods. 

(ii) Commodity Price Risk 
Neither the Group nor the parent entity is exposed to commodity price risk. 

(c) C redit Risk 

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 

receivables and derivative instruments. The Group's exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of the 

counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the canying amount of these instruments. Exposure at balance date is 

outlined under eaoh applicable note. 

The Group does not hold any credit derivatives or collateral to offset its credit exposure. 

All investment and financial instruments activity is with appro...ed counterparties with investment grade ratings and is in 

accordance with approved policies. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group and the 
aggregate value of transactions is spread amongst a number of financial institutions to minimise the risk of default of 
counterparties. 

Credit risk in trade receivables is managed in the folfcMling WfrofS: 

(i) The pr011ision of credt is covered by a risk assessment process for al customers. 

OQ Concentrations of credit risk are minimised by undertaking transactions vJith a large number of customers. 

Oi~ The pr011ision of cheque-cashing facilities for gaming patrons is subject to detailed policies and procedures designed 

to minimise any potential loss, including the taking up of bank opinions and the use of a central credit agency which 
collates information from major casinos around the world. 



30. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies continued 

(c) Credit Risk continued 

CRW.507.004.4649 

In assessing the doubtful debts provisioning for trade receivables, the Group has measured credit risk using the 'Simplified 
Approach'. The simplified approach requires the recognition of lifetime expected credit losses at all times. The Group has 

elected to use a provision matrix utilising historical default rates, as well as taking into account current conditions and 
forecasts of future economic conditions. If the Group becomes aware of circumstances relevant to an individual or group 
of debtors that results in the matrix not being an appropriate basis for provisioning, then management discretion w ill be 
applied . 

(d) Liquidity Risk 

It is the Group's objective to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of cash 
reserves, committed bank lines and capital markets debt in order to meet its financ ial commitments in a timely manner. 

At balance date 26.7% or $287.6 million of the Group's interest bearing liabilities w ill mature in less than 12 months (2018: 
1.7% or $25.7 million). 

As at balance date the Group had $200.4 million in undrawn committed bank lines and $1,126.0 million in cash and cash 
equivalents to mitigate the maturing liabilities (2018: $176.1 million and $1,844.6 million respectively). 

M aturity an alysis of financ ial assets and liabilities 

The table below analyses the Group's contractual undiscounted cash flows of financ ial assets and financial liabilities, net 
and gross settled derivative financial instruments into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at balance 
date to the contractual maturity date. 

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Receivables - trade 

Receivables - other 

Cross currency interest rate swaps 
receivable 

Total finan cial assets 

Financ ial liabilities 

Trade and other payables 

Finance lease and other loan liabilities 

Capital markets 

Bank loans 

Interest rate swaps payable 

Cross currency interest rate swaps payable 

Total finan cial liabilities 

Net maturity 

1 year o r l ess 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

1,126.0 1,844.6 

98.7 172.3 

8.8 8 .4 

1,233.5 2,025.3 

433.1 427.5 

259.1 

28.5 25.7 

2.7 0.8 

12.3 12.3 

735.7 466 .3 

497.8 1,559.0 

1to5 years 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

18.4 

139.4 

35.3 

17.6 

125.4 

33.5 

More than 5 years 

2019 2018 
$m $m 

106.0 117.3 

193.1 176 .5 106.0 117.3 

87.5 

1.0 

1.2 

49.2 

138.9 

54.2 

124.6 

1.0 

167.6 163.0 

259.1 790.0 1,178.0 

28.9 

1.1 

49.2 

463.9 

(287.4) 

147.7 160.1 

1,105.3 1,501.1 

(999.3) (1,383.8) 

Tot al 

2019 
$m 

1,126.0 

117.1 

139.4 

150.1 

1,532.6 

688.2 

1.0 

1,049.1 

28.5 

3.9 

209 .2 

1,979.9 

(447.3) 

2018 
$m 

1,844.6 

189.9 

125.4 

159.2 

2,319.1 

715.1 

1.0 

1,437.1 

54.6 

1.9 

221.6 

2,431.3 

(112.2) 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 127 



128 

CRW .507 .004.4650 

FINANCIAL REPORT 2019 CONTlltlED 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued 

For the ye« ended 30 .A.roe 2019 

30. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Fblicies continued 

(e) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

The fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities approximates the carrying value as at balance date. 

The Group uses various methods in estimating the fair value of a financial instrument. The methods comprise: 

Level One the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active marl<ets; 

Level Two the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level One that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

Level Three - the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data, including cash flow forecasts, implied growth rates and implied discount rates. 

The fair value of the financial instruments as vvell as the methods used to estimate the fair value are summarised in the table 
below. 

Year ended 30 June 2019 

Financial Assets 

Foreign exchange contracts 

2017 Senior Executive Incentive Aan Hedge 

Cross currency swap contracts 

Financial Liabilities 

Contingent consideration 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Year ended 30 June 2018 

Financial Assets 

Foreign exchange contracts 

Cross currency swap contracts 

Financial Liabilities 

Contingent consideration 

Interest rate swap contracts 

Quoted market 

price 
Level One 

$m 

Valuation Technique 

Observable 
inputs 

Level Two 
Sm 

5.5 

2.3 

35.2 

43.0 

4.5 

4.5 

g,2 

23.3 

32.5 

2.1 

2.1 

Non market 
observable 
Level Three 

$m 

0.7 

0.7 

47.0 

47.0 

There have been no transfers between far value measurement levels during the financial year ended 30 June 2019. 

Reconciliation of Level Three fair value movements 

Financial Liabilities 

Opening balance 

Profit and Loss 

Other Comprehensive Income 

Closing Balance - Financial Liabilities 

2019 
$m 

47.0 

(48.9) 

2.6 

0.7 

Total 
$m 

5.5 

2.3 

35.2 

43.0 

0 .7 

4.5 

5.2 

9.2 

23.3 

32.5 

47.0 

2.1 

49.1 

2018 
$m 

45.3 

1.7 

47.0 



CRW.507.004.4651 

30. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Fblicies continued 

(f) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

Total 
Liabilities 

Capital Finance Other from 
Bank Loans Markets Debt Leases Loans Financing 
- Unsecured - Unsecured - Secured - Unsecured Derivatives Activities 

$m $m $m $m $m $m 

Year ended 30 June 2019 

At 1 Juty 2018 54.6 1,437.1 1.0 2.1 1,494.8 

Cash flows (27.3) (397.7) (425.0) 

Foreign exchange variations 1.2 1.2 

Movement in falr value 2.4 2.4 

Other g] g,7 

At 30 June 2019 28.5 1,049.1 1.0 4.5 1,083.1 

Year ended 30 June 2018 

At 1 Juty 2017 58.4 1,744.0 142.6 2.7 1,947.7 

Cash fkN.JS (3.8) (307.6) (118.1) 1.0 (428.5) 

Foreign exchange variations 0.5 0.5 

Movement in fair value (0.6) (0.6) 

Other 0.7 (25.0) (24.3) 

At 30 June 2018 54.6 1,437.1 1.0 2.1 1,494.8 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 129 



AGENDA ITEM 2:
Directors’ Statutory Report

2

CRW.507.004.4652



CWN_LEGAL_154636.1

Audit & Corporate Governance Committee
Memorandum

To: Audit & Corporate Governance Committee

From: Mary Manos

Date: 30 August 2019

Subject: Directors’ Statutory Report

Dear Committee Members

Crown is required, under the Corporations Act, to prepare and provide members with a Directors’ Statutory 
Report which is to include the Remuneration Report. The Remuneration Report will be separately reviewed 
by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Annexure A to this paper attaches the Company’s draft 2019 Directors’ Statutory Report.

The following enhancements have been made to the Operating and Financial Review section of the draft 
2019 Directors’ Statutory Report having regard to current commentary and guidance:

∑ The Company’s business strategies have been included directly in the report, whereas in previous 
periods a reference to the front section of the Annual Report was made.  The business strategies 
included in the Report are based on the key objectives included in the executive summary of the F20 
financial plan and budget.

∑ A disclosure of the Company’s material risks and associated mitigation strategies has been included.  
As the Company’s Risk Framework has matured over the past 12 months, the risk disclosure included 
in the 2019 Directors’ Statutory Report has been enhanced to align with the Company’s Risk 
Framework. The risks included in the draft Report are the material business risks that could have an 
impact on the achievement of Crown’s strategies and future prospects, being those risks which are 
considered “material risks” on the Risk Map and that are reported to the Risk Management 
Committee at each of its meetings.  

Suggested Resolutions

It was RESOLVED that, subject to any amendments to the Directors’ Statutory Report approved by the Chief 
Financial Officer, the Committee recommend the draft Directors’ Statutory Report for approval by the Board.

Kind regards

Mary Manos
General Counsel and Company Secretary

2

CRW.507.004.4653



CWN_LEGAL_154636.1

Annexure A
2019 Directors’ Statutory Report

See attached.

2

CRW.507.004.4654



CRW.507.004.4655 

Directors' Statutory Report 
Operating and Financial Review 

The commentary included in this report omits some 

information whic h might be considered relevant to 

Crown's business strategies, prospects for future financ ial 

years and material risks, on the basis that the Directors 

have reasonable grounds to believe that disclosure would 

likely result in unreasonable prejudice to Crown. 

Principal Activities 

Crown is one of Australia's largest entertainment groups 

w ith its core businesses and investments in the integrated 

resorts sector. 

In Australia, Crown owns and operates two of Australia's 

leading integrated resorts - Crown Melbourne and Crown 

Perth . Overseas, Crown owns and operates Crown 

Aspinalls in London, one of the high-end licensed casinos 

in the West End entertainment district. 

Crown's development project pipeline inc ludes the 

Crown Sydney Hotel Resort at Barangaroo in Sydney and 

the One Queensbridge development site in Melbourne. 

Crown has interests in various digital businesses, including 

Betfair Australasia (100%), DGN Games (85%) and Chill 

Gaming (50%), and holds equity interests in Aspers Group 

(50%) and Nobu (20%). 

Review of Operations 

Crown reported a consolidated net profit after tax (NPA T) 
attributable to the parent of $401.8 million and a 

normalised NPAT' of $368.6 million for the 12 months 

ended 30 June 2019. Crown Melbourne and Crown Perth 

normalised EBITDA decreased by 9.2%, and normalised 

revenue decreased by 5.4%, predominantly due to the 

decrease in normalised VIP program play revenue w hic h 

was down 26.1%. 

Perfonnance for the year ended 
30 June2019 

Normalised revenue' 

Normalised expenditure' 

Normalised EBITDA2 

Normalised EBIT3 

Normalised NPAT attributable to Crown 

Reported NPAT attributable to Crown 

$m 

3,139.2 

(2,337.1) 

802.1 

528.5 

368.6 

401.8 

1. Normalised results have been adjusted to exclude the impact of any 
variance from theoretical win rate on VIP program play and significant 
items. Normalised result& are a non-lFRS measure. which have not 
been aubject to audit or revievv. 

2. Normalised earning& before interest, tax. depreciation and 
amortisation. 

3 Normalised earning& before interest and tax. 

Crown's Australian operations' full year result reflected 

subdued market conditions. Total normalised revenue 

across Crown's Australian resorts decreased by 5.4% on 

the prior comparable period (pep). This decline was 

primarily due to the reduction in VIP program play revenue 

in Australia, w hic h was down 26.1%. Main floor gaming 

revenue inc reased by 0.5%, w ith modest revenue growth 

in Melbourne offset by continued softness in Perth, 

particularly for the table games business. 

The activities and results of Crown's operations are 

discussed in further detail below. 

Crown Melbourne 

Normalised EBITDA from Crown Melbourne was 

$589.5 million, down 8.6% on the pep. Reported EBITDA 

for the period was $615.0 million, up 4.9% on the pep. 

The reported EBITDA result takes into account a 

favourable variance from the theoretical VIP program play 

result w hich had a positive EBITDA impact of $25.5 million. 

This compares to a negative EBITDA impact of $59.0 

million in the pep. 

Normalised revenue of $2,155.4 million was down 5.4% on 

the pep. 

Main floor gaming revenue was $1,235.1 million, up 1.5% 

on the pep, w hich comprises table games (non-program 

play) revenue of $772.4 million (up 0.7% on the pep) and 

gaming machine revenue of $ 462.7 million (up 2.8% on the 

pep). 

Normalised VIP program play revenue was $441.4 million, 

down 25.4% on the pep, w ith turnover of $32. 7 billion. 

Non-gaming revenue was $478.9 million, up 1.9% on the 

pep. 

Overall hotel occupancy across Crown Melbourne's three 

hotels was approximately 94%, w ith Crown Towers hotel 

occupancy 95.4%, Crown Metropol hotel occupancy 

93.4% and Crown Promenade hotel occupancy 93.6%. 

The overall normalised operating margin decreased from 

28.3% to 27.3%. The decline in margin is largely due to an 

inc rease in labour and other costs in an environment of 

subdued revenue growth. 

Crown Perth 

Normalised EBITDA from Crown Perth was $221.8 million, 

down 10.8% o n the pep. Reported EBITDA for the period 

was $244.6 million, up 10.4% on the pep. The reported 

EBITDA result takes into account a favourable variance 

from the theoretical VIP program play result w hich had a 

positive EBITDA impact of $22.8 million. This compares to 

a negative EBITDA impact of $27.3 million in the pep. 

Normalised revenue of $799.4 million was down 5.3% on 

the pep. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 37 



38 

DIRECTORS' STATUTORY REPORT OONTINJED 

Main floor gaming revenue was $454.2 million, down 2.1% 
on the pep, which comprises table games (non-program 
play) revenue of $186.8 milUon (down 6.0"A> on the pep) and 
gaming machine revenue of $267.4 million (up 0.8% on the 
pep). 

Normalised VIP program play revenue was $72.0 million, 
down 30.1% on the pep, w ith turnover of $5.3 billion. 

Non-gaming revenue was $273.2 million, down 1.5% on 
the pep. 

Overall hotel occupancy across Crown Perth's three hotels 
was approximately 81%, with Crown Towers hotel 
occupancy 76.3%, Crown Metropol hotel occupancy 
83.6% and Crown Promenade hotel occupancy 86.9%. 

The overall normalised operating margin decreased from 
29.5% to 27.7%. This decline in margin is largely due to the 
decline in revenues combined with modest grow1h in 
labour and foced costs. 

Crown AspinaHs 

Normalised EBrTDA from Crwm Aspinalls was 
$6.4 million, dovm 46.5% on the pep. This reflects 
continued difficult trading conditions across the London 
high-end casino market. Reported EBrTDA for the period 

was $5.7 million, down 54.3% on the pep. The reported 
EBrTDA result takes into account an unfavourable variance 
from the theoretical VIP program play result which had a 
negative EBrTDA impact of $0.7 million. This compares to a 
positive EBrTDA impact of $0.4 million in the pep. 

Crown Digital 

Crown's wagering and online social gaming operations 
comprise Betfair Australasia (a 100% owned, on line betting 
exchange) and DGN Games (an 85% owned, online social 
gaming business). 

EBITDA from Crown's wagering and online social gaming 
operations was $26.1 million, dO'Ml 2.7% on the pep. The 
pep included the consolidated operating results of 
Crown Bet, which was sold by CrO'Ml in February 2018. 

Al 30 June 2019, indicators of impairment were identified for 
DGN. These indicators were considered in the 
re-forecast of cash flows of the DGN Group, which were 
developed as part ot the Ninual four-year business plan 

presented to and approved by the Board. Based on the 

impaiment testing using the re-forecast eanings of the 
DGN Group, the rec<Mlrable amount ot the DGN CGU is 

$81.8 milion as at 30 June 2019. As a result of the carrying 
amounts exceeding the recoverable amount, Qcmn has 
reduced goodwil relating to the acquisition ot DGN by 

$48 ,g million. This goodwil was initially recorded as part of 
the acquisition of Winners Club Limited, with a significant 
pert of the initial goodwm relating to contingent 
consideration. Crown has also reassessed the amount of 
contingent consideration on the acquisition of Winners Club 
Limited and reduced the amount due by $48.9 million. 

CRW .507 .004.4656 

Cash Flow, Debt and Capital Management 

Net operating cash flow for the period of $778.1 million 
compared to net operating cash flow of $731.7 million 
in the pep. Other material cash flow items incurred 
during the period included net capital expenditure of 
$538.5 million, dividend payments of $409.0 million and 
share buy-back payments of $131.4 million. 

At 30 June 2019, Crown's net debt position was 
$86.5 million (excluding working capital cash of 
$133.9 million). This consisted of total debt of 
$1,078.6 million and cash (excluding working capital 
cash) of $992.1 million. 

Al 30 June 2019, total liquidity, excluding working capital 
cash, was $1,192.5 milUon, represented by $992.1 million 
in availalble cash and $200.4 miltion in committed 
undrav.m faciities. 

Dumg the year, Crown redeemed al of the outstanding 
Subordinated Notes listed on the ASX under the code 
"CWNHA" on the first call date of 14 September 2018. 
This reduced CrCNm's gross debt by approximately 
$400million. 

Dumg the year, CrcNm bought back approximately 
$131.4 miRion of shares (or approximately 10.3 milion 
shares) under the on-market share buy-back announced 
on 9 August 2018. The on-market share buy-back expired 
on 29 August 2019. 

Net interest expense for the year was $10.1 million, 
$35.9 million below the pep, which reflects the repayment 
of the Subordinated Notes in September 2018, lower 
market interest rates and increased capitalised interest 
associated with the construction of the Crown Sydney 
project. 

Business Strategies 

Crown's strategic plan is to focus on the following key 
objectjves: 

• improving the underlying performance of CroMl 
Melbourne, Crown Perth and Crown Aspinalls, including 
through investments to stimulate visitation and spend as 
well as through the management of costs; 

• delivering the Crown Sydney Project on time and on 
budget and escalating pre-opening activities in 
preparation for the opening in 2021; 

• continuing to grcNJ, and create value from, CrCM/Tl 
Digital; 

• supporting the operations of Crwm's other equity 
accounted investments to enhance their performance; 

• continuing to deliver returns to shareholders; 

• maintaining an appropriate and efficient capital 
structure; and 

• continuing to proactively engage with relevant 
stakeholders, including regulators and the community. 



CRW .507 .004.4657 

Business Risks 

Crwm has established a framework, using the model outlined in AS/NZS ISO 31000:2018 Risk Management - Guidelines, 

for the oversight and management o f material business risks. It has adopted a formal Risk Management Policy and 

articulated its Risk Appetite. Risk management is an integral part o f the industry in which Crown operates. 

Management is charged with monitoring the effectiveness o f Crown's risk management systems and is required to report 

to the Board via the Risk Management Committee. 

The Risk Management Committee administers the Risk Management Policy and monitors management's performance 

against the risk management framework, including w hether it is operating w ithin the Risk Appetite set by the Board. 

Various risks, some of w hich are beyond Crown's reasonable control, could have a material impact on the achievement 

of Crown's strategies and future prospects. These risks, together with the mitigating strategies, are summarised below. 

The risks presented below are not intended as an exhaustive list of all the risks and uncertainties associated with 

Crown's businesses. 

Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to management and the Board, or that management and the Board 

currently believe to be immaterial or manageable, may adversely impact Crown. 

Material Bui,_. Rlalca 

Legal and Regulatory Compliance 

Crown operates in a highly regulated i'ldJstry and is 

subject to regulatory approvals in the jurisdictions in 

which it conducts gaming operations. 

Systematic and/or serious breaches of legal or regulatory 

requirements may result in enforcement action in 

jurisdictions in which Crown has activities. This may 

have an adverse impact on Crown's operational and 

financial performance. 

Legal and Regulatory Changes 

Crown operates in a highly regulated industry and is 

subject to regulatory approvals in the jurisdictions in 

which it oonducts gaming operations. Crown's 

operations, financial performance and Mure prospects 

are dependent on the legal and regulatory frameworks in 

which it operates. 

Legislative and regulatory changes may have an adverse 

impact on Crown's operational and financial 

performance. 

Mitigation Strategl• ----------

Cn::Mm has in place legal, governance and compliance 
frameworks at each of its operations and continuously 

monitors its legislative and regulatory requirements in the 

jurisdictions in which it operates. 

In addition, Cn:mn's internal control framework is designed 

to ensure effectiveness of, and compliance with, relevant 

legislative and regulatory requirements. 

Crown provides relevant employees and contractors with 

training on Crown's compliance obligations, policies and 

procedures tMiere applicable). 

Crown obtains legal advice in appropriate circ umstances 

and jurisdictions as required. 

Internal audit periodically reviews the e ffectiveness of the 

controls and processes in p lace to manage Crown's 

compliance frameworks and the overall internal control 

framework. 

Crown proactivety engages with relevant stakeholders and 

has in p lace legal, governance and compliance frame'M)rks 

at each of its operations. 

Crown monitors for legislative and regulatory changes on an 

ongoing basis. 

From time to time, Crown makes submissions relating to 

proposed legislative and regulatory changes which may 
inpact the Group. 

Crown provides relevant employees and contractors vlith 

training on legislative and regulatory changes (where 

appicable). 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 3g 



40 

DIRECTORS' 8TATUTORY REPORT CXlNTI"'-IED 

Material Bual- Riska 

Reputation 

Negative publicity of Crown may have an adverse impact 
on Crown's operational and financial performance. 

Relationships with Key Stakeholders 

A breakdo1.n1 in Crcmn's relationships with key 

stakeholders, including regulators and governments, 
may have an adverse impact on Crcmn's operational and 
financial performance. 

Terrorism 

As Crown's properties are places where large crowds 
may congregate, they may be the target of a terrorist 
attack or the calculated use or threat of violence. 

Any such event may have an adverse impact on Crown's 
customers, employees and operational and financial 
performance. 

Litigation 

Any potential material litigation brought against Crown by 
third parties may have an impact on Crown's financial 
performance. 

Data Security 

Crown maintains confidential customer and commercially 
sensitive data. 

The leak or unauthorised use of confidential customer 
and commercially sensitive data may have an adverse 
impact on Crc:Mln's operational and financial 
performance. 

CRW.507.004.4658 

Mitigation Strategl• 

Crown has in place legal, governance and compliance 
frameworks at each of its operations and provides relevant 
employees and contractors w ith training on Crown's 
compliance obligations, polic ies and procedures (where 
applicable). 

Crown's Australian resorts have in place the following set of 
values which apply across the properties: 

we act respectfully; 
we are passionate; 
we work together; and 

• we do the right thing. 

In addition, Crown proactively engages with key 
stakehok:lers, including relevant regulators and governments. 

C~.m professionally and proactively engages v.lith relevant 
stakehok:lers and has in place legal, governance and 
compiance frameworks at each of its operations. 

Crown has in place security and surveillance technology and 
procedures at each of its properties which monitor for 
suspicious behaviours. 

In addition, Crown has a framEl'Mlrk in place for responding 
to major incidents and works with key law enforcement 
agencies for coordinated and rapid responses. 

Crown proactively monitors and responds to legal issues 
and engages legal advisers as required. 

In addition, Crown has in place legal, governance and 
compliance frameworks at each of its operations w hich are 
supported by insurance programs as appropriate. 

Crown has in place IT policies, procedures and training 
programs which are further supported by a cyber security 
program. 

Crown also has in place legal and compliance frameworks at 
each of its operations and confidentiality arrangements in 
place with its employees and contractors. 

In addition, Crown has adopted a management framework 
for responding to data breach incidents, should they occur. 



Material Business Risks 

Volatility of Gaming Revenue 

Crown's gaming operations may experience variations 
from theoretical w in rates due to the element of chance 
in gaming activities. 

Sustained unfavourable variations in the actual w in rate 
compared to the theoretical w in rate would be likely to 
have an adverse impact on Crown's financ ial 
performance. 

Third Party Default 

The potential material default by those with whom Crown 
has a business relationship may have an adverse impact 
on Crown's financ ial performance. 

Significant Ch anges in State of Affairs 

CRW.507.004.4659 

Mitigation Strategies 

Crown monitors and reviews its gaming businesses and 
reports in its results on the basis of its actual and long -term 
theoretical w in rates. 

Crown has in place credit approval and recovery processes 
and procedures. 

Crown maintains a provision for doubtful debts w hich is 
monitored on an ongoing basis and is audited by its external 
auditors. 

Some of the significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated group since 1 July 2018 inc lude: 

Significant Transactions/Matters 

• On 31 May 2019, Crown announced that it had been informed that CPH Crown Holdings Pty Limited, a w holly-owned 
subsidiary of Consolidated Press Holdings Pty Limited , had entered into an agreement (Share Sale Agreement) in 
relation to the sale of 19.99% of the issued capital of Crown to Meleo Resorts & Entertainment Limited. On 29 August 
2019, Crown subsequently announced that it had been informed that CPH Crown Holdings Pty Limited and Meleo 
Resorts & Entertainment Limited had agreed to amend the Share Sale Agreement. 

• On 9 April 2019, Crown announced that it was in confidential discussions with Wynn Resorts, Limited (Wynn) regarding 
a potential change of contro l transaction following approaches by Wynn to Crown. On 10 April 2019, Crown 
subsequently announced that Wynn had announced that it had terminated all discussions w ith Crown concerning any 
transaction. 

• On 3 August 2018, the Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquo r Regulation released its final report concerning 
the Sixth Review of the Casino Operator and Licence held by Crown Melbourne Limited (Crown Melbourne), a 
subsidiary of Crown w hich concluded that: 
- Crown Melbourne remains a suitable person to continue to hold its licence to operate the Melbourne Casino; 
- Crown Melbourne is complying w ith relevant legislation and agreements; and 
- it is in the public interest that the licence should continue in force. 

The report made 20 recommendations in relation to the operations of Crown Melbourne which Crown Melbourne has 
accepted , subject to the matters set out in Crown Melbourne's response to the report. 

Board Changes 

On 20 November 2018, Crown announced that the appointment of John Poynton AO as a Director of Crown had become 
effective following the receipt of all necessary regulatory approvals. 

Significant Events After Balance Date 

• On 9 August 2018, Crown announced that it had commenced proceedings against the Barangaroo Delivery Authority 
(BOA) in the Commerc ial List of the Supreme Court of New South Wales in connection w ith the Crown Sydney Hotel 
Resort (Proceedings). The Proceedings sought injunctive relief and declaratio ns against the BOA that , in substance, 
require the BOA to comply w ith a number of its contractual obligations under the Crown Development Agreement. 
On 14 December 2018, Crown announced that judgment in relation to the Proceedings against the BOA was delivered 

in favour of Crown, w ith costs. On 15 February 2019, the BOA filed its summons seeking leave to appeal the judgment. 
On 19 August 2019 , Crown announced that it had settled its dispute w ith Infrastructure New South Wales (INSW) 
~ormerly the BOA) in connection w ith the Crown Sydney Hotel Resort. The terms of the settlement are confidential. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 41 



42 

DIRECTORS' STATllTORY REPORT CONTINUED 

Crwm is satisfied vlilh the outcome of the settlement 
and the retention of the sight ines across Central 
Barangaroo from the Harbour Bridge to the Sydney 
Opera House. 

• On 8 August 2019, Crown was informed by the New 
South Wales Independent Liquor and Gaming Authority 
(NSW ILGA) that it would be conducting an inquiry 
under s143 of the Casino Control Act 1992 (NSW) 
(inquiry). The Terms of Reference in relation to the 
Inquiry were subsequently released on 29 August 2019. 
The Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor 
Regulation has also announced it will re-examine issues 
relating to Crown Melbourne that he.ie been reported in 
the media recently. Crown will fully co-operate in 
relation to the$El investigations. 

• Subsequent to year end, the Directors of Crown 
declared a final dividend on ordinary shares of 30 cents 
per share in respect of the year ended 30 June 2019. 
The final dividend will be 25% franked with the 
unfranked component of the dividend declared to be 
conduit foreign income. The final dividend has not 
been provided for in the 30 June 2019 financ ial 
statements. 

Environmental Regulation 

The National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 
(NGER Pd) established a mandatory reporting &yStem for 
corporate greenhouse gas emissions and energy 
production and consumption. Crown is required to report 
emissions under the NGEA Act. Relevant reports have 
been submitted during the year. 

Key features of the NGER Act include: 

• reporting of greenhouse gas emissions. energy 
consumption and production by large corporations; 

• corporate level public disclosure of greenhouse gas 
emissions and energy information; and 

• providing consistent and comparable data for decision 
making. 

Under the Western Australian Water By-laws legislation, 
CroNn Perth is required to complete annual water 
management assessments and submit water efficiency 
management plans. Relevant reports have been submitted 
during the year. 

The CrO'Nll group is not otherwise subject to any particular 
or significant environmental regulation under Australian 
law. Environmental issues are, however, important to 
Orc:mn and it has taken a number of initiatives in this 
regard. A description of those initiatives is set out in the 
Corporate Responsibi&ty section of this Annual Report. 

CRW.507.004.4660 

Likely Developments 

Crcmn's balance sheet shcMIS a net debt position of 
$86.5 million at 30 June 201g. W~h available liq.Jicity of 
$1,192.5 million, Crown is well placed to fund its Australian 
development project pipeline. 

Crown Sydney Project 

Construction of the Crown Sydney Hotel Resort is 
progressing on schedule for completion in the first half of 
calendar year 2021. The project cost remains unchanged, 
with the gross project cost expected to be approximately 
$2.2 billion and net project cost expected to be 
approximately $1.4 billion. 

One Oueensbridge Development Site 

Crown holds a 50% O'Mlership interest h the One 
Queensbridge development site which is strategically 
located adjacent to the Crown Melbourne entertainment 
complex, w ith the remaining 50% interest held by the 
Schiavello Group. 

Crown has reached an agreement to purchase the 
Schiavello Group's 50% ownership interest in the site as 
well as all pre -development assets, including an intellectual 
property and designs for the project, for approximately 
$80 minion. The transaction remains subject to long-form 
agreements between Crwm and the Schiavetlo Group. 

The purchase represents Crwm's conthued investment in 
Victoria and the Southbank arts and entertainment 
precinct. The One Queensbridge site could accommodate 
a fourth Crown hotel which 1M>uld deliver significant 
economic and tourism benefits to Victoria, including 
additional employment and training opportunities. 

Other than the developments described in this Report and 
the accompanying review of operations, the Directors are 
of the opinion that no other matter or circumstance w ill 
significantly affect the operations and expected results for 
the Crown group. 

Dividends and Distributions 

Interim Dividend: Crown paid an interim dividend of 
30 cents per ordinary share on 4 April 2019. The dividend 
was 60% franked with the unfranked portion of the 
dividend declared to be conduit foreign income. 

Final Dividend: The Directors of CrO'Nll have declared 
a final dividend of 30 cents per ordinary share to 
shareholders registered as at 20 September 2019. 
The final dividend will be 25% franked with the unfranked 
portion of the dividend declared to be conduit foreign 
income. 



CRW.507.004.4661 

In summary: Dividend per share $ 

Interim Dividend paid 30.0 cents per share 203,147,481.30 

Final Dividend declared 30.0 cents per share 203,147,481.30 

Total 60.0 cents per share 406,294,962.60 

Crown paid shareholders a final dividend in respect of the 2018 financial year of $205.9 million. 

Directors and Officers 

Director Details 

Set out below are the names of each person w ho has been a Director of Crown during or since year end and the period for 
which they have been a Director. There are currently eleven Directors. 

Name Date A inted Date Ceased 

John Henry Alexander 6 July 2007 

The Honourable Helen Anne Coonan 2 December 2011 

Andrew Demetriou 29 January 2015 

Geoffrey James Dixon 6 July 2007 

Jane Halton AO PSM 23 May 2018 

Professor John Stephen Horvath AO 9 September 2010 

Guy Jalland 16 April 2018 

Michael Roy Johnston 6 July 2007 

Antonia Korsanos 23 May2018 

Harold Charles Mitchell AC 10 February 2011 

John Hartley Poynton AO 20 November 2018 

At Crown's 2018 Annual General Meeting, Jane Halton AO PSM, John Horvath AO, Guy Jalland, Michael Johnston and 
Antonia Korsanos stood for election/ re -election as Directors. Each Director was elected/re-elected at that meeting. 

On 20 November 2018, the appointment of John Poynton AO as a Director of Crown became effective following the receipt 
of all necessary regulatory approvals. 

The details of each Director's qualifications and experience as at the date of this Report are set out below. 

Details of all directorships of other Australian listed companies held in the three years before the end of the financ ial year 
have been included. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 43 



44 

DIRECTORS' 8TATUTORY REPORT CXlNTI"'-IED 

John H Al••nder, BA 
Executive Chairman 

John Alexander is the Executive Chairman of Crown and is 
also a Director of a number of companies, including Seven 
West Media Limited. Mr Alexander is also Chairman of the 
Crown Melbourne Limited and Burswood Limited Boards. 

Mr Alexander was the Executive Chainman of Consolidated 
Media Holdings Limited (CMH) from 2007 to November 
2012, when CMH was acquired t7j News Corporation. Prior 
to 2007, Mr Alexander was the Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director of Publishing and Broadcasting Limited 
(P8l) from 2004, the Chief Execu!Ne of ACP Magazines 
Limited from 1Q99 and PBL.'.s group media civision 
comprising f>CP Magazines Limited and the Nine Nel'Mlrk 
from2002. 

Before joining the PBL Group, Mr Alexander was the 
Editor-in-Chief, Publisher and Editor of The Sydney Morning 
Herald and Editor-in-Chief of The Australian Financial 
Review. 

Board Committee memberships: 

• Member of the Investment Committee 
• Member of the Responsible Gaming Committee 

Direc torships o f o ther Australian listed companies held 
during the last three years: 

• Seven West Media Limited from May 2013 to current 

The Honow•ble Helen A Coomin, BA, LLB 
Non-executive Director 

CRW.507.004.4662 

The Honourable Helen Coonan is a former Senator for New 
South Wales serving in the Australian Partiament from 1996 to 
201 1. 

llAs Coonan holds Bachelor of Arts and Bachebr of l..aNs 
degrees from the University of Sy<r.ey. Prior to entering 
Parliament, she worl<ed as a ~ includng as principal of her 
oNrl legal firm, as a partner in law firm Gadens, as a oommel'cial 
BMister in Australia and as M Attorney in NeN Yori<. 

In Parliament, Ms Coonan eerved as the Deputy Leader of 
the Government In the Senate. She was appointed to 
Cabinet as the Minister for Communications, Information 
Technology and the Arts and was shareholder Minister for 
Telstra Corporation and Australia Post. She also seived as 
the Minister for Revenue and Assistant Treasurer and had 
portfolio oversight of the Australian Taxation Office and the 
Australian Prudential Regulation Authority. She is the 
recipient of a Centenary Medal for service to the Australian 
Parliament. 

Ms Coonan is the inaugural Chair of the Australian Rnancial 
Complaints Authooty (AFCA), Chair of the Minerals Council of 
Australia (MCA), HGL Limited, Place Management NSW 
(formerly the Sydney Hart>our Foreshore Authority) and 
Supervised Investments Australia Limited. She is also 
Non-executive Director of Snowy Hydro Limited, a member 
of the J.P Morgan Advisory Council and Co-Chair of 
GRACosway (a subsidiary of the Clemenger Group). 

Ms Coonan is a Non-executive Director of Obesity Australia 
Limited and of the Australian Children's Television Foundation 
and Chairs the Advisory Board of Allegis Partners. 

Ms Coonan serves on the Corporate Council of the European 
Australian Business Council and the Australia-Israel Chamber 
of Commerce Advisory CouncW. She is also a member of 
Chief Executive Women. 

Ms Coonan is m Ambassador for the Menzies School of 
Health Research and of the GUT Foundation. She serves on 
the Advisory Council of the National Breast Cancer 
Foundation and le also a mentor at start up fntech h.b Stone 
and Chai<. 

Ms Coonan is Chair of the CrC1Nll Resorts Foundation. 

Board Committee memberships: 

• Chair of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee 
• Chair of the Corporate Responsibility Committee 
• Ohair of the Finance Committee 

Directorships of other Australian listed companies held 
during last three years: 

• HGL Limited from July 2019 to current 



Andrew Demetriou, BA, BEd 
Non-executive Director 

Andrew Demetriou was Chief Executive Officer of the 
Australian Football League (AFL) from 2003 until June 2014. 

Prior to becoming Chief Exec utive Officer, Mr Demetriou 
served as AFL General Manager - Football Operations for 
three years, overseeing all aspects of the AFL competition. 
This folloNed a stint as head of the AFL Players Association 
when he was instrumental in estabisling programs to look 
after players both during and after their playing careers. 

Folbl-Jing an AFL playing career of 106 games, Mr 
Demetriou was the Managing Director of the Ruthinium 
Group, a business importing acrylic teeth, grcming the 
business significantly by expanding manufacturing and 
exports to 70 countries worldwide and he currently remains 
a Board member. 

Mr Demetriou is a Director of the Melbourne Sports 

Marketing firm, Bastion Group, Co-Chair of the National 
Basketball League (NBL.) Advisory Board, Chairman and 
Non-Executive Director of Capitol Health Limited and 
Transitional Chairman of Cox Arc hitecture. 

Mr Demetriou also served as Non-executive Chairman of 
the Baxter Group, a waste management group listed on 
ASX in 2003 w ith a market capitalisation of $40 million - the 
company was later sold to Transpacific for $260 million 
- and Is a former Chainman of the Australian Multic ultural 

Advisory Council. He recently completed a two year term 
on the Australian Referendum Council for Indigenous 
recognition in the Constitution. 

Board Committee memberships: 

• Member of the Risk Management Committee 

Di rectorships of other Australian listed companies held 
during last t hree years: 

• Capitol Health Limited from Nowmber 2014 to current 

Geoffrey J Dixon 
Non-executive Director 

CRW.507.004.4663 

Geoff Dixon is an experienced and successful corporate 
executive with a background in the media, mining, aviation 
and tourism ind ustries. 

Mr Dixon was Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer of Qantas Airw8'js for eight years until 2008 - joining 
Qantas in 1994, he also served as Chief Commerc ial 
Officer and, for two years, as Deputy Managing Director. 

Mr Dixon was Chairman of the Australian Government's 
principal tourism authority, Tourism Australia, for six years 
until 2014 and Chainman of the Garvan Medical Research 
Foundation for 10 years until 2018. 

He has ser\led on a number of public companies and 
Not-for-Profit boards including Leighton Holdngs, Adslot 
Limited, the Business Council of Australia, the Museum of 
Contemporary Art Australia and is a long time Ambassador 
for the Australian Indigenous Education Foundation. 

Board Committee memberships: 

• Chair of the Nominat ion and Remuneration Committee 
• Chair of the Risk Management Committee 

Directo rships o f other Australian list ed companies held 
during the past three years: 

• Adslot Limited from December 2013 to December 2016 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 45 



46 

DIRECTORS' STATUTORY REPORT OONTINJED 

J1ne Hi lton AO PIM, BA (Hons) Psychobgy, RML, 
RPAA, NAM, Hon. FAAHMS, Hon. FACHSE, Hon. DLitt 
(UNSW) 
Non-executive Director 

Jane Halton's 33 year career in the public service includes 
the positions of Secretary of the Australian Department of 

Finance, Secretary of the Australian Department of Health, 
Secretary for the Department of Health and ,t>.geing and 
Executive Co-ordinator (Deputy Secretary) of the 
Department of the Prime Minister and Cabinet. 

Ms Halton is a current Director of Australia and New 
Zealand Banking Group Limited and Clayton Utz, is the 
current Chair of Vault Systems and Council on the Ageing 
Australia and is the Chair and a Director of Coalition of 
Epidemic Preparedness ln11C1Vations (Norway). 

Ms Halton's other roles include Member of the Executive 
Board of the Institute of Health Metrics and Evaluation at 
the University of Washington, Adjunct Professor of the 
University of Sydney and the University of Canberra and 
Council Member of Australian Strategic Po~cy Institute. 

Ms Halton brings to the Board extensive experience in 
finance, risk management, information technology, human 
resources and public policy. 

Board Committee memberships: 

• Member of the Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee 

• Member of the Risk Management Committee 

Directorships of other Australian listed companies held 
during the past three years: 

• Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited from 
October 2016 to current 

CRW .507 .004.4664 

Prof•eor John 8 HorVllth AO, MB, BS (Syd), FRACP, 
FAAHMS, FRCPA (Hone) 
Non-executive Director 

Professor John Horvath was the Australian Government 
Chief Medical Officer from 2003 to 2009 and principal 
Medical Consultant to the Commonwealth Department until 
January 2016. He continued to advise the Department of 
Health and the School of Medicine, University of Sydney 
until 2014 and holds the position of Honorary Professor of 
Medicine. 

Professor Horvath is a R!llow of the Raial Australasian 
College of Ptry-sicians and is a cistinguished practitioner, 
researcher and teacher. Prolessor Horvath previously sat 
on the Board of the Garvan Reseaich Foundation and was 

a Governor of the Centenary Institute of Medical Research 
until January 2016. He was a member of the Mv'lsory 
Council to the Austra~an Organ and Tissue Donation 
Agency. He was a member of the Finance and 
Administration Committee of the School of Medicine at the 
University of Sydney. Professor Horvath was a member of 
the Ministerial Advisory Council to the Minister of Health. 

Professor Horvath was previously Clinical Professor of 
Medicine at the University of Sydney. He is also known as a 

leader in a range of medical training and workforce 
organisations and is a former President of the Australian 
Medical Council and the New South Wales Medical Board. 

Professor Horvath is currently the Global Strategic Medical 
Advisor to the Chief Executive Officer of Ramsay Health 
Care, Group Chief Medical Officer of Ramsay Health Care 
and a Director of the Ramsay Hospital Medical Research 
Institute and the GattipoW Medical Research Foundation. 

Professor Horvath is a member of the International Advisory 
Board of the Australian Genetic Consorfum. 

Professor Horvath sits on the Crown Melbourne Limited 
and the Cn:mn Resorts Foundation Boards. 

Board Committee memberships: 

• Chair of the Occupational Health and Safety Comnit1ee 

• Chair of the Responsible Gaming Commit1ee 

• Member of the Corporate Responsibility Commit1ee 

• Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 



Guy J1ll1nd, Ll.B 
Non-executive Director 

Guy Jalland is the Chief Executive Officer of Consolidated 
Press Holdings Pty Limited (CPH), having 1NOrked in the 

Consolidated Press Holdings and Publishing & 
Broadcasting Limited (PBL) groups since 1998. 

In the past, Mr Jalland has held the role of Group General 
Counsel and Joint Company Secretary of CPH and PBL. 

He has represented CPH as a Director on the boards of 
Consolidated Media Holcings Limited, Foxtel !¥ld Fox Sports. 

Board Committee memberships: 

• Chair of the Investment Committee 

Mich1el R Johnaton, BEc, CA 
Non-executive Director 

CRW .507 .004.4665 

Michael Johnston is the Finance Director of Consolidated 
Press Holdings Pty Limited (CPH), having previously been 

an adviser to the Consolidated Press Holdings Group 
(CPH Group) for seventeen years. As Finance Director, 
Mr Johnston O\/ersees a number of operational businesses 
within the CPH Group and its controlled associates. He 
was also the Chief Rnancial Officer of B lerston Capital (a 
subsidiary of CPH) until 30 June 2008. 

Prior to his appointment with the CPH Group, Mr Johnston 
was a senior partner in the Australian member firm of Ernst 
& Young. He ·was also on the Board of Partners of Ernst & 

Young, Australia. 

Mr Johnston holds a Bachelor of Economics degree from 
Sydney University and is an Associate of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Australia. 

Board Committee memberships: 

• Member of the Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee 

• Member of the Finance Committee 

• Member of the Investment Committee 

• Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 

• Member of the Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 47 



48 

DIRECTORS' STATUTORY REPORT CONTINUED 

Antonia Koraanoa, BEc, CA 
Non-executive Director 

Antonia Korsanos was the Chief Financial Officer (2009 to 
2018) and Company Secretary (2011 to 2018) of Aristocrat 
Leisure Limited . She has over 20 years' experience in 
financial and general management at companies including 
Kellogg's Australia and New Zealand, Goodman Fielder 
Limited and Coopers & Lybrand in Sydney. 

Mrs Korsanos brings to the Board extensive experience in 
the gaming industry and experience in the areas of 

technology, finance, strategy, mergers and acquisitions, risk 
management and financial and regulatory compliance. 

Mrs Korsanos has a Bachelor of Economics (Accounting & 
Finance) from Macquarie University, is a Member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants and is a Graduate of 
Australian Institute of Company Directors (GAICD). Mrs 
Korsanos is also a Member of Chief Executive Women and 
a Non-Executive Director of Webjet Limited and Ardent 
Leisure Group Limited. 

Mrs Korsanos is a Director of Crown Melbourne Limited. 

Board Committee memberships: 

• Member of the Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee 

• Member of the Finance Committee 

• Member of the Responsible Gaming Committee 

Direc torships of other Au stralian listed companies held 
d uring the past three years: 

• Webjet Limited from June 2018 to current 

• Ardent Leisure Group Limited from July 2018 to current 

Harold C Mitchell AC 
Non-executive Director 

CRW.507.004.4666 

Harold Mitchell is the founder of Mitchell & Partners and 
until August 2013 was Executive Chairman of Aegis Media, 
Australia and New Zealand. Since he started Mitchell & 
Partners in 1976, the company has evolved to become the 
largest media and communications group in Australia today. 

In December 2000, Mr Mitchell launched the Harold 
Mitchell Foundation w hich distributes funds bet ween health 
and the arts. 

Mr Mitchell holds a large number of community roles 
inc luding, Chairman of The Florey Institute of Neuroscience 
and Mental Health, Board member of New York 
Philharmonic and Chairman of Australia-Indonesia Centre. 

Previously Mr Mitchell was a Board Member and Vice 

President of Tennis Australia, Chairman of Free TV Australia, 
the Melbourne Symphony Orchestra, TVS and University of 
Western Sydney's television service for Greater Sydney. Mr 
Mitchell was also the Chairman of the Victorian Premier's 
Job and Investment Panel. 

In 2003, Mr Mitchell delivered the Andrew Olle Memorial 
Lecture on Media. In January 2004 , he was awarded the 
Officer of the Order of Australia for his services as a 
benefactor and fundraiser in support of artistic and cultural 
endeavour. 

Mr Mitchell was appointed Companion of the Order of 
Australia in 2010 for eminent service to the community 
through leadership and philanthropic endeavours in the fields 
of art, health and education and as a supporter of 
humanitarian aid in Timor-Leste and Indigenous communities. 

In December 2011 , Mr Mitchell was awarded an Honorary 
Doctorate - Doctor of Business Honoris Causa, by RM IT 
University. 

Mr Mitchell was awarded the Victorian Australian of the Year 
for 2013. 

In August 2013 , Mr Mitch ell was appointed Adjunct 
Professor, School of Humanities and Communications Arts , 

University of Western Sydney. 

In December 2014, Melbourne Universit y conferred on him 
an honorary degree of Doctor of Laws. 

Mr Mitchell sits on the Crown Resorts Foundation Board. 

Board Committee memb erships: 

• Member of the Corporate Responsibility Committee 

• Member of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee 



John Poynton AO, BCom, Hon DCom, FAICD, SF FIN 
(LIFE), FAIM 
Non-executive Director 

John Poynton is a Director of the Future Fund Board of 
Guardians {Australia's sovereign wealth fund). He is also 
the Chair of Strike Energy Limited, Sapien Cyber Limited 
and Jindalee Partners. 

Mr Poynton has previously served as Chairman, Deputy 
Chairman or Non-Executive Director of a number of ASX 
Listed companies, Federal Government boards and 
education institutions. These inc lude the Export Finance 

and Insurance Corporation, the Payments System Board 
of the Reserve Bank of Australia and the Business School 
at the University of Western Australia. 

Mr Poynton was the Chair of the Council of Christ Church 
Grammar School between 2014 and 2018 and a member 
of the Adv isory Board of the Security Research Institute at 
Edith Cowan University. 

Mr Poynton is a past recipient of a Western Australian 
Citizen of the Year award in the Industry and Commerce 

category. 

Mr Poynton also sits on the Burswood Limited (Crown 
Perth) Board. 

Direc torships of other Au stralian listed companies 
held during the p ast three years: 

• Strike Energy Limited from April 2017 to current 

CRW.507.004.4667 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 49 



50 

DIRECTORS' STATUTORY REPORT CONTINUED 

Company secretary deta ils 

Mary Manos, LLB (Hons), BCom, 

GAJCD 
General Counsel and 

Company Secretary 

Other officer d etails 

Kenneth M Barton, BEc, CA, F RN 
Chief Financial Officer 
CEO Crown Digital 

Barry Felstead 
Chief Executive Officer 

Australian Resorts 

W Todd Nisbet, BSc 
Executive Vice President 

Strategy and Development 

CRW.507.004.4668 

Mary Manos is Crown's General Counsel and Company Secretary. Ms Manos 
is also Secretary of Crown Melbourne Limited, Burswood Limited and Crown 
Resorts Foundation Limited . 

Ms Manos was formerly Senior Legal Counsel for Crown and joint Company 
Secretary. Ms Manos was appointed joint Company Secretary in April 2008. 

Prior to joining Crown. Ms Manos was a Senior Associate in a Melbourne law 
firm, specialising in mergers and acquisitions and corporate law. 

Ms Manos holds Bachelor of Laws (Hons) and Bachelor of Commerce degrees 
from the Universit y of Melbourne. 

She is also a Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Ken Barton has been Chief Financ ial Officer of Crown Resorts Limited since 
March 2010 and CEO Crown Digital since February 2017. Mr Barton also sits on 
the Crown Melbourne Limited, Burswood Limited and Crown Resorts Foundation 
Boards. 

He was previously Chief Financ ial Officer of Boral Limited for seven years having 
also held roles at Pioneer International and Arthur Andersen. 

Mr Barton holds a Bachelor of Economics degree from the University of Sydney, 
is an Associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and a Fellow 
of the Financ ial Services Institute of Australia. He also joined the Male 
Champions of Change program in 2017. 

Barry Felstead has been Chief Executive Officer - Australian Resorts since August 
2013. Mr Felstead sits on the Crown Melbourne Limited and Burswood Limited 
Boards. 

Prior to August 2013, Mr Felstead was Chief Executive Officer of Crown Perth 
(formerly Burswood) since March 2007, after holding the position of Chief 
Operating Officer - Gaming of Crown Perth from 2005. Mr Felstead has held 
multiple management positions at Crown Melbourne. 

Mr Felstead is Chairman of FutureNow, a Board member of Burswood Park 
Board, Alumni of Celebrate WA and a Board Member of Australasian Gaming 
Counc il (AGC). 

Todd Nisbet joined the Crown Resorts team in October 2007. In his role as 
Executive Vice President - Strategy and Development, Mr Nisbet is responsible 
for all project development and construction operations of Crown Resorts. 

From August 2000 through to July 2007, Mr Nisbet held the position of Executive 
Vice President - Project Director for Wynn Design and Development, a 
development subsidiary of Wynn Resorts Limited. Serving this role with Wynn 
Resorts Limited, he was responsible for all project development and construction 
operations undertaken by Wynn Resorts. Prior to joining Wynn, Mr Nisbet was 
the Vice President of Operations for Marnell Corrao Associates. During his 14 
years at Marnell Corrao (1986 to 2000), he was responsible for managing various 
aspects of the construction of some of Las Vegas' most elaborate and industry
defining properties. 

Mr Nisbet holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from the University of 
Nevada, Las Vegas. 



Relevant Interests of Directors 

Details of relevant interests of current Directors in CrO'Ml shares as at 30 June 2019' were as follows: 

John Alexander 

The Hon. Helen Coonan 

Andrew Demetriou 

Geoff Dixon 

Jane Halton AO PSM 

Professor John Horvath AO 

GuyJalland 

Michael Johnston 

Antonia Korsanos 

Harold Mitchell AC 

John Poynton AO 

Not .. : 

Totlll number of 
ordlMry ah•" 

399,557 

948 

10,000 

114,887 

1,000 

1. For more information on relevant interests al current Clirect<n, ple611e oee the Remuneration ReporL 

CRW.507.004.4669 

5,000,000 

Other than in connection v./ith Cro.vn's 2017 Senior Executive Incentive Plan which is descroect in the Remuneration 
Report, no Cro.vn Director is party to any contract which would give that Director the right to call for the delivery of shares 
in Cro.vn. 

Board and Committee Meetings 

Set out below are details of the number of Board meetings and Committee meetings held by Crown during the 2019 
financial year together with each Director's attendance details. 

Audttnl ()cQllJllDnll 
Corpanm Cllrparl9I Ncnlndannl 1111111 llllparllllll 

&ollll1WICI Rllpol.., """'-lllDn nlSlllly a.'*1Q Allk 
Bon Commllllle CommlllH Commllllle CommlllH Commllllle Commlltte 

MltDlal Meetlnga MHltlgl Metllnlll MllblQI Meetlnga Meetlnga 

Hiid M1lndld Held Altlndld Held Attended Held Alllndld Hiid Alllrlllld Hiid Atllndld Held Attended -J H Alexander 11 11 7 7 

HA Coonan 11 11 3 3 2 2 

A Demetriou 11 10 6 5 

G J Dixon 11 11 7 7 6 6 

S J Halton AO PSM 11 11 4 4 6 6 

J S Horvath AO 11 10 2 2 7 7 4 4 7 7 

GJalland 11 11 

M R Johnston• 11 11 3 3 1 1 4 4 

A Korsanos 11 11 3 3 7 7 

H C M~chell AC 11 11 2 2 7 7 

JPoyntonNY 8 8 

1. MrJohnetonwot """°"'ted asa member of the NorrW>ationand RemunarationCommttoe on 17 Ap<i 2019. 

2. Mr Poyntonwot Olll>Ointed asa drectorof Crown on 20 N<M!rnber2018. 

Under Cro.vn's Constitution and its Board and Committee Charters, documents containing written resolutions assented to 
by Directors are to be taken as a minute of a meeting of Directors or of a Committee (as the case may be). The Board 
assented to five written resolutions and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee assented to one written resolution in 
the 2019 financial year. The Finance and Investment Comm~ees did not formally meet in the 2019 financial year. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 51 



52 

DIRECTORS' STATUTORY REPORT CONTINUED 

Shares and Options 

/:Is at the date of this Report, Crown has 21.175 million 
unquoted options on issue (as set out belCJV0. Each option 

is granted over one fully paid ordinary share in Crown. In 
addition, there are 8,513,980 unquoted options on issue, 
each of w hich has been granted over one fully paid 
ordinary share in Crown Digital Holdings Pty Ltd (Crown 
Digital Holdings) (a w holly owned subsidiary of Crown) (as 

set out belov..1. 

In April 2017, Crown issued 14 million options under the 
2017 Senior Executive Incentive Plan to John Alexander 
and a small number of senior executives. The options, w ith 
an expiry date of 22 February 2021, were granted w ith an 
initial exerc ise price of $11.43. The exerc ise price of $11.43 
per option may be varied over the life of the Plan to take 
into account the value of any capital returns and special 
dividends. 

In August 2018, Crown issued an additional 7.175 million 

options under the 2017 Senior Executive Incentive Plan to 
a small number of senior executives, none of w hom were 
members of Crown's key management personnel. 
540,000 of the options were issued to Mr Karl Bitar - the 
Executive Vice President - Group Marketing & Brand 
Strategy. The options, w ith an expiry date of 8 August 
2022, were granted w ith an initial exerc ise price of $13.35. 
The exercise price of $13.35 per option may be varied over 
the life of the Plan to take into account the value of any 
capital returns and special dividends. 

In respect of the 2017 Senior Executive Incentive Plan, if 
Crown undertakes a bonus issue of Crown shares during 
the term of the options, holders are entitled, upon exercise 
of an option, and without payment of any further 
consideration, to the number of Crown shares the holder 
would have received under that bonus issue. If Crown 
undertakes a pro rata issue of Crown shares during the 
term of the o ptions, then the exercise price of each option 
w ill be reduced in accordance with the 2017 Senior 
Executive Incentive Plan Rules. 

For all holders of options under the 2017 Senior Executive 
Incentive Plan, other than a Director of Crown, at Crown's 
election, the options can be settled by the issue of new 
Crown fully paid ordinary shares, the transfer of shares 
acquired by Crown from the market or by paying cash, 
equivalent to the difference between the exercise price of 
the options and the market price of the shares at the time 
of exerc ise. For John Alexander, a Director of Crown, any 
shares to be acquired on the vesting and exercise of the 
options must be purchased on-market and cannot be 
settled by the issue of new Crown shares. 

In December 2018, Crown Digital Holdings issued 
8,513,980 options to Mr Ken Barton under the Crown 
Digital Senior Executive Option Plan. Each option has 
been granted over one fully paid ordinary share in 
Crown Digital Holdings. The options, w ith an expiry date 
of 19 December 2022, were granted w ith an exercise 
price of $1.45. 

CRW.507.004.4670 

In respect of the Crown Digital Senior Executive Incentive 
Plan. if Crown Digital Holdings undertakes a bonus issue 
of shares during the term of the options, holders are 
entitled, upon exerc ise of an option, and w ithout payment 

of any further consideration, to the number of Crown 
Digital Holdings shares the holder would have received 
under that bonus issue. If Crown Digital undertakes a pro 
rata issue of shares during the term of the options, then 
the exerc ise price of each optio n w ill be reduced in 
accordance with the Crown Digital Senior Executive 
Incentive Plan Rules. 

No shares or interests have been issued during the year or 
since year end as a result of o ption exerc ise. 

Indemnity and Insurance of Officers 
and Auditors 

Director and Officer Indemnities 

Crown indemnifies certain persons as detailed in its 
Constitution in accordance w ith the terms of the Crown 
Constitution. 

Directors' and Officers' Insurance 

During the year Crown has paid insurance premiums to 
insure officers of the Crown group against certain 
liabilities. 

The insurance contract prohibits disclosure of the nature 
of the insurance cover and the amount of the insurance 
premiums payable. 

Indemnification of Auditors 

To the extent permitted by law, Crown has agreed to 
indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young, as part of the terms 
of its audit engagement agreement against c laims by third 
parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount). 
No payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young 
during or since the end of the financ ial year. 

Auditor Information 

Auditor Details 

Ernst & Young has been appointed Crown's auditor. Mr 
Michael Collins was the Ernst & Young partner responsible 

for the audit of Crown's accounts for the year ended 30 
June 2019. 

Non-audit Services 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to Ernst & Young 
for non-audit services provided during the year by the 

auditor are o utlined in note 23 of the Financ ial Report. 
Crown acquired non-audit services from Ernst & Young, 
largely in respect of taxation matters relating to the 
Cannery tax litigation matter as well as employment and 
compliance related taxation matters. 



CRW.507.004.4671 

The ratio of non-audit to audit services provided by Ernst & Young to Crown at the conc lusion of the 2019 financial year is 

set out below: 

Ratio includin the Canner tax liti ation matter Ratio axcludin 

2.5:1 1.6:1 

Based on advice received from the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee, the Directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services during the 2019 financ ial year by Ernst & Young is compatible w ith, and did not 
compromise, the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the 
following reasons: 

• all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee to ensure that they did 
not impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and 

• none of the services involved reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work or acting in a management decision-making 
capacity for the Company. 

Rounding 

The amounts contained in this Report and in the Financ ial Report have been rounded to the nearest hundred thousand 
dollars unless otherwise stated under the option available to the Company under ASIC Corporations (Rounding in 
Financial/ Directors' Reports) Instrument 2016/19 1. Crown is an entity to w hich this Instrument applies. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 53 



AGENDA ITEM 3:
Corporate Governance Statement

3

CRW.507.004.4672



CWN_LEGAL_154638.1

Audit & Corporate Governance Committee
Memorandum

To: Audit & Corporate Governance Committee

From: Mary Manos

Date: 30 August 2019

Subject: Corporate Governance Statement

Dear Committee Members

Crown is required under the Listing Rules to include a Corporate Governance Statement in its Annual Report 
disclosing the extent to which Crown has followed the third edition of the Corporate Governance Principles 
and Recommendations set by the ASX Corporate Governance Council during the reporting period.

The Committee was provided with a preliminary draft 2019 Corporate Governance Statement at its 12 August 
2019 meeting.  Annexure A to this paper attaches an updated draft Corporate Governance Statement.  The 
draft has been updated to include a populated “Diversity policy” section which includes the data presented 
to the Committee in the Diversity Report at its August meeting.  A number of other non-substantive edits
have been made.

It is also a requirement of the ASX Listing Rules that companies provide the ASX with a completed Appendix 
4G. The Appendix 4G is a “tick-the-box” form which summarises the Principles and Recommendations.  
Companies must tick which of the Principles and Recommendations they comply with, the draft Corporate 
Governance Statement notes the departure from Recommendation 2.5 – that the chair of the board of a 
listed entity should be an independent director and, in particular, should not be the same person as the CEO 
of the entity. This will be provided to ASX at the same time that Crown lodges its 2019 Annual Report.

Suggested Resolution

It was RESOLVED that, subject to any amendments approved by the General Counsel and Company 
Secretary, the Committee recommends the draft 2019 Corporate Governance Statement for approval by the 
Board.

Mary Manos
General Counsel and Company Secretary

3

CRW.507.004.4673



CWN_LEGAL_154638.1

Annexure A
Draft 2019 Corporate Governance Statement

See attached.

3

CRW.507.004.4674



CRW.507.004.4675 

Corporate Governance Statement 
The Board of Crown Resorts Limited (Cr<N-m or the 
Company) is C01TVTiitted to the implementation and 
maintenance of good corporate governance practices. 
This Statement sets out the extent to which Crown has 
followed the ASX Corporate Governance Council's Third 
Edition of the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (the Principles and Recommendations). 
This Statement is current as at 11 September 2019 and 
has been approved by the Board. 

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight 

Functions reserved for the Board and Senior 
Management 

Functions reserved for the Board 

The Board is responsible for guiding and monitoring 
Crovm on behalf of its shareholders. In addit ion, the Board 
(in conjunction w ith management) is responsible for 
identifying areas of significant business risk and ensuring 
arrangements are in place to adequately manage those 
risks. 

The Board has adopted a formal Board Charter which 
sets out a list of specific functions that are reserved for the 
Board. 

Board appointments are made pursuant to formal terms of 
appointment. 

More information 

A full copy of the Crovm Board Charter is available 
at: www.crownresorts.com.au under the heading 
Corporate Governance - Charters. 

Functions delegated to Senior Executives 

Crown's senior executives have responsibility for matters 
which are not specifically reserved for the Board (such as 
the day-to-day management of the operations and 
administration of Crown). 

Crown Board Committees 

To assist in carrying out its responsbilities, the Crown 
Board has established the following Committees: 

Audt and Corporate 
Governance Committee 

Corporate Responsiblity 

Committee 

Anance Committee 

c ........ tMemben 

Helen Coonan (Chair) 
Michael Johnston 
Antonia Korsanos 

Helen Coonan (Chair) 
John Horvath 
Harold Mitchell 

Helen Coonan (Chair) 
Michael Johnston 
Antona Korsanos 

Investment Committee Guy Jaland (Chai') 
John Alexander 
Michael Johnston 

Nomination and Geoff Dixon (Chair) 
Remuneration Committee John Horvath 

Mic hael Johnston 
Harold Mitchell 

Occupational Health and John Horvath (Chair) 
Safety Committee Jane Halton 

Mic hael Johnston 

Responsible Gaming 
Committee 

Risk Management 
Committee 

Jorn Horvath (Chair) 

Jorn Alexander 
Antona Korsanos 

Geoff Dixon (Chair) 
An<iew Demetriou 
Jane Halton 

Each Committee has adopted a formal Charter that 
outlines its duties and responsibilities. 

More information 

A full copy of each of the Crown Committee 
Charters is available at www.crcN-mresorts.oom.au 
ll1der the heading Corporate Gollemance - °'8rters. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 23 



24 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED 

Director probity reviews and elections 

Every appointment of a Crown Director is subject to the 
receipt of necessary gaming regulatory approvals. 

The gaming industry is highly regulated and each of the 
casinos in w hich Crown has an interest is subject to 
extensive regulation under the laws, rules and regulations 
of the jurisdiction w here it is located. 

Officers, Directors and certain key employees of Crown 
and its licensed subsidiaries must file applications w ith 
relevant gaming authorities and may be required to be 
licensed in certain jurisdictions. These investigations 
generally concern the responsibility, financ ial stability and 
character of the owners, managers and persons with 
financial interests in gaming operations and generally 
include requirements to obtain police checks and credit 
checks. 

A Director w ill only be formally appointed once all 
necessary gaming regulatory approvals have been 
obtained. As a separate exercise, Crown undertakes its 
own internal investigations on the suitability of nominated 
Directors as a pre-condition to a recommendation to the 
Board to appoint a Director. 

The Company's Constitution requires that an election of 
Directors must take place each year. In addition, Directors 
appointed to fill casual vacanc ies during the year must 
retire from office at the next annual general meeting 
following his or her appointment but are eligible for 
re -election by shareholders at that time. The Notice of 
Meeting for an annual general meeting sets out the 
background for the election and re -election of Directors, 
informs shareholders where they can find background 
information on the skills and experience of the relevant 
Director and provides a recommendation of the Board in 
relation to the proposed election or re-election. 

Accordingly, shareholders are provided w ith all material 
information relevant to a decision on w hether or not to 
elect or re -elect a Director. 

More information 

Copies of Crown's past and present Notices of 
Meeting are available at: www.crownresorts.com.au 
under the heading Investors & Media - Annual 
Reports. 

CRW.507.004.4676 

Director and Senior Executive agreements 

Crown Directors are provided with an induction pack upon 
appointment which, among other things, inc ludes a letter 
agreement setting out the terms of that Director's 
appointment. The letter agreement, w hich each Director 
must countersign, describes w hen the appointment 
commences and w hen it ends, sets out the Director's 
powers and duties and the agreed remuneration 
arrangements and obliges the Director to comply w ith all 
Crown Polic ies, Procedures and the Code of Conduct for 
Directors. In addition, the letter agreement requires the 
Director to enter into a separate undertaking to inform 
Crown of any interests that Director may have in Crown 
securities (and contracts relevant to Crown securities) so 
that Crown is able to comply w ith its disclosure 

requirements under Listing Rule 3.19A to provide the ASX 
w ith completed Appendices 3X, 3Y and 32 w ithin the time 
period allowed by the ASX Listing Rules. 

Each senior executive of Crown has an employment 
contract setting out the terms of that senio r executive's 
appointment. 

Company Secretary accountability 

The Company Secretary is accountable directly to the 
Board, through the Chair, on all matters to do w ith the 
proper functioning of the Board. The decision to appoint 
or remove a Company Secretary must be made or 
approved by the Board. 

The role of the Company Secretary is set out in the Crown 
Board Charter and inc ludes: 

• advising the Board and its committees on governance 
matters; 

• monitoring that Board and committee policy and 
procedures are followed ; 

• coordinating the timely completion and despatch of 
Board and committee papers; 

• ensuring that the business at Board and committee 
meetings is accurately captured in the minutes; and 

• helping to organise and facilitate the induction and 
professional development of Directors. 

More information 

A full copy of the Crown Board Charter is available 
at: www.crownresorts.com.au under the heading 
Corporate Governance - Charters. 



CRW.507.004.4677 

Diversity Policy 

Crown has established a policy concerning diversity and disclosed its policy on its website. The policy indudes 
requirements for the Board to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the Board to assess 
annually both the objectives and the progress in achieving them. 

In accordance with the policy, Crown has established the measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity as set out 
below: 

Objective 

1. To require that at least one 
female candidate is presented 
on candidate short lists and at 
least one female from Senior 
Management is involved in the 
interview process for all Senior 
Management and Senior 
Executive positions within the 
group for which a recruitment 
process is undertaken. 

2. To maintain the level of female 
participation in leadership and 
development programs t-Miich 
incorporate targeted 
mentoring/coaching elements) 
across the group at no less 
than 45% of all participants. 

3. To conduct an internal review 
on an annual basis of the 
remuneration for key roles 
within the group, with an 
external validation review to be 
undertaken every second 
year, to ascertain the 
existence of any gender pay 
gaps and to implement action 
plans to address any such 
gaps. 

Crown's Progress 

Crown has adopted this recruitment objective as part of its commitment to diversity 
and in line w ith the Crown Diversity Policy. 

In order to meet this objective, all positions in the group must be supported through a 
consistent, unbiased and thorough recruitment process, managed by the relevant 
recruitment team, including for positions identified through succession planning or 
otherwise. This process is cwerseen by the Executive team at each property. 

During the financial year, female candidates were shortlisted for 80% of Senior 
Management and Senior Executive positions within the group for which a recruitment 
process v-as undertaken during the financial year. For the positions that did not have 
a female candidate shortlisted, there v-.iere no female applicants. 

Adcitional efforts around attracting and sourcing female candidates have been 
undertaken. These include: 

• reviewing the language used in job advertisements; and 

• undertaking targeted database searches of predominant job boards. 

A female from Senior Management was involved in the interview process for all 
Senior Management and Senior Executive positions within the group for which a 
recruitment process was undertaken. 

During the financial year, Crown's wholly-owned properties achieved a 54% female 
participation rate in leadership and dlevelopment programs which represents a 9% 
increase on financial year 2018. 

As noted in the 2018 Corporate Gcwernance Statement, for the 2018 financial year, 
Crown engaged Mercer, a workforce consultancy firm, to undertake an independent 
external gender pay gap analysis for all salaried roles below the Business Operations 
Teams at Crown Melbourne and Crown Perth which found that no meaningful gender 
pay gap existed for any of the salaried roles within the scope of the review. 

As an external review was undertaken in the 2018 financial year, for the 2019 financial 
year, Crown conducted an internal review only. 

Crown continued to apply a variety of internal and external equity testing processes 
in relation to remuneration decisions at various points throughout the financial year, of 
which gender equity has been a ~y feature. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 25 



26 

CRW.507.004.4678 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED 

Objective 

3. To conduct an internal review 
on an annual basis of the 
remuneration for key roles 
within the group, with an 
external validation review to be 
undertaken every second 
year, to ascertain the 
existence of any gender pay 
gaps and to implement action 

plans to address any such 
gaps. (continued) 

4. To participate in local and 
national programs which 
promote gender equity and to 
implement relevant actions 
arising out of those programs. 

Crown's Progress 

The internal testing and analysis applied has included: 

• validation of salaries at the start of the recruitment process, w hereby salaries of 
non-Enterprise Agreement roles are validated prior to approval to hire in order to 
remove any unintended bias; 

• Workplace Gender Equity Agency (WGEA) reporting requirements, w here gender 
demographics as well as the gender pay gap is assessed; and 

• annual performance and remuneration review processes, whereby a detailed 
analysis of all salaried roles is undertaken to understand and identify ' like for like' 
roles and to ensure there is no gender based inequity. 

[The internal pay gap review confi011ed that there has not been any change from last 
year's review in which there was no statistically significant pay gap identified for ~ke 
for like roles.) 

An external review will be undertaken again fofowing the conclusion of the 2020 

financial year. 

Crown participated in the following local and national programs during the 2019 
financ ial year: 

• Male Champions of Change (MCC) program - Ken Barton, Crown's Chief Financ ial 
Officer and CEO Crown Digital continued to represent Crown in the MCC 
program. 

• CEOs for Gender Equity in Western Australia - Barry Felstead, CEO - Australian 
Resorts. 

• Women in Gaming and Hospitality Australasia (WGH) - during the financ ial year, a 
member of Crown's Executive team was appointed to the WGH Board and Crown 
became a corporate sponsor of WGH. Through this sponsorship Crown has 
hosted several networking and professional development sessions, participated in 
the Women Ahead mentoring program and actively participates in monthly 
communications designed to bring awareness to matters of Gender Equity. 

Crown's participation in these programs assists with increasing Crown's knowledge 
and understanding of best practice diversity and inc lusion programs. 

Throughout the financial year, the following initiatives were achieved at Crown, in 
alignment w ith the MCC Action Group meetings: 

Flexible worl< arrangements 

A review was undertaken to provide "flex for all roles" across the Melbourne property, 
w hich accommodates varied shift start and finish times, remote working and job 
sharing to name a few. This review is currently underway for the Perth property. 

This review focussed on salaried roles, however rostered employees are still utilising 
flex, mostly through our custom built shift swap app, w ith over 10,000 swaps 

occurring each month, which represents a success rate of swap requests that are 

actioned of 85%. 

Violence against women 

Crown's Family and Domestic Violence Support Policy was updated to provide 
uncapped paid leave en@ements (an inc rease from five days) to employees 
experienc ing, or supporting someone experienc ing, family violence. 

Financial Education 

Financ ial and superannuation seminars were provided to employees with a specific 
focus for women. 



Objective 

5. To progress the objectives of 
the Gender Action Plan for 
FY18 to FY21 (the Plan) and to 
annually assess the progress 
of the Plan's objectives. 

Crown's~ 

The Crown Resorts Gender Action Plan (GAP), which is being prepared t1,1 the 

Gender Equity Advisory Groups, w ill be published in 2019. 

CRW .507 .004.4679 

The GAP strengthens Crown's longstanding commitment to gender equity and 

complements the work Crown has been involved with through its partic ipation in local 

and national programs which promote gender equity. 

Our GAP focuses on the following five key themes: 

• Attraction & Retention; 

• Promotion; 

• Development; 

• Flexibility; and 

• Cultural Change & Communication. 

These focus areas were developed through consultation with the business and 

assessing what changes win make a positive impact on our employees. Over the last 

two years, policy and leave changes have occurred that have brought equity further 

to the forefront at Crown and the actions outlined in our GAP for the next three years 

wil conmue our push towards gender equity. 

Meanwhile, a number of initiati\'es from the GAP have progressed ncluding those 
listed in Objective 4 under the sub-headings Vtolence against women and financial 

education. 

The proportion of women employees in the group, women in senior executive positions and women on the Board as at 
30 June 2019 is as follows: 

M....,... Result 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

Proportion of women employees in the There were 5,213 women in the group. This represents 42.7% of the total 
group. workforce of 12,220 employees. 

Proportion of women in senior executive There were 25 1NOmen in senior executive positions in the group. This represents 

positions in the group. 29.8% of senior executive positions in the group. This is a 5.5% increase on 
FY18. 

Proportion of women on the Board. There were three female Directors out of a total of 11 Directors, or 27.27%. 

For the purpose of these statistics, the term •senior executive position" refers to the Executive Team and Business 

Operations Team members of Crown Resorts Limited, Crown Melbourne and Crown Perth as well as the most senior 

leaders from each operational unit therein. The Executive Team is comprised of persons with tities in the nature of, or 

similar to, Executive General Manager, General Manager, Chief Information Officer, Chief Marl<Bting Officer and General 

Counsel together with the Chief Operating Officers, Chief Financial Officers, Chief Legal Officers and Chief Executive 
Officers within the group. 

Crown's Audit and Corporate GcNemance Committee has been delegated responsibility for developing and monitoring the 

application of Crown's Diversity Policy. 

As noted albove, Crovm's Diversity Policy requires that Crown reviews its Gender Objectives annually to ensure that they 

remain relevant and appropriate for Crovm. The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee formally reviev...-ed the 
Gender Objectives and resolved to amend Objectives two and frve. In summary: 

Objective2 

Objective 2 has been strengthened to reference the purpose of the objective which is to promote leadership opportunities 

for female employees. This has resulted in the existing objective being improved to read as follcms: 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 27 



28 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT OCJNTINLel 

To promot.e leadership opportunities tor female 
employees by maintaining the level of female 
participation in leadership and development programs 
(:which incorporate targeted mentoring/coaching 
elements) across the group at no less than 45% of all 
participants. 

Objective 5 

Objective 5 has been updated to reflect that the final 
Gender Action Plan, which is to be released in 2019, will 
be for the period FY20 to FY23. This has resulted in the 
existing objective being amended to read as follows: 

To progress the objectives of the Gender Action Plan 
for FY20 to FY23 (the Plan) and to annually assess the 
progress of the Plan's objectives. 

Aooordingly, the Audit and Corporate G011ernance 
Committee adopted the following revised Gender 
Objectives with effect from 1 July 201g: 

1. To lllquire that at least one female canddate is 
presented on canddate short lists and at least one 
female from Senior Management is involved in the 
interview process for all Senior Management and 
Senior Executive positions •Nithin the group for which a 
recruitment process is undertaken. 

2. To promote leadership opportunities for female 
employees by maintaining the level of female 
participation in leadership and development programs 
(which incorporate targeted mentoring/coaching 
elements) across the group at no less than 45% of all 
participants. (Modified Objective) 

3. To conduct an internal review on an annual basis of the 
remuneration for key roles within the group, with an 
external validation review to be undertaken every 
second year, to ascertain the existence of any gender 
pay gaps and to implement action plans to address 
any such gaps. 

4. To participate in local and national programs which 
promote gender equity and to implement relevant 
actions arising out of those programs. 

5. To progress the objectives of the Gender Action Plan 

for FY20 to FY23 (the Plan) and to annually assess the 
progress of the Plan's objectives. (Modified Objectille) 

A report on the progress against the revised objectives will 
be provided in the 2020 Corporate Go.lemance 
Statement. 

More information 

A full copy of Crown's Diversity Policy is available at: 
www.crownresorts.com.au under the heading 
Corporate Governance - Policies. 

CRW .507 .004.4680 

Crown is a "relevant employer" under the W:>rkplace 
Gender Equaity Act 2012 (Cth) and, in accordance with 
the requirements of the Act, CrCN'm lodged its annual 
Public Report with the Workplace Gender Equality Agency 
for the 2018-2019 period which reports on the most recent 
"Gender Equality Indicators'. 

Mor e infor mation 

A full copy of Crown's Workplace Gender Equality 
Report is available at: www.crownresorts.com.au 
under the heading Corporate Governance - Gender 
Equality. 

Process for evaluating performance of the 

Board, its Committees and its Directors 

A perfonnance evaluation of the Board and of its 
Committees is undertaken annually, foUowing completion 
of each fnancial year, by way of a questionnaire sent to 
each Director. 

The q..iestionnaire CO\lers the role, composition, 
procedures and practices of the Board and of its 
Committees. The individual responses to the questionnaire 
are confidential to each Director, v-Jith questionnaire 
responses provided to the Chair of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee for consideration and provision 
of a report to the Board. 

Crown's Nomination and Remuneration Committee is also 
responsible for reviewing Crown's procedure for the 
evaluation of the performance of the Board, its 
Committees and its Directors. 

An evaluation of the Board and its Committees took place 
following the end of the 2019 financial year in accordance 
w ith the processes described above. 

Process for evaluating performance of Senior 

Executives 

Crown has established processes for evaluating the 
performance of its senior executives. In summary, each 
senior executive is evaluated against the achievement of 
pre-agreed performance objectives. The evaluation 
process is conducted annually and is followed by the 
determination of appropriate remuneration of the relevant 
senior executive. 

Detailed infonnation regardng Crown's remuneration 
practices is provided in the Remuneration Report. An 
evaluation of senior e><ecutives took place folcming the 
end of the 2019 financial year and in accordance with the 
processes described in the Remuneration Report. 



Principle 2: Structure the Board to 
add value 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Crown has established a Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee. The Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee has adopted a formal Charter that outlines its 

duties and responsibilities. 

The current members of the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee are Geoff Dixon (Chai.,, 

Professor John Horvath AO, Harold Mitchell AC and 

Michael Johnston, a majority of whom are independent, 

Non-executive Directors. Information about each 

Committee member's qualifications and experience is set 

out in the Directors' Statutory Report. Information 

regarding the number of times the Committee met 

throughout the period and the individual attendances of 

the members at those meetings has also been provided in 

the Directors' Statutory Repor t. 

The role of the Committee Is to assist the Board to 

develop, maintain and implement policies in relation to: 

1. the selection and appointment practices for Directors; 

and 

2. the remuneration of Directors and relevant executives. 

Selection, appointment and develo pment of Di rectors 

The Nomination and Piemuneration Committee is required 

to: 

• review Crown's procedure for the selection and 

appointment of new Directors (Selection Procedure) 

and make appropriate recommendations to the Board 

in relation to the Selection Procedure; 

• implement the Selection Procedure and make 

nomination recommendations to the Board; 

• develop succession plans in order for the Board to 

maintain appropriate experience, expertise and 

diversity; 

• review CrC1M1's procedure for the evaluation of the 

performance of the Board, its Committees and its 

Directors and be primarily responsible for the 

implementation of the evaluation process; and 

• consider implementing a plan for enhancing Director 

competencies and ensure that an effective induction 

process is in place for new Directors. 

The Selection Procedure requires that, in the event that a 

new Director appointment is required, the Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee (on behalf of the Board) must 

achere to procedures includng the folloNing: 

CRW.507.004.4681 

• the experience and skils appropriate for an appointee, 

the skills of the existing Board and any likely changes to 

the Board will be considered; 

• upon identifying a potential appointee, specific 

consideration w ill be given to that candidate's: 

• competencies and qualifications; 

• independence; 

• other directorships and time availability; and 

• the effect that the appointment would have on the 

overall balance and composition of the Board, 

including by reference to the Crown Board Skills 

Matrix adopted from time to time; and 

• finally, al existing Board members must consent to the 
proposed appointment. 

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee also has 
responsibility for reviewing the Board Skills Matrix on an 

annual basis to ensure it remains consistent with the 

objectives of Crown and existing regulatory requirements 

and recommendations. 

Remuneration of Directors and relevant executives 

The role of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

also includes: 

1. the review and recommendation of appropriate fees to 

be paid to Non-executive Directors; and 

2. consideration of remuneration policies to be applied to 

executives, including any equity-based remuneration 

plan that may be considered, subject to shareholder 

approval (where required). 

Following the end of the financial year, the Committee 

reviewed and approved: 

• the remuneration for senior executives which will apply 

during the financial year ending 30 June 2020; and 

• the short term incentive arrangements applicable to 

senior executives referable to the financial year ended 

30 June 201g, 

A summary of current remuneration arrangements is set 

out in more detail in the Remuneration Pieport. The 

objective of Crown's remuneration policy is to ensure that: 

• senior executives are motivated to pursue the long-term 

growth and success of Crown; and 

• there is a clear relationship between the perfo rmance 

of senior executives and their remuneration. 

Board Skills Matrix 

As noted above, the Selection Procedure for a Director 

nomination requires that the Nomination and 

Remuneration Commttee (on behalf of the Board) 

considers the effect that any proposed Director candidate 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 29 



CRW .507 .004.4682 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT OCJNTINLel 

would have on the overall balance and composition of the Board including ~ reference to the Crcmn Board Skills Matrix 

adopted from time to time. 

The Crown Board has adopted the foUowing Board Skills Matrix which sets out the mix of skiUs and diversity that the Board 

is looking to achieve in its membership. The Board Skills Matrix highlights the key skills and experience of the Board and 

the extent to which those skills are currently represented on the Board and on each of its Committees as at 11 September 

2019. 

!1 11 ii -1 
h 1 

I J· 
I I ~ I 

... , COllplllllCJ ii i 
Total Number of Directors 11 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 

Executive Experience 11 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 
Experienoe in aenior positicns at executive levels. 

Strategic Planning and Execution 

Ablity to dEMllop and~ sua:essful strategy and delive.- agreed 11 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 
etntegic planning goela. 

Riek Manage.me.nt 
Experienoe in the~ and management d material business risk 11 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 
inclJCing 8oerd Ri1lk Menagement Ccnvnittee rnerrtiership. 

Financial Acumen 
Serior executive or equiwlent experience in financial acoounting and 

10 3 2 3 3 3 2 2 3 reporting, cepitel rnenegement, indusby taxation, internal financial controls 
end corporate finencing errangements. 

Governance 
Experience with U&ted and other organisations subject to robust governance 

11 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 frameworks with an ability to assess the effectiveness of relevant 
gowm111ce processes. 

Occupational Health and Safety g 3 2 3 2 3 3 3 3 
Experience in relation to workplace health and safety. 

Environment and Sulllainability 
Experienoe in relation to environmental and social responsibility and g 2 3 2 2 4 3 2 3 
community. 

Legal and Regulatory 
Experienoe in legal and regulatory mattere including regulatory and 11 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 
contrectual frameworks gowming gaming mattere. 

lnfonnation Technology 
Senior executive Ql(j)erience in information teclTiology including gaming 6 2 2 2 
systems and data 800Ulity. 

Human Reaourc• / Remuneration 
Experienoe in relation to remineration practices, development of incentive 

11 3 3 3 3 4 3 3 3 plans, auooeeeion plarring and director appointment processes includng 

Boerd Rem.neration Cormittee membership. 

Capital Projecta 
Serior executive 8lperience in executing ia'ge scale projects >Mth lorg-term g 2 2 3 3 2 2 3 
inveetment horizcns and 111.bstantial capital outlays. 

Salee and Marketing 
Senior executive a>qlelience in merk.eting coupled with a delBiled 4 0 0 2 0 2 
underatmding of Crown's strategic direction end competitive environment. 

lnduatry Experience - Gaming and Entertainment 
4 0 0 2 2 

Senior executive experience in the gaming end entertainment industry. 

30 



CRW.507.004.4683 

I f i fa "a 

!' i l!i -· .!I I 
"a i n I 11 11! iliill 

I 'I!! :1 j 1! !iii i.. II I Ii Ji t 
Sldll / CClmpallncy ii!i I! 

lnduetry Experience • Hoepitality and Management 
4 0 2 2 2 Senior executive experience in the hospitality, food and beverage industries. 

lnduetry Experience - Touriem 
4 0 2 2 2 

Senior executive experience in the tourism industry. 

lnduetry Experience - Public Policy 
Experience in public and regulatory policy, including in relation to gaming 8 2 2 2 2 3 3 2 3 
related policy. 

The Board Skills Matrix, albeit important, is only part of the Selection Procedure that the Board is required to follow. As noted 
above, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee has responsibility for reviewing the appropriateness of the Board Skills 
Matrix on an annual basis. 

Succession planning is an important part of the responsibilities of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee as it ensures 
that the Board maintains appropriate experience, expertise and diversity. 

Relationships affecting independence 

The table below sets out the Crown Directors as at 11 September 2019, indicates w hich of those Directors are considered to 
be independent Directors and notes the length of service of each Director from the date of their appointment to 11 September 
2019: 

Name of Director 

John H Alexander, BA 
Executive Chairman 

The Hon. Helen A Coonan, BA, UB 
Non-Executive Director 

Andrew Demetriou, BA, BEd 
Non-Executive Director 

Geoffrey J Dixon 
Non-Executive Director 

Jane Halton AO PSM, BA (Hons) Psychology, 
FIML, FIPAA, NAM, Hon. FAAHMS, Hon. FACHSE, 
Hon. DLitt (UNSW) 

Professor John S Horvath AO, MB, BS (Syd), 
FRACP Non-Executive Director 

Guy Jalland, LLB 

Michael R Johnston, BEc, CA 
Non-Executive Director 

Antonia Korsanos, BEc, CA 

Harold C Mitchell AC 
Non-Executive Director 

John H Poynton AO, BCom, Hon DCom, FAJCD, 
SF Fin (Life), FAJM 

Independence 
Status 

Non-independent 

Independent 

Independent 

Independent 

Independent 

Independent 

Non-independent 

Non-independent 

Independent 

Independent 

Non-independent 

Length of Tenure 
(By y•ra and complete months) 

12 Years, 2 Months 

7 Years, 9 Months 

4 Years, 8 Months 

12 Years, 2 Months 

1 Year, 4 Months 

9Years 

1 Year, 5 Months 

12 Years, 2 Months 

1 Year, 4 Months 

8 Years, 7 Months 

9 Months 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 31 



32 

CORPORATE GOVEJlNANCE IJTATEMENT CONlN.£0 

Independent Board Directors 

The Crown Board is currently comprised of eleven 
Directors, seven of whom are independent Directors. A 
majority of Directors are therefore independent. The 
independence of Directors is assessed against a list of 
criteria and materiality thresholds. Those criteria have 
been formally enshrined in the Crown Board Charter. Each 
Director who is listed as an independent Director complies 
with the relevant c riteria for independence set out in the 
Crown Board Charter. 

Board Chair independence 

John Alexander is the Executive Chairman of Crown. 

Departure from Recomm endation 2.5: The Principles 
and Recommendations recommend that the chair of the 
Board should be an independent Director and should not 
be the same person as the CEO. Cro.vn's Executive 
Chairman is not an independent Director. CrCMm's 
Executive Chairman is a senior executi\le of Crown viho 
has assumed the responsibiities of the former Chief 
Executive Off1Cef'. The Board believes that Cro.vn's 
Executive Chairman is well placed to act on behalf of 
shareholders and in their best interests as a whole. 

Director professional development 

The induction process for new Directors involves both 
formal and informal elements. As noted above, new 
Directors are provided with a formal induction pack which 
includes important information that a Director must know 
about the Company and their appointment terms and 
includes copies of relevant constitutions, Board Charters 
and Polic ies. In addition, new Directors are provided with 
tours of Crown's main businesses and the opportunity to 
spend time with various members of senior management. 

The professional development program for Directors has 
largely consisted of presentations from time to time to the 
Board regarding issues including developments in 
accounting standards, updates on legal issues and 
governance processes. 

In an attempt to pr"'1'ide more structure to Director 
professional development, the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee has been formally delegated 
with responsibility for implementing a plan for enhancing 
Director competencies and ensuring that an effective 
induction process is i1 place for new Directors. This 
process involves, amongst other things, a review of the 
Crown Board Skills Matrix and consideration of the extent 
to which those skils are currently represented on the 
Board and on each of its Committees. Where skils are 
not currently adequately represented, appropriate 
professional development in this area will be considered. 

Principle 3: Act ethically and 
responsibly 

Codes of Conduct 

CRW.507.004.4684 

Crown has established separate Codes of Conduct that 
outline the standard of ethical behaviour that is expected 
of its Directors and of its employees at all times. 

Code of Conduct for Directors 

The purpose of the Code of Conduct for Directors is to 
ensure that they have a dear understanding of Crown's 
expectations of their conduct and to reinforce the statutory 
duties of Directors to, among other things: 

• act with proper purpose and honesty, in good faith and 
in the best interests of Crown as a whole; 

• use due care and diligence in fulfifting the functions of 
office; and 

• avoid improper use of information acquired as a 
Director, improper advantage of the position of Director 
and conficts of interest. 

Crown Directors have an obligation to be independent i1 
judgement and action and to take all reasonable steps to 
be satisfied as to the soundness of al decisions taken by 
the Board. Directors are required to maintain the 
confidentiality of confidential information received in the 
course of the exercise of their duties and are prohibited 
from engaging in conduct likely to bring discredit upon 
Crown. 

Finally, Directors are obliged to, at all times, comply w ith 
the spirit as well as the letter of the law and with the 
princ iples of the Code of Conduct and must encourage 
the reporting and investigating of unlawful and unethical 
behaviour. 

Code of Conduct for Employees 

The Code of Conduct for Employees is a detailed 
statement of the: 

• practices required by employees to maintain 
confidence in Crcmn's integrity; 

• legal obligations of emplo,iees and the reasonable 
expectations of their stakeholders; and 

• responsibility and accountability of indilliclials for 
reporting and investigating reports of unethical 
practices. 

More information 

Full copies of Crown's Code of Conduct for 
Directors and Code of Conduct for Employees are 
available at: www.crownresorts.com.au under the 
heading Corporate Governance - Codes. 



Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in 
corporate reporting 

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee 

Crown has established a formal Audit and Corporate 
Governance Committee to review the integrity of Crown's 
financial reporting and to oversee the independence of 

Crown's external auditors. 

The current members of the Audit and Corporate 
Governance Committee are Helen Coonan {Chair), Michael 
Johnston and Antonia Korsanos. All members of the 
Committee are Non-executive Directors and a majority of 
those Committee members are independent Directors. 

The Chair of the Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee, Ms Coonan is an independent Director w ho 
has extensive financial experience. Ms Coonan has served 
as the Minister for Revenue and Assistant Treasurer and 
had portfolio oversight of the Australian Taxation Office 
and the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority. 

Further information about each Committee member's 
qualifications and experience is set out in the Directors' 
Statutory Report. Information regarding the number of 
times the Committee met throughout the period and the 
individual attendances of the members at those meetings 
has also been provided in the Directors' Statutory Report. 

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee has 

adopted a formal Charter that outlines its duties and 
responsibilities. The Charter includes information on the 
procedures for selection and appointment of the external 
audito r of Crown and for the rotation of external audit 
engagement partners. 

More information 

A full copy of the Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee Charter is available at: www. 
c rownresorts.com.au under the heading Corporate 
Governance - Charters. 

CEO & CFO declarations 

Before approving the financial statements for each 

financial period, the Board receives from the Executive 
Chainnan and the Chief Financial Officer a declaration 
that, in their opinion: 

• the financial records of Crown have been properly 
maintained; 

• the financial statements comply with the appropriate 
accounting standards and give a true and fair view of 
the financial position and performance of Crown; and 

• the opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound 
system of risk management and internal control which 
is operating effectively. 

CRW.507.004.4685 

Auditor's attendance at AGMs 

Crown shareholders are provided with an opportunity at 
the AGM to ask questions and make comments on 
Crown's Annual Report and on the business and 
operations of the Company. Crown's Auditor is required to 
attend the AGM and shareholders are therefore also 
provided a reasonable opportunity to ask the Auditor 
questions about the Auditor's Report and the conduct of 
the audit of the Financ ial Report. Shareholders are 
informed of their opportunity to address the Auditor in the 
Notice of Meeting for the AGM. 

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced 
disclosure 

Policy to ensure compliance with ASX Listing 
rule disclosure requirements 

Crown has a formal Continuous Disclosure Policy in place 
w hich is designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing 
Rule requirements. The policy details processes for: 

• ensuring that any information that could be market 
sensitive or could involve reputational or material 
regulatory issues or risks are communicated to the 
Disclosure Officer; 

• the assessment of information by the Disclosure 
Committee and, w here appropriate, the Board, and for 
the disclosure of material information to the market ; and 

• the broader publication of material information to the 
media, analysts and investors. 

More information 

A full copy of Crown's Continuous Disclosure Policy 

is available at: www.crownresorts.com.au under the 
heading Corporate Governance - Polic ies. 

Principle 6: Respect the rights of 
shareholders 

Providing online information to investors 

Crown has a dedicated corporate website w hich provides 
information about itself and its governance to investors. 
The website has a dedicated Corporate Governance tab 
w hich sets out Crown's Charters, Constitution, Polic ies 
and Codes, describes Crown's Board Committees and 
inc ludes copies of current and historical Corporate 
Governance Statements and Remuneration Reports. 

More information 

For more information, visit: www.crownresorts.com. 
au under the heading Corporate Governance. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 33 



34 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT OCJNTINLel 

Promotion of effective communication with 

shareholders 

The Board aims to ensure that shareholders and 

prospective investors are kept informed of all major 

developments affecting Crown. 

Crown's investor relations program is designed to facilitate 

effective communication between shareholders, 

prospective investors and Crown. 

Crown actively engages with shareholders and 

prospective investors through a program of scheduled 

interactions with institutional investors, sell-side and 

buy-side analysts and the financial media. In addition, 

meetings are held with shareholders and prospective 

investors on request and responses are provided to 

enquiries made from time to time. 

Crown's investor relations program works in tandem with 

its obligations under its Continuous Disclosure Policy, a 

ccp.; of which is available on Cr<1N11's 'Mebsite. 

Cl'CNm's Chief Rnancial Officer regularly reports to the 

Board on investor relations matters. 

In addition, Crown has a Communications Poicy which 

seeks to promote effective communication with its 

shareholders. The policy explains how information 

concerning Crown will be communicated to shareholders. 

The communication channels include: 

• Crown's Annual Report; 

• disclosures made to the ASX; and 

• Notices of Meeting and other Explanatory Memoranda. 

Advance notification of results announcements is made 

via Crown's website. 

More Information 

A full copy of Crown's Continuous Disclosure Policy 

and Communications Policy is available at: 

www.crownresorts.com.au under the heading 

Corporate Governance - Policies. 

Shareholder participation at meetings 

Shareholders are encouraged to both attend and 
participate in all meetings of shareholders. The date of 

Crown's AGM is adllertised well in advance on its website 

and is separately communicated to investors via its 
investor relations channels. 

Shareholders are informed in the klrmal Notice of Meetng 

for the AGM of their opportunity to participate in the 

meeting by asking questions of either Crown Directors o r 

its Auditor. 

CRW .507 .004.4686 

At the AGM itself, as an introduction to the formal business 

of the meeting, the Chairman eooourages shareholders to 

ask questions on each item of business and offers a 

further opportunity to ask general questions at the 

conclusion of the formal business of the meeting. 

More information 

Copies of Crown's Notices of Meeting are available 

at: www.crownresorts.com.au under the heading 

Investors and Media - Annual Reports. 

Shareholder communications 

Crown shareholders have the option to receive 

communications from Crown and to send communications 

to Crown electronically. Crown's share registry {on behalf 

of Crown) actively encourages shareholders to receive 

their shareholder communications electronically and 
provides online access to shareholder information. 

Separately, the Crown website includes a "Contact Us" 

feature which can be used by both shareholders and 

others to ask questions of the Company. 

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk 

Policy for oversight and management of material 

business risks 

Crown has established a formal Risk Management 

Committee to provide strategic risk management 

leadership, oversight and analysis to the Crown Board. 

The c urrent members of the Risk Management Committee 

are Geoff Dixon (Chai~. Andrew Demetriou and Jane 

Halton AO PSM. The current Committee members are 

each independent, Non-executive Directors. 

The Chairman of the Risk Management Committee, Mr 

Geoff Dixon, is an independent Director who has extensive 

experience in risk management having previously held a 

number of senior executive positions in large corporations. 

Further information about each Committee member's 

qualifications and experience is set out in the Directors' 

Statutory Report. Information regarding the number of 

times the Committee met throughout the period and the 
individJal attendances of the members at those meetings 

has also been provided in the Directors' Statutory Report. 

The Risk Management Committee has adopted a formal 

Charter that outlines its duties and responsibilities. 

More information 

A full COl'.J>' of the Risk Management Committee 

Charter is available at: www.crownresorts.com.au 

under the heading Corporate Governance 

- Charters. 



Design and implementation of risk management 

and internal control systems 

CrcM/n has established a framework for the oversight and 
management of material business risks and has adopted a 
formal Risk Management Policy and articulated its Risk 
Appetite. Risk management is an integral part of the 
industry in which Crown operates. 

Management is charged with monitoring the effectiveness 
of Crown's risk management systems and is required to 
report to the Board via the Risk Management Committee. 

The Board convened Risk Management Committee 
administers Crown's Risk Management Policy and 
monitors management's performance against the risk 
management frame'-M:>rk, induding whether it is operating 
within the risk appetite set by the Board. 

The policy sets out prooedures which are designed to 
identify, assess, monitor and manage risk at each of 
Crown's controlled businesses and requires that the 
results of those prooedures are reported in a Risk Profile 

to the Crown Board. The Framev~ has been developed 
using the model outlined in AS/NZS ISO 31000:2018 Risk 
Management - Guidelines. 

CrcMln's Risk Profile identifies specific head office risks in 
light of major risks identified at an operational level and 
provides the frame'-M:lrk for the reporting and monitoring of 
material risks across the Crown group on an ongoing 
basis. 

Management is required to conduct an annual review of its 
Risk Profile to ensure that risk ratings and definitions 
remain appropriate for Crown, and that adequate controls 
are in place to manage them. 

A review has been conducted during the reporting period 
and presented to the Risk Management Committee (and 
the Board). In the course of that review the current Risk 
Profiles of Crown's major operating businesses were taken 
into account and the risk environment of its investments 
also considered. 

In addition, the Board has received, and will continue to 

receive, periodic reports through the Risk Management 
Committee, summarising the results of riisk management 
initiatives at Crown. 

Disclosure of internal audit functions 

Crc1/m's major operating businesses (namely Crown 
Melbourne and Crown Perth) had an internal audit function 
in place for the ful year that meets the definition of 
· internal audit" under the Institute of Internal Auditor's 
International Professional Practices Framework. 

The function is internally led and resourced, with 
supplemental resourcing provided by specialist third 
parties as required. 

CRW .507 .004.4687 

Internal audit defivers a comprehensive audit program to 

provide additional comfort around significant risks, 
processes, systems and regulatory requirements where 
assurance is determined to be a priority for that period. 

Internal audit coverage is determined using a structured 
approach. The Boards of each major operating business 
and management receive regular reports from internal 
audit on the control environment, areas for improvement 
and progress in addressing those areas for improvement. 

To ensure independence of the function, the head of the 
Internal Audit department reports to the CEO - Australian 

Resorts. Further, the head of the department periodically 
meets with members of the relevant operating subsidiary's 
Board throughout the year. 

As a holding company, Crown does not have a separate 
internal audit function, however its accounts are subject to 
third party independent audit. 

Disclosure of sustainability risks 

The Crown group is exposed to a number of economic, 
environmental and social sustalnability risks. 

Cr'"m's goal is to be a leader in the entertainment and 
tourism industry by creating long-term value for its 
stakeholders across economic, social and environmental 
dimensions. Crown aspires to be a model corporate 
citizen and recognises that a company is assessed not 
only on its financial performance, but also by its 
commitment to corporate responsibility, which includes 

consideration of, among others, the following factors: 

• the quality of its workplace; 

• its environmental footprint; 

• its level of community engagement; 

• the creation of a safe environment for its customers, 
employees and contractors; and 

• the provision of employment opportunities. 

Crown has established a Corporate Responsibility 
Committee to assist the Board in setting Crown's 
corporate responsibility polic ies and programs and 
assessing Crown's corporate responsibility performance. 
The Corporate Responsibility Committee has adopted a 

formal Charter that outlines its duties and responsibilities. 

The current members of the Corporate Responsibility 
Committee are Helen Coonan (Chall), Professor Jorn 
Horvath AO and Harold Mitchell AC. Information about 

each Committee member's qualifications and experience 
is set out in the Directors' Statutory Report. lnfonmation 
regarding the number of times the Committee met 
throughout the period and the individual attendances of 
the members at those meetings has also been provided in 

the Directors' Statutory Report. 

Crown Resorts Limited Annual Report 2019 35 



36 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED 

The responsibilities of the Committee extend to: 

• establishing appropriate corporate responsibility 
policies and programs for Crcmn; 

• monitoring and reviewing the operation and 
effectiwness of Crown's corporate responsibility 
policies and programs; 

• promoting and supporting continuous improvement in 
Crown's corporate responsibility performance; 

• encouraging and monitoring the establishment and 
maintenance of relationships with key stakeholders 
including non-government organisations, sporting and 
cultural organisations and other community groups; 
and 

• encouraging and promoting awareness of corporate 
responsibiity related issues at Crcmn among Crown's 
staff and other stakeholders. 

The Committee oversees the development and publication 
of Crown's Corporate Responsibility Report. The 
Corporate Responsibility Report brings together the 
elements of Crown's corporate responsibility activ ities and 
programs and identifies and addresses all material 
economic , environmental and social sustainability risks 
and Crcmn's processes for managing them. 

~ More "information 

\) 
1 
A ful copy of the Corporate Responsibiity Report is 

I available at: www.crcmnresorts.com.au under the 
heading Our Contribution - Corporate 
Responsibility Reports. 

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and 
responsibly 

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

As noted in response to Recommendation 2.1 , Crown has 
established a formal Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. The Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee has adopted a f0011al Charter that outlines its 
duties and responsbilities. 

The current members of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee are each independent, Non
executive Directors. Information about each Committee 
member's qualifications and experience is set out in the 
Directors' Statutory Report. Information regarding the 
number of times the Committee met throughout the 
period and the individual attendances of the members at 
those meetings has also been provided in the Directors' 
Statutory Report. 

CRW.507.004.4688 

Policy for Director remuneration 

A summary of curent remuneration arrangements is set 
out in more detail in the Remuneration Report. Crown 
separately discloses the polic ies and practices regarding 
the remuneration of Key Management Personnel in the 
Remuneration Report. 

Restrictions on dealing in equity based 
remuneration 

The rules of the Senior Executive Incentive Plan and the 
Crwm Digital Senior Executive Incentive Plan specifically 
provide that a participant must not assign, transfer, 
encumber, dispose of or have a Security Interest issued 
c:Ner Plan Shares, or any beneficial interest in Plan Shares, 
unless al restrictions on the transfer, encumbrance or 
disposal of the Plan Shares have been met or waived by 
the Board or the Board has provided prior written consent. 
A Security Interest is defined to include any mortgage, 
charge, pledge, lien, encumbrance or other third party 
interest of any nature. The rules of the Senior Executive 
Incentive Plan and the Crown Digital Senior Executive 
Incentive Plan also require participants to comply with 
Crwm's Securities Trading Policy at all times. 



AGENDA ITEM 4:
Addendum to Closing Report

4

CRW.507.004.4689



Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

Memorandum

To: Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

From: Ken Barton

Date: 30 August 2019

Subject: Addendum to Final Closing Report

Dear Committee Members

Included in the papers is an Addendum to the Final Closing Report. The Report includes the final draft 
form of EY’s Independent Auditor’s Report opinion. EY have confirmed that, subject to some procedural 
matters (receipt of the signed representation letter and financial statements and final review of other 
annual report information and subsequent events), they will issue an unqualified opinion.

The Committee will recall that at its previous meeting, when presenting the Audit Report, there were 
items noted by EY where they had not been able to satisfactorily complete their work. In summary, these 
included:

- audit of impairment testing disclosures for inclusion in the Financial Statements; and

- completion of the audit of the subsequent events matters, the remuneration report and the full 
financial statement and its disclosures.

The attached Addendum to the Final Closing Report for FY2019 now addresses these open items and has 
been provided for completeness.

None of the amendments affect the Audit conclusions in the Independent Auditor’s Report which confirm 
that the accounts of the Crown group give a true and fair view of Crown’s financial position and comply 
with Accounting standards and the law. Following the completion of this work, the unadjusted difference 
of $0.7m increase to profit after tax is consistent with the amount reported to the Committee on 12 
August 2019.

It is proposed that the updated Addendum to the Final Closing Report be noted.

Kind Regards

Ken Barton
Chief Financial Officer

4

CRW.507.004.4690



Crown Resorts Limited 

Closing Report - Addendum to the Audit Status 
Report to the Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee for the year ended 30 June 2019 

CRW.507.004.4691 



Ev Buildin9 a better 
I I worllin9 world 

Michael Collins 
EY Assurance 

Partner 

Alison Parker 
EY Assurance 

Partner 

Dear Audit and Corporate Governance Committee Members ('Audit Committee') 

We have substantially completed our audit of Crown Resorts Limited and its controlled ent ities ("the Group") for 

the year ended 30 June 2019. I am writing to provide you with an update to our Audit Status Report discussed 
with you at the Audit Committee meeting held on 12 August 2019. This Closing Report should be read in 

conjunct ion with our Audit Status Report . 

Subject to the adequate resolut ion of the outstanding matters listed in our report , we confirm that we expect to 

issue an unqualified audit report on the f inancial report . This report is intended solely for the use of the Audit 

Committee, other members of the Board of Directors and senior management, and should not be used for any 
other purpose nor given to any other party without our prior written consent. 

If you wish to discuss this closing report or any mat ter relat ing to this report or our audit, please feel free to 

contact Alison Parker on 0438 600 402 or myself on 0414 455 854. I would again like to take this opportun ity to 

thank the staff of Crown Resorts Limited for the co-operat ion provided to the members of the audit team. 

Yours sincerely 

Michael Collins 
Partner 
30 August 2019 

Alison Parker 
Partner 

2 Closing Report - Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

CRW .507 _004.4692 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

CRW .507 .004.4693 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Overview 
STATUS UPDATE 

This report provides an update in respect of our work and findings in connection with 
our audit of Crown Resorts Limited's consolidated financia l statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2019, since the issuance of our Audit Status Report discussed with 
the Audit Committee on 12 August 2019. Subject to the sat isfactory complet ion of 
the following outstanding items we will issue an unqualified audit opinion: 
• Receipt of the signed management representat ion letter; 
• Receipt of the signed financial statements; 
• Receipt and fina lisat ion of review of "Other Informat ion" contained in the annual 

report; and 
• Completion of subsequent events review. 

There are no mat ters, other than those reported by management or disclosed in this 
report and our Audit Status Report , which we believe should be brought to the 
att ention of the Audit Committee or Board of Directors. 

SCOPE AND MATERIALITY 

We performed our audit procedures using a materiality of $28.3m. The threshold for 
report ing audit dif ferences which impact the income statement is $1.4m. There have 
been no changes to scope and materiality since our Audit Status Report . 

AUDIT DIFFERENCES 

In complet ing our procedures, we have not identified any additional unadjusted audit 
differences other than the audit differences communicated in our Audit Status 
Report. 
The impact of unadjusted audit difference ident ified is a $1.0 mil lion increase to profit 
before tax (before the turn around effect of prior year unadjusted audit differences) . 
We determined that after the turn-around effect of prior year unadjusted audit 
differences, it has a $9.6 million decrease to profit before tax. We do not consider 
this to be material to the financial statements. 

3 I Closing Report - Addendu rn to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

ENHANCED AUDIT REPORT 

We have included in Appendix C, our draft unqual ifi ed audit report which includes key 
audit matters ('KAMs') relat ing to: 

• Carrying value of trade receivables; and 
• Impairment test ing of indefinite lived intangibles assets. 

Our audit report also includes wording relating to our responsibilities regarding Other 
Informat ion included in the Annual Report. At the date of this report , we have received 
drafts of the Directors' report , Remuneration report and Corporate Governance 
statement however expect to receive the remaining Other Informat ion to be included 
in the annual report prior to signing. 

UPDATES TO AREAS OF AUDIT FOCUS 

Please refer to our Audit Status Report for our discussion of key areas of audit focus. 
We would like to communicate updates relating to the following areas: 

• CGU impairment test ing 
• Subsequent events 

Remunerat ion report 
Financia l statement disclosures 



EV Bullding a better 
I I working world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

Updates to Areas of Audit Focus 

CGU impairment testing 

Our Understanding 

As out lined in our Audit Status Report , management performed impairment testing for the 
Group's cash generating units (CGUs) for the year ended 30 June 2019. 

Management has included disclosures relating to its CGU impairment testing in the financial 
statements (refer Note 12): 

Basis for cash f low forecasts; 

Terminal value growth rates; 

Discount rates; 

Market trading and transaction multiples; and 

Sensitivity analysis for OGN and Aspinalls CGUs. 

4 I Closing Report· Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

CRW.507.004.4694 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

EY Perspective 

As noted in our Audit Status Report, we concur with management's conclusion that no 
impairment charge is required for the Crown Melbourne, Crown Perth. Aspina lls and Betfair 
CGUs, and concur with the impairment charge recorded by management for the OGN CGU. 

Management made a number of positive changes to their process and documentation in FY 19, 
including engaging an external valuation specialist to assist in determining discount rates. 

As noted in our Audit Status Report. in our independent assessment of the VIU models, we 
made certain adjustments to management's calculations. Some of these adjustments are 
consistent with our understanding of regulator perspectives of valuation methodology and 
others are judgemental differences. These adjustments had no impact on management's 
conclusions as to the need for impairment. 

Subsequent to issuing our Audit Status Report, we have met with management and their 
external valuation specialist to discuss the differences in approach. We have outlined a 
summary of these differences for the CGU with the least amount of headroom, Crown Perth, in 
Appendix F. 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus 

Subsequent events 

Our Understanding 

Appendices 

The following subsequent events have been disclosed in the 30 June 2019 financial statements: 

~ Queensbridge - Subsequent to 30 June 2019, Crown reached an agreement to purchase the 
Schiavello Group's 50% ownership interest in the Queensbridge site as well as all pre
development assets, including all in tellectual property and designs for the project , for 
approximate ly $80 million. The t ransaction remains subject to long-form agreements 
between Crown and the Schiavello Group. 

~ Declaration of final dividends - Subsequent to 30 June 2019, the directors of Crown 
declared a final dividend on ordinary shares in respect of the year ending 30 June 2019. The 
total amount of the dividend is expected to be $203.1 million, which represents a dividend of 
30.0 cen ts per share franked at 25%. 

Financial report and Remuneration report 

Our Understanding 

The fi nancial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 have been prepared based on the 
requirements of Australian Accounting Standards. This includes disclosures in respect of the 
impact of new account ing standards, including AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (effective 1July2018) and future accounting standards such as AASB 16 Leases 
(effecti ve 1 July 2019). 

Management has included disclosures, such as updated accounting policies and significant 
judgements and estimates, in respect of AASB 15. 

In addition, the Remuneration report has been prepared in accordance with sect ion 300A of the 
Corporations Act 2001. 

5 I Closing Report - Addendu rn to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

CRW .507 .004.4695 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

EY Perspective 

~ We have performed our subsequent event procedures including assessing payments post 
year end, reviewing Crown's July results, reviewing Board minutes subsequent to year end 
and enquiries with management. Based on our procedures we are not aware of any fu rt her 
subsequent event matters that require disclosure in the f inancial statements. 

~ In respect of the Cannery matter, we understand that at the date of this report, the 
Federal Court and the Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT) is yet to hand down their 
judgement. 

~ We will cont inue to perform our subsequent event procedures up until the date of signing 
the financial statements. 

EY Perspective 

We have assessed all disclosures in the financial statements including those relat ing to the 
impact upon adopt ion of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers . 

We have completed our procedures on the f inancial report for the year ended 30 June 2019. 
Whilst we are sat isfied that the disclosures are appropriate, we have provided certa in 
observat ions to management to consider for future reporting periods. 

We are finalising our audit of the Remunerat ion Report included in the directors' report for the 
year ended 30 June 2019. We have not identified any material issues to bring to the Audit 
Committee's attention. 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

CRW .507 .004.4696 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

Appendix A - Other Required Audit Committee Communications 
Audit ing Standards require us to report to you certain matters that are not otherwise detailed in this report or our Audit Status Report. 

Material uncertainties and going concern 

Fraud and illegal acts 

Expected modifications t o audit report 

Independence 

Review of Board Minut es 

No conditions or events were identified, either individually or in aggregate, that indicated there could be doubt about Crown Resort Limited's ability 
to continue as a going concern for 12 months from the date of our report. 

We have made enquires of management regarding: 

Knowledge of any fraud or suspected fraud affect ing the entity involving management, employees who have significant roles in internal control 
or others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial report 
Knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting Crown Resorts Limited's financial information. 

We did not become aware of any fraud or i llegal acts during our aud it. 

We anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019 subject to t he satisfactory resolution 
of the outstanding matters detailed in this report . 

Following the issuance o f our Audit Status Report presented to the Audit Committee on 12 August 2019, we have continued to assess our 
independence in accordance with our policies and processes and the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and other legislat ion and guidelines 
governing auditor independence. We have no matters to report in relation to the period from the date of our Audit Status Report and the date o f 
this report. 
We confi rm that we have complied with the Corporations Act 2001. and in our professional judgment , the engagemen t team and the Fi rm are 
independent, and we are in a position to issue our Independence Declaration. We are not aware of any other relationships between EY and the Group 
that . in our professional judgement , may reasonably be thought to bear on independence. The non-audit services provided by EY during the period 
have not impaired our independence. 

We have completed a review of the minutes of Board meetings held during the year. Based on the review we have not ident ified any financial matters 
that would result in a sign ificant effect on the period result s that have not been reflected in the financial statements. 

6 I Closing Report - Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

Appendix B -Summary of Audit Differences 

Summary of unadjusted differences 

CRW .507 .004.4697 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

The following differences have been ident ified during the course of our audit and have not been considered material by management or by us for adjustment. We bring these to the Audit 
Committee's attention to enable you to form your own view on these items. 

We have not identified any unadjusted audit differences other than the audit differences previously communicated in our Audit Status Report dated 8 August 2019: 

Account 

30 June 2019 ($m) 

Adjustment for overstatement of debtors provision, net of understatement of non·gaming 
debtor provision relating to Dinner by Heston (2018: overstatement) 

Adjustment for Crown Sydney capi tal ised costs to be expensed 

Adjustment for overstatement of internal restructuring provision 

Adjustment for overstatement of bonus provision identified in FY 18 

Total audit differences before tax 

Tax impact 

Total audit differences after tax 

Percentage of profit af ter tax 

Key: 
• Increase to profit 
'f' Decrease to profit 

7 I Closing Report - Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

Profit Im pacts - FY 19 

(lncrease)/Decrease 

(4.1) ... 

4 .9 " 

(1.8) ... 

(1.0) ... 

0.3 " 

(0.7) ... 

0.2% 

Profit Impacts - FY18 Profit Impacts -

(lncrease)/Decrease (After t urnaround effect) - FY19 

(I ncrease)/Decrease 

(1 .9) ... (2 .2) ... 

4 .9 " 

(6.1) ... 4.3 'f' 

(2 .6) ... 2.6 " 

(10.6) ... 9.6 " 

3 .2 'f' (2 .9) ... 

(7 .4) ... 6 .7 'f' 

1.7% 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

Appendix C - Draft Audit Report 

CRW .507 _004.4698 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Crown Resorts Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Crown Resorts Limited (the Company) and its subsidiar ies 
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial posit ion as at 
30 June 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significan t accounting policies, and the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 , including: 

(a) giving a t rue and fair view of the consolidated financial posit ion of the Group as at 30 June 
2019 and of its consolidated f inancial per formance for the year ended on that date; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are fu rt her descr ibed in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report sect ion of our report . We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements 
of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropr iate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

8 I Closing Report - Addendu rn to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial report of the current year . These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, but we do not provide a separate opinion on these matter s. For each matter below, our 
descr ipt ion of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Report sect ion of our report , including in relation to these mat ters. Accordingly, 
our audit included the per formance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit 
opinion on the accompanying financial report . 

1. Carrying value of trade receivables 

Why significant 

The Group is required to regularly assess 
the recoverability of its t rade 
receivables. The recoverability of t rade 
receivables was significant to our audit 
due to the value of amounts aged greater 
than the credit terms extended to 
customers. 

How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

In assessing the carrying value of trade 
receivables, we: 

• tested the ageing of trade receivables for 
a sample of customer t ransact ions; 

• assessed receipts after year-end to 
determine any remaining exposure at the 
date of the f inancial report ; 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

Why significant 

The Group applies Australian Accounting 
Standard - AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
in calculating the provision for doubtful 
debts, applying a forward-looking 
expected loss impairment model. This 
involves judgement as the expected 
credit losses must reflect information 
about past events, current condit ions 
and forecasts of fu ture conditions, as 
well as the t ime value of money. 

The Group's disclosures are included in 
Note 1.5 and Note 6 of the financial 
report , which out lines the accounting 
policy for determining the allowance for 
doubtful debts and details of the period 
on period movement in gross and net 
t rade receivables. 

How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

• considered the Group's assessment of 
individual customers debtor 
circumstances along with other 
information available relating to 
customers; 

• assessed whether the expected credit 
loss impairment model was calculated in 
accordance with AASB 9 and tested the 
mathemat ical accuracy of the 
calculations; 

• compared the Group's provisioning rates 
against histori cal collection data; 

• assessed whether the t ime value of 
money was considered in the impairment 
model; 

• assessed the effecti veness of relevant 
controls in relation to the granting of 
credit facilities, including credit checks; 
and 

• assessed the adequacy of the Group's 
disclosures in relation to trade 
receivables included in the financial 
report , including the accounting policy in 
respect of t rade receivable balances 
written off during the year . 

9 I Closing Report - Addendu rn to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

CRW .507 _004.4699 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

2. Impairment testing of indefinite lived intangibles assets 

Why significant 

The Group has goodwill of $295.4 million 
and licence intangible assets of $1,064.0 
mill ion held on the consolidated 
statement of financial position at 30 
June 2019. The Group performs an 
impairment assessment on an annual 
basis to support the carrying value of 
goodwill and other indefinite life 
in tangible assets. In addition, an 
impairment assessment is performed 
when there is an impairment indicator 
present. 

The impairment assessment is complex 
and judgementa l, as it includes modelling 
a range of assumpt ions and est imates 
that are affected by expected future 
performance and market conditions. This 
includes cash flow forecasts, growth 
rates, discount rates, terminal value 
assumpt ions as well as market multiples. 
Accordingly, the Group's impairment 
assessment was considered to be a key 
audit matter. The DGN cash generating 
unit was impaired during the year. 

How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

We assessed the cash fl ow forecasts, which 
supported the value-in-use impairment 
models and fair value less costs of disposal 
calcu lat ions for goodwill and other indefinite 
lived intangible assets. 

We compared the forecasts to the Board 
approved budgets and long term financial 
plan. We also considered the historical 
reliability of the Group's cash flow 
forecasting process. 

We involved our valuation specialists to 
assess whether the methodology applied 
was in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and to assess the key 
assumpt ions applied in the impairment 
models. These included the discount rates, 
terminal value assumpt ions and market 
multiples. 

We tested whether the models used were 
mathemat ically accurate. 

We performed sensitivity analysis around 
the key assumpt ions to ascerta in the extent 
of change in those assumpt ions that would 
either individually or collect ively result in an 
impairment charge_ In addition, we assessed 
the sensitivity analysis performed by the 
Group. 

We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures 
included in the financial report. 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

Why significant 

Key assumptions, judgements and 
estimates used in the Group's 
assessment of impairment of intangibles 
assets are set out in Note 1.5 of the 
financial report. In addition, licenses are 
disclosed in Note 10, goodwill in Note 11 
and impairment testing of intangible 
assets in Note 12 of the financial report. 

How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other informat ion comprises the 
information included in the Company's 2019 Annual Report , but does not include the financial 
report and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the fi nancial report does not cover the other informat ion and accordingly we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the except ion of the Remuneration 
Report and our related assurance opinion. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report , our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard. 

10 I Closing Report - Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

CRW .507 .004.4 700 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparat ion of the financial report that 
gives a t rue and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Corporations Act 2001 and for such in terna l control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a t rue aind fair view and is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability 
to con t inue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either in tend to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or have no rea listic alternati ve but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objecti ves are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole 
is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, bu t is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report . 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Audit ing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detect ing a material misstatement result ing from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as f raud may involve collusion, forgery, in tentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal con trol. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control re levant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal con trol. 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting est imates and re lated disclosures made by the directors. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncerta in ty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability 
to con t inue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertain ty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, 
future events or condit ions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report , including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underl ying transact ions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Obtain sufficient appropr iate audit evidence regarding the financial informat ion of the 
ent it ies or business act iviti es within the Group to express an opinion on the financial 
report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communica te with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significan t audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in in ternal 
control that we ident if y during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regard ing independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards. 

11 I Closing Report · Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

CRW.507.004.4701 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

From the mat ters communicated to the directors, we determine those mat ters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulat ion precludes 
public disclosure about the mat ter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communicat ion. 

Report on the Audit of the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 
30 June 2019. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Crown Resorts Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2019, complies with sect ion 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparat ion and presentation of the 
Remunerat ion Report in accordance with sect ion 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remunerat ion Report , based on our audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Audit ing Standards. 

Ernst & Young 

Michael Collins 
Partner 
Melbourne 
XX September 2019 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

Appendix D - Draft auditor independence declaration 
Auditor's Independence Declaration to the Directors of Crown Resorts Limited 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of Crown Resorts Limited for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2019, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

(a) no contravent ions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relat ion to the 
audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Crown Resorts Limited and the entities it controlled during 
the financial year. 

Ernst & Young 

Michael Coll ins 
Part ner 
XX September 2019 

12 I Closing Report · Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

CRW .507 .004.4 702 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus 

Appendix E - Cybersecurity 
How prepared are you for a Cyber breach? 

Appendices 

Cyber risk is a growing concern for audit clients: The World Economic Forum reports that Massive 
data fraud/theft and Large-scale cyber-attacks are rated 4 and 5 respecti vely on the Top 10 Global 
Risks for 2019*. 

EY's Global Informat ion Security Survey for 2018-19** is in its 21 '1 year. It collects data from 
1,400 C-suite leaders and IT executives representing 60 countri es and every industry sector. 

~mm 6.4 billion 

' 
1,464 

m ~ell ffketl'l\til$ trt Hnl wcridwidt tvery QOVttnment Offid11ts in ont Auitt11IO'\ 

~-m m • .,. n•te vse<1 .. P•ssworo123- •$ tnt•r 
l>'$SWOfd, am 

' 
[!I 1.9 billion ® 60% 

[!!] [!I rt<ofds <ontWniny person.tl #Kl othtr of sm•lltr or911n1S.tti0t'l$ do nc>t N~e • 

~I 
se1w1:lve dilt<'l •e<e re-oorted as Stac:wltv Ooer<11tbns C~ntre- CSOC>. 28• 
co~romlsed between Janua-y 2017 of larger or9anlsadons also oo not 
and Maren 2018 havu sot. 

sis US$3.86 mi llion ·-· 85% 
w.;is the avera9e (Mt 01 a data btHC:h ~-i ot 01'9if'llUttons have .ot w:en t>a"' 
in 2018, a 6.6"hcrease on 2017. steps to cwotect JQalnst thteus - com1n9 tnlOUQn u ... ra rartles. 

The risks are increasing leading organisations to invest more and more without the desired 
outcome. 

@ slo/t» @ ss% @ 8°/o @ 28°/c 
Fo,..• ... ••""C,..M•ft"•' OICf\IO'!luUOll~!\11~ WouUM ..... l:tiybd•l•(tt 

H•w -"""""'"UM n "•" ~·•"''"'""'(-· t~°'ltl>ll<HOll 
budU•"it)'Nt 

~f':"*'I V-1" f!•li\l~m•ththnHdt 

Organisat ions are still being react ionary to attacks, therefore ongoing board oversight is required 
to ensure cybersecurity is managed as a key business issue, not just an IT one. 

•source: World Economic Forum Risk Report 2019 
**Source: EY's Global Informat ion Security Survey 2018-19 
***Source: FireEye M· Trends. 2019 

13 I Closing Report · Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

CRW .507 .004.4 703 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

How could the financial statements be impacted? 

Cybersecurity risks can manifest to 
adversely impact the audit. The APAC 
Average Owell Time is 204 days••• which is 
the t ime between an adversary gaining 
access to your network and when they are 
found. Combined with the t ime to eradicate 
an attacker, one cyber event can impact 
multiple financial periods. 

Better questions for boards to consider 
Sett ing the tone at the top is vital to addressing this critical business issue. 

Does the board understand 
the total risk exposure of a 

cyber-attack? 

access 
handled? 

How are you managing 
critical vulnerabilities? 



Ev Bulldln9 a better 
I I wor1lin9 world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audit Focus Appendices 

The increasing role of governance in cyber risk management 
What are boards doing to better oversee cyber risk? 
Many regulators, industry bodies, legislators and government bodies have introduced standards 
and frameworks to aid the management of cybersecuri ty related r isks. Coupled with internat ional 
regulat ions that may impact Australian organisat ions such as Europe's Global Data Protect ion 
Regulation (GDPR), the landscape of "Must Do's" seems gruell ing. 

EY Perspective 

Two of the board's primary responsibilities are for strategy and risk management, and it is 
virtually impossible to have those conversations without a thorough discussion of 
technology and security. Boards can take the following act ions to oversee cybersecurity 
risks: 

... Set the tone that cybersecurity is a crit ical business issue 

... Confirm new technology and business arrangements are designed with security in mind 

... Understand processes to ident ify, assess and manage thi rd-party and supply chain 
risks 

... Ensure the cybersecurity risk program is independently assessed by a third party 

... Understand the ability to respond and recover 

... Understand the cybersecurity incident and breach escalation process and protocols 

14 I Closing Report - Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 

CRW .507 .004.4 704 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 June 2019 

Adopting a risk-based approach with board level oversight 
One Australian standard prevails as leading practice in the governance of cybersecurit y ri sk 
programs. APRA's CPS234 on Information Securit y art iculates a ri sk-based approach to 
cybersecurit y controls and provides a framework which other industri es are likely to adopt as 
general good practice. 

Internal audit 

Testin9 control 
effe<:tivenes:s 

Breach 
notification 

Roles and 
responsibil ties 

Governance 

tnformation \ 
security 

capability 

Policy 
freimework 

J 
Incident 

management 

Information .c'l$SE!t 

identification and 
cl4ssification 

1mp1ementa11on 
.....___ of controls ___..,.,---

-------

It is our recommendation that the Audit & Risk Committee members ensure that their 
cybersecurity risk program is independently assessed. 



EV Bullding a better 
I I working world 

Overview Updates to Areas of Audi t Focus Appendices 

CRW.507.004.4705 

Crown Resorts Limited 
For the year ended 30 J une 2019 

Appendix F - Carrying value assessment - Crown Perth - EY Perspective 

15 I Closing Report - Addendum to Audit Status Report - Crown Resorts Limited 



 

 

 

EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory 
 

About EY 

EY is a global leader in assurance, tax, transaction and advisory 
services. The insights and quality services we deliver help build 
trust and confidence in the capital markets and in economies 
the world over. We develop outstanding leaders who team to 
deliver on our promises to all of our stakeholders. In so doing, 
we play a critical role in building a better working world for our 
people, for our clients and for our communities. 
 

EY refers to the global organisation, and may refer to one or 
more, of the member firms of Ernst & Young Global Limited, 
each of which is a separate legal entity. Ernst & Young Global 
Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee, does not provide 
services to clients. Information about how EY collects and uses 
personal data and a description of the rights individuals have 
under data protection legislation is available via 
ey.com/privacy. For more information about our organisation, 
please visit ey.com. 
 

© 2019 Ernst & Young, Australia.  
All Rights Reserved. 
 
ED None 
This communication provides general information which is 
current at the time of production. The information contained in 
this communication does not constitute advice and should not 
be relied on as such. Professional advice should be sought prior 
to any action being taken in reliance on any of the information. 
Ernst & Young disclaims all responsibility and liability (including, 
without limitation, for any direct or indirect or consequential 
costs, loss or damage or loss of profits) arising from anything 
done or omitted to be done by any party in reliance, whether 
wholly or partially, on any of the information. Any party that 
relies on the information does so at its own risk.  

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation. 

ey.com 

4

CRW.507.004.4706


